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IUSTORY OF GLENWOOD AND DISTRICT 

In the year 1958, the late Wm. Blake wanted a book made on 
the history of Glenwood, formerly named Wantmore, so future genera· 
tlons would know when and how It came out of the timber. Mr. Blake 
just started It before he died ln the spring of 1959. No one else continued 
with this project until the winter o!l961, when 1 decided to do so. Every 
home within !our square miles was visited and several letters written to 
famllles who had lived here, to get family history up until J anuary, 1963. 
First, I visited the following people to get the earliest history possible -
Mrs. John Armstrong, Mrs. Chris Armstrong, !Mrs. Isaac Brown. Mrs. 
Ellis J ones, John 'Dawson, Leslie !Mifflin, George Hardie and Mrs. Jack 
Horton. The last three persons have now passed away. Some of the 
history was taken from the following books--,An Atl'as printed In 1881 
obtained from The Merlin Standard - '"11te County of Kent Gazeteer 
and General Directory tor 18646," obtlalned trom Lyle Smith. Several 
trips were made to the Museum and Registry OUice in <:lhatham for 
further Information. While searching through these books, I found 
interesting facts about the 'COuntry, so have lncluded1 these. Therefore, 
there Is a little history on !Canada, Ontario, Kent, Tilbury East and 
finally, Glenwood. This may not be a completely accurate history, but 
this Is the Information I have found and passed, on to you. 

Percy Lloyd. 
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CANADA 

1001- Icelanders discover America in 1001. 

1121- Firs t Greenland Bishop visits the settlement of Vineland, 1121. 

1192-Colum'bus discovers America In 1492. 

1535-Cartier discovers the River St. Lawrence In 1535. 

1603---Champlain first visits Canada In 1603. 

161'7-Canada invaded by the I roquois in 1617. 

1626-Death of the first colonist- Louis H erbert, 1626. 

16'7<>-Sm allpox devastates Indians in 16'70. 

16'70-A w hite man by the name of Hennepin heard the roar and dis· 

covered the mighty Niagara F alls. 

1686-War with the Iroquois. 

1686-Fatal epidemic throughout Canada. 

1690-Canada invaded. 

1709-Canada Invaded by the E nglish . 

1730-Canada Invaded by the English agaln. 

1760-Clanada surrendered to the British. 

r n O-First vessel built at St. J ohn, NJ3. 

1'775-Canada Invaded by Montgomery, who was defeated and kJlled. 

1809-First steamer on the St. Lawrence 'River. 

1812---War with the United S tates. 

1830-The first ship to make passage from Lake Ontar io to Lake Erie, 
through the fi rst Weiland Canal, In 1830, was called the AnnJe 
& J ane. 

1832-Cholera epidemic. 

1849-Burnlng of P arliament house - riots at Toronto and other places. 

1.849---&anharnols Canal opened. 

1854-The tim screw steamer to enter St. Law rence was trom Liverpool. 

1884-The .first Dominion ot Canada government formed. 

l~nada's populatlon.---240,000. 

1861-Canada's popula tlon--2,506,'775. 

1961-0anada's populatlon- 18,238,247. 

1 '776-Number of post oHices In Canada, 3. 

1.860-Number of post ofilces In Cana da, 1,698. 

1982-Number of post otflces In Canada, 12,720, approx. 
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ST. LAWRENCE SEAWAY- 19158 

Alter years of discussion and disappointments between Canada 
and the U.S.A. about a -seaway project In the Great Lakes, the U.S.A. 
still delaying on the same, canada Informed the U.S.A. that she was 
going ahead with the project 'by herself. At this the U.S.A. got busy and 
between the two countries the seaway project got under way. Canada's 
proportionate share was 71 %. It took 10,200 men !our years to excavate 
91 million cubic yards of soil and rock-dredge another 23 million yards 
and to mix 10 million bags of cement. They built 7 locks - 5 in Canada 
and 2 In the U.S.A. to overcome a 44 mile stretch of tumulent water on 
the St. Lawrence River, west of Montreal. The total cost of this seaway 
was 471 million dollars. The seaway was opened jointly by President 
Eisenhower and Queen Elizabeth II In the year 1958. The seaway gives 
ocean boats a fresh water route through the Great .Lakes as far west 
as Duluth, a distance of 2,342 sailing miles from the Atlantic. A fully 
loaded lakes freighter pays about $10,000 in tolls, record toll so far being 
$13,500 for a U.S. tretghter bound from Chicago to Pakistan with 14,000 
tons of finished steel. The principal ports benefitting are Detroit, 
Milwaukee, Chicago, Toronto, and Hamilton. Toronto is the 'biggest 
import port on the Great Lakes, handling ships from 29 nations. Chicago 
Is the biggest export port. 

ONTARIO 

Ontario covers 80,000,000 acres. The total length of the Great 
L3.kes is 1~ miles and the area is 80,000 sq. mi-les. Part of Ontario 
became Canada Co. land by a company of English capitalists who entered 
Into contract with the Earl of Bathurst March 1st, 1824. On November 
26, 1824, the price paid tor 829;430 acres o! crown reserves was 3s 6d 
per acre, approxlmate.Jy 87c per acre (in 1872 the pound equalled $4.80 to 
$5.00 average- in 11961 the pound equalled $3.00 average). The payments 
were one third down and remaining two thirds extended over 16 years. 
Later there were new agreements. The Earl of Bathurst was Secretary 
of State. This dlstrict, known as the London and Western distric t was 
bought from t'he Indians May 24, 1826. The first oil well was struck at 
Oil Springs, Lambton County, in 1860. By 1863 over 4 million gallons 
of oil had been obtained. The first locomotive railway in Ontario was 
the Great Western. In 1852 there wasn't one single mile of railroad, but 
by 1867 there were no less than 5,000 miles. The first Weiland Canal 
was buUt at a cost of $15,000,000. Ontario population in 1870 was 
1,620,850. At this same time Ontario took the fi.rst prize at Paris 
Exhibition for wheat. Other crops raised at that time were barley, 
peas. oats, Indian corn, potatoes, turnips, mangels and carrots. Between 
1861-71 the nationalities consisted of the following - 1,082,940 French; 
846,414 Irish; 706,369 English; 549.~ Scotch; 202,991 Gennan; 29,622 
Dutch; 23,035 lndjan; 21,496 African; 7,703 Welsh and the remaining were 
of various origins. 1871. In Ontario, Quebec, New Brunswick and Nova 
Scotia were 1,492,029 Roman Cathollcs. 494 ,049 Episcopalians, 490,093 
Methodists, 417.348 Canada Presbyterians, 107,259 Church of Scotland 
Presbyterians, 225,745 Baptists and numerous other denominations in 
smaller numbers. Schools in Ontario in 1860 were: 4;,800 public schools 
and 200 separate schools. There were 490,'537 pupils and 53 Inspectors. 
In 1872 skilled !arm hands received 30 . 40d ($7.50 . $10.()()) a month 
plus board and lodgings. Labourers received 5s . 6s (10c to 12c) a day. 
Machine and skilled artisans received 6s . 16s (12c . 32c) a day. Female 
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servants received 16d to £2 ($4.00 to SlO.OOl a month. The follow ing is a 
list of prlces paJd for grocer ies In 1872 - a 4 fu. loaf of white bread, 5d · 
6d; salt butter, 9d · 13d per lb.; meat, 3Y2d - 6d pe r lb.; cheese 4~d - 7~d 
per lb. ; potatoes 1s · 2s bushel ; sugar, brown, 4 ~ to 5d per lb.; tea 
2s per lb.; eggs 6d ; milk, quart, 3d ; beer, quart, 2d; tobacco, 1s per lb. 

In 1881 the capita l investment per 100 acres of cultiva ted land 
was $186.00. At t he same time each Inhabitant produced the following~ 
wheat, 17.64 bus.; corn, rye, barley, oats, buckwhea t, -peas, beans, and 
potatoes, 55.95 bus.; butter 19.22 lbs; w ool, 2.62. Value of livestock per 
person, $38.13. For every 100 populat ion Ontario owned Z7 horses, 32 
m ilch cows, M sheep. 

KENT COUNTY - FOR~fED I N 1792 

1.he County ot Ken t has an a rea of 3,589 square m iles and has 
574,210 acr es. When the first white man entered upon th is territory , 
he round its forests and plains a thea tre of origina l Ut e , where the dusky 
red man dwelt in primitive simplicity. The .forests were then teamed 
with game and the lakes w ith fish. When the Indians heard the echo 
of the axe f rom the fir st w hite man, they came up the r iver (La Tranche) 
now the Thames, in canoes and let out w ith the Chippewa war whoop. 
For ages, prior to the advent of civtlization, periods of peace and war 
succeeded each other among the r ude inhabitants of this region. These 
attacks were formed <by P ontiac and renew ed by Tecumseh. In the 
year 1790, a man named Parson hadl taken up a location on the south 
bank of the Thames, now In Raleigh Township. In tha t year to him a 
son was born, probably the firs t white child within the conllnes of the 
present county. Here on October 5, 1813, was fough t the battle b y the 
British and I ndian for<:es under Gi!ner a l Proctor and the celebrated 
Indian chief Tecumseh, and the American a rmy under Gener al Har rison. 
As early as 1729 effor ts were made to civilize and chrlstlanlze the Indians 
who had s ettled in th is r.ection. At the commencement of the settlement 
of this county lots of 200 acres situa ted on the ba nks of the Thames 
were sold for $100.00. By 1~ they sold for $500.00 and since tha t time 
property has been rapidly Increasing. After the war of 1812 - 1814, Col. 
Ta lbot began the colonization of Ta lbot Road. B y the year 1818, many 
had settled here. Pa rts of the old road a re now washed away by Lake 
Erie. It Is now No. 3 Highway. The counties, Including Kent, were 
formed In 1792. At tha t time Kent and Lambton wer e united. The Kent 
County Council me t for the firs t time in Cha tham on August 17, 1847. 
In th e year 1848 the Buxton settlement was started. I n the year 1851 a n 
act was passed authorizing the sepa ra tion of Kent a nd Lambton. The 
date of the settlement of the several townships tha t formed Kent a re 
as follows: Raleigh. 1792; Dover, Chatham, Cnrnden West, Harwich , 
Howard, and Ox:!ord, 1794. At th is time the Rive r Thames was known 
as La Tranche, and It was navigable. In 1825 the popula tion of Kent was 
2609 or which 1431 were males and 1178 fem ales. I n 1827 there were 
25.514 acres under culture , 5 gris t a nd saw m ills In oper at ion. By 1863 
the population was 55,000. In 1905 a s treet car line f rom Chatham to 
Wallace'burg was s ta rted and in 1908 from Cha tham to Erie Beach . 
They had trouble getting permission l or a subway under the New York 
Centr al Railway, so for a few yea r s the passengers would get off the 
s treet car on one side, walk over the r a ilway, and get a nother car and 
continue on . The e lectric cars had a speed of 30 m.p.h. On August 10. 
the tlrst excursion was sponsored by the Salvation Army. As one car 
stopped by the old fair grounds In Chatham to take on or let oi! some 
passengers, the following car brakes ta iled and It rammed into ca r No. 1. 
Two boy.s were ldlled instantly a nd two boys died la ter in the hosp ital. 
The service of the r a ilway discon tinued In 1927. In the year 1903, the 
RJver Thames was dredged 100 feet wide a nd 12 feet deep. At this time 
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Chatham was called a lake port with the larger vessels wintering there. 
For several years there was passenger boat service between Chatham, 
Windsor and Detroit. These boats were of a double decker type and of 
good size, probably carrying 500 or more passengers. The 1850 school 
population attending common school were boys, 3,326 and gil'ls, 3,011. 
Total expenditure in behalf of common schools was $25,945, of which 
$ro,236.56 was salary for teachers. Around the year 1881 there was a 
good Grammar School In Chatham, with an average attendance ol 71 
pupils. School population, including only children between ages of 5 to 
16 years In the county, 5,851, Chatham, 807. Pupils of other ages in the 
county were 406, In Chatham 23. In about 1848 the first mall route 
was from Maldstone to Charing Cross. It was made semi-weekly either 
by horse back or art. The following are some of the post offices and 
post masters of the year 1863: 
Post Ofilce Township 
Buxton Raleigh 
Charlng Cross Harwich 
Dealtown Tilbury East 
Edgeworth Tilbury East 
Romney Romney 
Tilbury East 

(Stewart) 
Chatham W. 

'n)bury East 
Raleigh 

Post Master 
Rev. W. King 
June Guy 

Comm. & Allow. 
$38.01 
$80.22 
$12.31 Isaac Russell 

John Kerr 
Thomas Renwick 

$22.00 
$63.71 

James Smith 
B. F . Barfoot 

$24.44 
$1,245.73 

Census taken 1846 and again 1861. 
No. acres taken up Under cultivation Po pulation 

1846 1861 1846 1861 1846 1861 
Chatham .................. 17,119 38,.359 2,749 14.311 799 3,585 
Camden ... ..... . 6,300 26,573 1,295 10,856 316 2, 744 
Onver E & W ........ 13,237 26,903 2,432 9.814 1,242 2,656 
Harwich .................. 32,845 50,3t28 4,94!2 21,701 1,898 4,556 
H oward .. . ................ 35,501 47,628 6,545 21,345 1,896 3,976 
Oxford ...................... 1.1,625 37,<»3 3,281 16.,887 1,000 2,554 
Raleigh ...................... 33,151 44,899 5,569 16,887 1,877 3,750 
Romney .................... 7,600 7,802 122 2,671 474 470 
Tilbury East ............ 16,999 21,243 1.315 3,604 540 1,267 
Zone .......................... 29,177 15,474 5,3"40 3.218 1,300 1,159 
Population of Kent: 1846-9,841; 1861 - 31,a.83; 1961 - 60,370. 
City of Chatham: 1861 - 3,585: 1961 - 29,330. 

KENT CENSUS OF RELIGION, 1861 
Chatham Camden Howard [)over Harwich Orford 

Total Population ............ 3fiG 2774 3976 2656 4566 2554 
Church of England ........ 366 7CT7 1039 369 713 376 
Church of Rome ............ 326 44 182 1639 208 S7 
Est. Church of Scotland 217 101 En 53 534 98 
Free Church of Scotland 341 83 501 183 392 505 
United Presbyterians .... 49 20 77 22 128 11 
Wesleyan Methodists . .... 860 446 441 115 958 259 
Episcopal Methodists .... 576 818 311 212 478 442 
Other Methodists ............ 114 12 
New Connexlon Methodists - 53 64 
Baptists ..................... ........ 619 386 400 60 571 250 
Lutheran ............. ............. 3 3 24 
Congregationalists .......... 5 Z7 4 4 
Quakers ........ ..................... 1 2 
Christians ......... ............... 0 
No religon ........................ 81 
Other Creeds not cl'assed 2 
No creed given ............. . 
Universalists ................... . 

6 

239 

9 
34 

14 

28 

203 
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RalC'1gh Romney Tilbury E . Zone City Chatham 
Total Population 3750 470 1267 6150 4466 
Church of England ... 534 76 134 326 1036 
Church of Rome 736 1 436 91 875 
E~;t. Church of Scotland 251 2 66 201 236 
Free Church o! Scotland 230 9 178 134 173 
United Presbyterian<; 70 4 105 .20 
Wesleyan Methodists . .. 985 355 37 262 446 
Episcopal Methoo:Ms 437 304 160 818 
Othe .. Methodists . 25 21 4 4 
N~v Connexlon Methodis ts 3 
Baptists ..... .. 343 11 42 386 
Lutheran ... ....... 8 5 24 
Congregationalists 97 15 15 31 
Quakers .. ... .. . .. .. . 20 
Christians, No Religion .. 2 25 
Other creeds. not classed 61 
Disciples ...... .. .. .... 5 19 
No creed given 54 

('EN US OF ORIGIN 1861 

Township Total Pop. England and Scotland Ireland Natives of 
Wales Canada, not 

Chatham 
French Orlgln 

3.'585 172 224 
Camden ........ 2774 231 66 
Dover .............. 2656 141 107 
Harwich .......... 4536 278 268 
Orford 25;';1 174 290 
Howard ............ 3976 384 308 
Raleigh ......... 3'750 254 99 
Romney .......... 470 76 133 
Tilbury East .. 1267 98 133 
Zone ............... 1159 165 93 
City Chatham 4466 388 44 

Nova Scotia 
French and Prince 
Origin U.S.A. Edward Is. 

Chatham ··················· .. 17 632 20 
Camden ························ 497 
Dover 210 7 
Harwich·:::· ::::::::::~: ::::::: : 512 72 
Orford ............................ 93 14 
Howard 9 204 24 
Raleigh .. :::::::::::::::::::::·:: 32 1007 8 
Romney ···-················ .. 7 
Tllbury East ····-·········· 68 3 
Zone .............................. 7 41 8 
City of Chatham ····· .. 1095 16 

Chatham Township - from France, 9. 
Indians - Chatham Township - 1736. 

167 
88 

112 
253 

259 
246 

10 
95 
95 

222 

German 
States 
Holland 

(Prussia) 

14 
3 
7 

18 
28 
23 

13 
52 

Coloured, Harwich, 518; Howard, 37; City of Chatham, J770. 
Township of Chatham, 1 from Newfoundland. 

7 

2291 
182 

1009 
3040 
1793 
2718 
2036 
365 
653 
728 

2261 

New 
Brunswick 

37 
7 
1 

14 

25 
6 



ATLAS BY D. MacDONALD, C.E., TORONTO, 1881 

Rev. William K~. of Raleigh, the founder of the celebrated 
"Buxton Settlement," and the first gentleman who reduced to a practical 
test the colonizing in a tree country ot the coloured slaves of the 
southern states. was born In Londonderry, Ireland, In 1812. He obtained 
from the government a grant of 18,000 acres in the Interior ot Raleigh 
Township with the assistance of Lord Elgin, then Governor General, and 
commenced his work In April, 1848. Coming !rom Louisiana, with 15 
slaves, whom he emancipated, he formed the nucleus with them of the 
Elgin and Buxton settlement, called by the laymen name in honour of 
Sir F. T . Buxton, who interested himself largely In the formation of 
the Elgin association. Land was sold to the settlers at $2.50 per acre 
on easy terms, and by 1886 the population of the settlement had reached 
1200. When emancipation was proclaimed, 'Mr. King had by this time 
educated over 700 coloured pup1ls, most of whom went south and became 
actively employed In raising the down trodden race. Among that number 
are teachers, lawyers, physicians, editors, authors and several members 
of congress. He was Instrumental In establishing the Chatham Grammar 
School, and for 28 years was connected with the board. He is now 
spending the remainder of his life in retirement, but preaches regularly 
to a congregation at Maldstone. 

A FEW ADVERTISDlENTS TAKEN FROl\f BOOK LOANED BY 
LYLE SMJTH 

Union Distillery, one block west of the North Chatham Steam 
Saw Mill. Thos. Bennett, Manufacturer of Whiskey. N.B. - Orders 
In town or from the country promptly attended to. Chatham, C.W. 

WIU!am Green, Baltimore and Chesapeake Oysters! ! are being 
received by express and sold by the keg, can or dish. Salmon, Sardines, 
Lobsters, Pickles & Fish, of every description. King St., Chatham. 

Edwin Newth dealer In groc. crockery, provisions, patent 
medicine, coal oU lamps. King St., Chatham. 

Wm. Gray. Manufacturer of wagons, buggies, carriages, ploughs, 
cultivators and any kind of farming implements. Colborne St., Chatham, 
c.w . 

Smith's M!Us, James Hinds, sawyer, steam, saw -and grist. Robt. 
Smith and Bros., proprietors. Excellent white oak, ash and button wood. 
Grlsting promptly and well done .. 

Kent Steam Cabinet Wareroom, all kinds of turning done to 
order! Collins kept on hand or made to order. King St., Chatham. 

8 



TILBURY EAST 

Area - 54,263 Acres 

By the year 1818 a few French had squatted on the low lands of 
the Thames and Lake St. Clair. The same year there came some on 
Talbot Rd. The first to come and so on in rotation as they came -
'l'he McDonwld family, lot 166. Wm. Russell, lot 167 150 acres. Philip 
Cofel. Lot 170. Peter or John Simpson, lot 171, 360 acres. Thomas or 
Isaac Askew, lot 173. 100 acres. Charles Heward, lot 176, 200 acres. 

Ninety-eight IDghway at this time was an Indian trail. It 
received Its first settler!> in August , 1832. Thomas Smith and his family, 
included three grown up sons, Robert, James and David. Thjs family 
came by boat to somewhere along the shores of Lake Erie near P ort 
Alma, followed an Indian trail back through the woods, passed through 
what Is now known as Glenwood, (but at that t ime w oods), until they 
came to a high ridge of land and upon this land was a creek , which Is 
now the No. 1 drain. The 'beavers had made a very large da m and upon 
this mound of earth they 1built their home. That mound of earth still 
exists today (1963) - Lot 10, M.R.N., at Stewart. They were alone until 
1834, when came Mathew Martin, lot 4. Concession 10, and J ohn Graham, 
L 18, M.R.S. The tlrst store was operated by John and Daniel Kerr, 
located west of Valetta. The first school was located L 6, Concession 10, 
John Fletcher !being the teacher. In his honour the station on the Canada 
Southern Railway (now New York Centra)) was named Fletcher. One 
of the first saw mills was erected by the above mentioned Smiths, 
operated by horses for power. The Iirst Tilbury East Township meeting 
was held January 4, 1836, Robert Smith presiding. John Nowal as clerk. 
John Cameron was elected assessor, Robert Smith, Jr., collector. and 
John Wilson, Peter Simpson and Thomas Smith, highway commissioners. 
After the Mackenzie Rebellion, the municipal act brought a change in 
the township government. On January 7, 1850, the electors chose five 
councillors to serve the munlcipali ty. Tilbury East's first township 
oeoundl elected were: John Smith, 81; J ohn Coutts, 76; John W ilson, 72; 
Francis Wharram, 70; and John Fletcher, 59. The firs t meeting was 
held on January 21, and John Wilson as first reeve was elected. 

The Tilbury East post office was located a t Lot 10 M.R.N .. 
around a cluster of a saw mi!l. 2 shops. and a s tore. By 1836, Tilbury 
East villagPs were - Tilbury, population 300, Fletcher, Vale tta. popu lation 
200, Til>ury East (now known as Stewart), and Edgsworth (rwest o! 
Valetta.) 

The first township constables were Alexander Ains lie, Charles 
Campbell, John Finlayson, John McGregor and Henry Richard~on. 

The first settlers came to Tilbury Eas t in 1784. They were John 
Reaume and his wife Ann Trudell. They settled on the T hames, and 
other French Canaruans soon followed. John Reaume was the first 
to come and the first to dle, a victim of s mallpox, in the year 1829. 

The first place of worship was built in 1802, a log chapel on the 
banks of the R iver Thames, built by the Roman Catholic religion. In 
1824, It was replaced 'by a frame church, painted whHe, known as S t. 
P eters. It bur ned in 1898 and was replaced ln 1902 w ith a brlrk one 
which st ill stands. 
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The fi rst Protestant Church was built about 1860 by Rev. 
W illiam Burgess, an English Congregational missionary. T otal occupants 
of land In 1861 was 215. 

Occupiers of 10 acres and under , 5; 10 to 20 acres, 3; 20 to 25 
acres, 53; 50 to 100 acres, 111; 100 to 200 acres, 40; over 200 acres, 3. 
Amount held in acres 21,243 ~res. under cultivation, 3,604 acres; acres 
under crop, 2,173 acres unde!' pasture, 1,330; garden and orchard, 101; 
wood and wild lands, 17,639; cash value of fanns, $95,353; of farm 
Implements, $6,023; produce of '~{arden and orchard, $41.7.00. Acres of 
fall wheat , 353 - 5.377 bus.; 9prlng wheat, 232 acres, 2.924 bus.; !barley, 
62 acres, 1,301 bus.; peas, 344 acres, 6,926 bus.; oats. 484 a cres, 15.782 bus.; 
buckwheat, 72 acres, 1,078 bus.; Indian corn, 'fn7 acres, 11,865 bus.; 
potatoes 177 acres, 9,806 bus.; turnips, 3 acres, 605 bus.; 71 bus. 
~arrots ; 34 bus. beans; 16 bus. clover, timothy and grass seed ; 700 lbs. 
of hops ; 7 lbs. maple sugar; 20 lbs. wool; 1,83:l yards of fulled oloth; 
236 yards .flannel; lf74 bulla, oxen and steers; 160 milk cows; 463 calves; 
774 hellen; 355 honea over 3 years old, value ~,304; 243 colts and 
flllles; 576 sheep; 2,059 pip; total value of live stock $36.&t9; 21,310 lbs. 
of butter; 692 lbs. cheese; 14 barrels of beef of 200 lbs.; 296 barrels of 
por k of 200 Jbs.; 15 carriages kept for pleasure, value of same, $468.00. 
Today, the main crops are soybeans, cor n. fall wheat, oats, barley, sugar 
beets, tomatoes, peas and tobacco. 

The timber on the land in 1844 was oak, elm, h ickory, ash and 
white wood. About the year 1890, a disease k Uled all the black ash, 
and in 1955-61 a disease killed most of the elm. T'llbury East, now known 
as Stewart, established 1~1. e.nd contained a steam g rist and saw mill. 
a general store and I!_ potash manufactory. Today, these places of 
business are all gone. Edgworth, situated on lot 17, Middle Road, 3 miles 
from nJ>ury post office, established 1857. One general store, operated 
by John Kerr. Dealtown, situated on lot 169 T albot Road. Isaac R ussell, 
postmaster, Wes1eyon Methodist church bullt In 1863, size 20 by 40, 
cost $800.00, seating capacity 200, Rev. M. Brown, m in ister. 

The •Middle Road, (now 98 Highway) was built over an old 
Indian trail of 1812. At that time the troops using Talbot IR'oad, were 
'being attacked by the enemy using boats on Lake Erie. The same also 
occurred along the River Thames, so they decided to put a road through 
the middle, which was to their advantage. 

The tlrst gas or oil well to be drilled was on the Kerr farm. in 
about 1905. Lot 10 M1dd1e Road North. A man by the name of Bolble 
came from Ohio by train to Fletcher, walked as tar as Wm . Mancell's. 
H e talked things over with him a.nd they started out to find a location 
which was the Kerr farm. Bolbie leased the land and brough t in a 
drilling rig from Ohio. Wm. Mancell sold him 80 cords of 4 l oot wood, 
delivered to the well, at $4..00 a cord, to be used to fire the boiler. They 
struck both gas and oil and from this resulted the F letcher oil boom and 
a lso some oil wells were found in the Glenwood vicinity. 

The year 1921 Arthur Kearns bouibt Lot 7, Middle Road North , 
known as the Kelly Farm. At this time this farm was Infested with 
mustard, so bad people saJd all it could grow was mustard. With in a 
lew years Arthur had the mustard under control and was growing some 
of the best crops In this section. Today. his son Joe has this ! arm, which 
still producea some of the highest yielde ln the township. As for the 
lamlly history of Mr. and Mrs. Kearns, look In the ~ly section of this 
book. 
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GLENWOOD AND DISTRICT 

Glenwood was first named Wantmore, until the time when the 
railroad came thro~J4:rh In 1892-3. This Is how It got Its first name, 
Wantmore. In the saw mill days the mill In this district didn't have 
enough help. A mill 2 miles west had too much help, so It was decided 
to send some help east. By mistake, the men went west to a saw mill. 
The mill that had too much help was then called Sycimore (they wanted 
to get rid of some help). When the men went west that mill was named 
Gotmorc (they got help). The mill to the east that needed help was 
then named Wantmore (they still needed help). Syclmore Is now Steven· 
son, and Gotmore Is now Coatsworth. Apparently, when the railroad 
came through, Mrs. J. N. Halliday, wife of the owner of the saw mill, 
gave Wantmore the name of Glenwood Station. 

This district Is now known by Its agricultural ability as the 
soyabean capital of the world. In the year 1952, a man by the name of 
Dr. Hildebrand, from the Department of Agriculture, Harrow, stood on 
the railroad and looking In all dlrecUons, said this: ''I have been all over 
the soyabean district of the United States and canada and this Is the 
first place I can look In all directions and as far as the eye can see are 
soyabeans and more soyabeans." During the past few years Glenwood 
has shipped almost a trainload of soyabeans each year, approximately 
80 carloads a year. 

The following Is a history of the farms and village of the 
Glenwood district, beginning In the east to the west and then the village. 

It may be noticed that some of these lots (farms) In the early 
days sold for a h!"gh price, followed shortly by a much lower price. In 
most cases a timber ~ale had taken phce. 

SW~ LOT 6, CONCESSION 15- Present Owner Wm. .Jones 

Crown to John Deurey, 100 acres, patent September 10, 1861. 
John Deurey to Nelson H . .Mills, October 21 18'71, $600.00. Nelson H. 
Mills to Benjamin Scratch, October 24. 1871, $800.00. This farm is now 
divided Jnto two parts: N.W. 50, South W. 50 acres. Benjamin Scratch 
to Mary A. Henderson, December 22, 18'76, $1000.00. Mary A. Coats (wife 
of Jas. Henderson) to Andrew Patterson. October 27, urn, $1300.00. 
Andrew Patterson to John Scott, March 12, 18'79, $1300.00. John Scott to 
James Jones, September 28, 1883, $2200.00. In the year 188'7, James 
J ones sold the S25 acres to John Johnson 

N.E. 50 - Benjamin Scratch to Maurice A. Miller, February 19, 
1872, $700.00. Maurice A. Miller to J ohn Beggs, September 22. 188'7, 
$1275.00. John Beggs (unmarried> to Wellington and Thomas Jones, 
January 11, 1882, $1325.00. Now Thomas Jones had 75 acres. After his 
death It went to his son Will. The Jones family originally came !rom 
Wales to Ireland, then to Canada. J ames Jones and his wife Sara Moore, 
came to Canada and Jived In the Merrlckvllle area for awhile. In 1865 
they moved to McKays Corners. They lett many brothers and sisters 
in the Merrickv1lle area. In 1883 James and Sara and their family moved 
to Lot 6, Concession 15, which Is now the WIU Jones farm. Their 
family Included six sons and three daughters, William, James, Lucy 
and Jane, all of whom went to Michigan. Rose Ellen married James 
.Miftlln, and after his death married Joshua Smith, they lived on Lot 9, 
Concession 13 Reu'ben H. lived where John Armstrong Jr., now lives. 
Robert lived where Gordon Kent now lives. Wellington was kicked by 
a horse and died from the results. This family have aJl died. 

rrhomas Jones and his wife Mary were married in 1889. 'I11ey 
had five children. Ellis, (husband o! Margaret Estabrook), Glenwood; 
Nettle I. (!Mrs. Harold J. Johnson), Lot 8, Concession 15; Lorraine T. 
(husband of Nina F . Watson of Wheatley) Lot 7, Concession 16; William 
C. (husband of Mary A. Brown, Wheatley); Ethel E., single. 
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Wm. and Mary Brown were married in 1927 and are still on this 
farm. On the corner 25 acres there was a frame house, known in that 
time as the honeymoon house, becauses several newly wE'd couples used 
It as their home until they were able to get established In their own home. 
Some of these tenants were: Mr. and Mrs. H. Knight, George and. Mary 
Hodges, Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Dawson. and many more newlyweds. This 
house was built of black ash held together with cut nails. It was finally 
moved near the present Jones hou~e and used as a hog pen until 1950. 
Wm. Jones at one time owned a team of mules. 

LOT 6, CONCESSION 14 - The .Johnny Arm8tronc Fann 
The first owner recorded for this farm was Christophel 

Armstrong, his wife Ann Chester. He came from Allendale, England, In 
1868. Their fam!ly was - Hanna, Mrs. Ed. Parker; Elizabeth, Mrs. 
Andrew Beas!ey; Mary, slng:e; Eliza, Mrs. Tom Stockwell; Annie, Mrs. 
Robert Jones; Amery, single; Margaret, Mrs. Henry Real. The above 
were born In England. The following were born In Canada - John, his 
w.fe Jane Mifflin; Christopher, his wife Avilla Mi!!lln; Edward, first 
w.fe Ida Smart, second wife Mary Green. Of this large family only 
two of these son's wives are now living, Jane and Avilla. 

Next to reside on this farm was John Armstrong, born here 
1892. d .ed 1947, his wife, Jane Mifflin. Their family being: Evelyn, Mra. 
Alex Innes, died 1956; Lome <2 sons, 2 daughters) lives on Ooncesslon 16, 
Tilbury East; Johnny (1 son, 2 daughters) lives on Concession 14, Tllbury 
East; Charlie (1 son) lives on the home farm; Cora, at home. First 
car, 1916; first tractor, 1935; last horses, 1954. 

On June 26, 1918, Johnny Annstrong Sr., was Injured very 
badly while taking oU hay. Again ln 1922 he fell off a ladder in the 
barn and was seriously Injured. Charlie Armstrong, his wife, Edith 
Mc.Cibben, and son Roy, now work the farm. 

LOT I, CONCESSION 14 - 8.E. 50 Known as the Brown 50 by the 
Goepel Hall 

In the year 1871 a Robert Brown came from Northumberland, 
England, and settled on thls fann. Canada Co. - Robert Brown, 
September 12, 1871, L87 .10.0. Rebert Brown's widow - Robert Isaac 
Brown, April 12, 1897, $850.00. Robert Isaac Brown - Department of 
Agriculture, March 27, 1935. Department of Agriculture - Ralph 
Dawson, April 20, 1935. Ralph Dawson to Vern Jones, 194.2. The Gospel 
Hall, located on this propellty, had been the school house which was 
moved from up the road onto a piece of land donated by the Brown 
family ln the year 1897. 

The Robert Brown Family - Robert Brown, born 1818, died 
19<YJ, age 84. H1s wife, Ann WhlttleJd, born 1833, died 1887, age 54. 
Benjamin, had 4 sons, 3 daughters, died 1933, age 82. Thomas, no tamlly, 
died at age 48. Joseph, 6 sons, died at age 82. Elizabeth Struthers, 2 
sons, 2 daughters, died at age 40. Jane Jones, 3 sons, 2 daughters, died at 
age 73. John, 3 sons, 3 daughters, died at age 73. Robson, 5 sons, 1 
daughter, died age 69. Henderson, 2 daughters, died 1939, age 72. Ann 
Gray Connor, 2 sons, 1 daughter, died 1920, age 47. Isaac, 8 sons, 1 
daughter, died November 16, 1956, age 79. Other people who had rented 
the house - Mrs. Hillman, Wm. Innes, Charlie Marshall. Lorne 
Armstrong, 1919, Harley Mans, Radmore girls, 1000, Mrs. Charlie Gardner, 
1945, Dave MoCioy, John Haskell, Russ C<>lter. The barn burned on this 
farm, 1941. The house was moved to Merlin. 

LOT I, CONCESSION 14, Known as the hrker Fann 
Crown to Canada Land Co., 200 acres patent October 26, 1846. 

The S.W. 50 acres Canada Co. to Edward Parker, I>ecember 20, 1870, 
I.H7 .10. Wm. Parker to John C. Armstrong, 1930. J<>hn Armstrong to 
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Charlle Armstrong. Edward Parker was married to Hanna Armstrong in 
1872 and their family was Albert, Gilbert, Ivan, JosePh and John, wlto nave 
aU died. Alia and Nora, single, Chatham. George Driver Uved on this 
place for one year. The house was made of logs and Is still In use as a 
granary. 

LOT '7, CONCQISION 13- Otto .Jobrulon Farm, 100 acre8 
Crown to David McNeil, who was a yeoman, 1848. McNeil to 

Wm. Mifflin, March 5, 1860, $300.00. Wm. M1Ulln, born 1802, died April 
18, 1891. S. 50 to son S!mon, $75.00, November 22, 18'78. N. 50 to 
Solomen Mlftlin, $7'5.00, November 22, 1878. The log house from this 
farm was moved to the south 50 where Solomen lived the balance of 
his life. The barn from this !arm was moved to Nelson Armstrong's, 
where It still stands. 

Solomen Mi.Ulin, born March 31, 1846, and Elizabeth Badder, 
born 1849, were married in 1872. Solornen died In 1889 and Elizabeth 
In 1913. Their family: Est!her (Mrs. Wm. Parker), they had 2 sons and 
3 daughters. Esther died August 15, 1960. Jane CMrs. Joltn Armstrong), 
they had 4 sons and 4 daughters. Avilla (Mrs. Christopher Armstrong), 
one daUirhter, 3 sons. Avilla died May 7th, 1964. Anne (Mrs. Thomas 
Heatherington), 2 sons, six daughters. Anne died February 24th, 1949. 
Pearl, died at 5 years of age-scarlet fever. Victor, died at 3 years of age­
IICal'let fever at the same time. Myrtle (Mrs. Joseph Dark) 2 daughters. 
Myrtle died in 1930. Guy, 3 daughters, 1 son. Guy died November 12, 1937. 

Wm. Parker worked this farm !or several years alter Solomen 
Mifflin died, until Guy Mifflin was old enough to take over. Martin 
Johnson bought the farm ln 1938. Martin J ohnson died 1960, and his 
wife, Nellie Gifford, 1958. One son, Otto. now lives on this farm. Otto 
Johnson's family; his wife Madeline Foster. Joan, laboratory technician, 
California. Gary, school teacher, Chatham. Terry, banker, Merlin. 
Nell and Allen at home. 

In 1942 a team of horses ran away, resukts, one horse dropped 
dead, and Martin had a broken leg. Last horses, 1945. Martin Johnson's 
tlrst car, a 7 passenger Keeton, around 1912. The crown deed of this 
farm Is written on sheep skin, and now is in the possession of Otto 
Johnson. 

LOT '7, CONCESSION 15--The Wayne Johnson Fann. Three Generations. 
Thomas Johnson was born In 1845, and d ied In 1907. His wife, 

Mary Anne, was born in 1857, and died In 1928. Their family was Adah 
Sophia, born In 1878 and died in 1901. Ethel Annie (Wands) , born In 1880. 
This was her second marriage. Her second married name was Williams. 
There was also Thomas Martin Johnson, 188'7 - 1960, who had one son 
(Otto). Arnold Edwin, who was a brakeman for the Erie and Detroit 
River Rallroad, and lived from 1883 to 1942. Also Bertha May (Johnston) 
who was a professional milliner, and lived from 1895 to 1927. Sara J ane 
(tDoyle) was a nurse and had one son (Dwight). She was born In 1887. 
Harold James had one son (Dwaln) and Harold lived from 1889 to 1959. 

Flossie Pearl died at the age of 8 years (1891·1899) . Ernest 
Cecil had one son named Wayne, and was born In 1893. Dlrle Fern died 
whlle very young (1895-1898). Mira Pearl (campbell) has one girl named 
Louise. She lived from 1897 until 1952. 

Second Generation on Farm 
Ernest Johnson and his wife Netta (Gardiner) had one son 

Wayne. 

Thlrd Generation on Farm 
Wayne Johnson and his wife Fra nces (Newlnshwander) have 

one daughter and two sons, Cindy, Kevin, and Wendell Wayne has a 
pilots licence. The last horses on this farm was In 1945, they sold for 
$10.00 each for fox meat 
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SETTLEMENT HISTOBY (.Jolmllons) 

On or about the year 1861 three brothers, John, William and 
Thomas Johnson came to settle In Canada from Newcastle-on-Tyne, 
England. They arrived in the area and immediately found work in 
digging a drainage ditch in what is now known as the Indian Creek 
area of Chatham, specifically on or about the property now owned 
by McKenzie Ross. Later they obt ~ I ned similar work in the area around 
what Is known as Talbot Street. After being in Canada about 10 years, 
Thomas and John formed a partnership and pul"Chased 100 acres of land 
at Lot 7, Concession 15, Tllbury East rownshlp, (although the original 
pureha:e could have been earller, the earl!est document In possession 
slgn!fylng the ownersh:p of this pal"Cel of land is a registered mortgage 
dated 1871, the Deed havlnr been lost, misplaced, etc.> 

WIUlam left his two brothers and went to Australia, later 
returning to settle In the Appln <Glencoe> area. The first and only 
tools owned and used by John and Thomas were an axe and a shovel 
(spade). As the land waa entirely buslh, they had to cut the trees, spade 
the ground around, In order to plant and produce from the farm. They 
constructed a lo1 house on the north corner of the farm and lived In this 
until about 1887 or 1888, when Thomas built the brick house which 
stands today. After farming In a partnership for several years, the two 
brother felt it in the bet~t of Interest if each owned his portion of the 
farm separately, hence in February, 1881, Thomas took ownership 
of the north halt of Lot 7, Concession 15, while John took ownership 
of the south halt, being 50 acres each. Later Thomas was to purchase 
an additional 50 acres, NE% of Lot 8, Concession 15, and also EY.lSWYt 
of Lot 8, Concession 14, belnr 25 acres, which he owned until his death. 
John subsequent to dissolving the partnership, purchased an additional 
25 acres, S~NWYt Lot 6, Concession 15, which he owned untll his death. 
The specific portion of the land owned by Thomas, which I shall now 
confine myself, Is that portion being NY. L 7, C 15, which is 50 acres. 

Atter Thomas passed away the land was passed on to his wlfe 
Mary Anne. Mary Anne sold the farm in 1917 to her son Ernest, who In 
tum sold It to his son, Wayne, In 1956. being the present owner. 

LOT 8, OONCESSION 14, SE% - Wm. Graham 

James Foxton bought the 100 acres on January 9 from the 
Crown In 1869 for $310.00. He sold 25 acres to Thomas Dodd on June 
24, 1874, for $900.00. He sold the other 75 acres to Thomas Jones on 
January 27, 1.883, for $1300.00. 

fl'homas Dodd sold the SW~ of SWY.l (25 acres) to Wm. 
Gardlner on December 1, 1884, for $1000.00. This 25 acres Is now 
owned by Alex St. Jean. 

Thomas Jones sold the NE~ of SIN~ to Stephen Rlanda11 on 
January 12, 1884. This 25 acres now belOllgiS to Dwaln Johnson. 

Thomas Jones sold the NE 50 to Reuben Jones on March 18, 1884. 
for 1800.00. Reuben J one. sold It to Hannah Armstrong on February 
.20, 1885, for $1300.00, who ln tum sold It to Johnny Armstrong and 
Jane Anne Ann&trong on April 30, 189l, for $1000.00. They sold It to 
John G. McArthur on November 27, 1897. Mr. McArthur sold it to Bessie 
T. Ferguson, who sold It to Wm. Graham In 1915. 

The Keiver famlly rented the house from 1913 unUl 1916. The 
tamily of William Graham and his wlfe, Jane Sams, now live there. 
They had two daughters and one son. Ruth, who is now Mrs. Lyle 
Blonde, who have two sons and two daughters, and live at Riverside. 
Helen, who Ia now Mrs. Jlm Adamson, who have one son and two 
daughters, and now live In nJbury. Lyle, who married Ivy Bengl.men 
and who have two sons and one daughter, and live on R.R. 4, !Merlin. 

14 



Wllllam's first car was a Hup roadster, and he got it in 1914. 
His first tractor was home made ln 1917. He owned his flrst tiling 
machine ln Ohio In 1907. It was the first one he owned and It was steam 
driven. He tiled a good many acres since then and Is still at lt. This farm 
ha.s one gas well, and It now belongs to the farm. It still supplies enough 
gaa for the .tann use. Will was the man w'ho introduced Mammoth red 
clover to this country. He brought the seed from Ohio In 1916. 

Mr. and Mrs. Graham were the first newly weds to leave Merlin 
in an automobile, In the year 1912. 

LOT 8, OONCESSION 15- Harold .Johnson 
Harold Johnson dled in 1959. his wife (Nettle J ones) Uves on 

the farm. They had one son, Dwain. They built the house and barn 
in 1918. The barn went down in a wind storm ln 1W7. There was one gas 
well on this farm. 

Harold Johnson's first car was a Metz, but it is not known on 
what date it was purchased. But it was one of the .first 

NEY.l----6W~ OF LOT 8, CONCESSION 14 - (2.5 Acres) 
This land was bought from the cro\\.n by J ames Foxton in 1869, 

who sold It to Thomas Dodd in 18'74. H e sold it to Thomas Jones ln 
1883, who sold it to Stephen Randall on January 12. 1884, for $500.00. 
It was then sold to Soloman Randall on September 21, 1891, and then 
to Joseph Randall on July 26 1893. Wm. S. Randall and Stephen M. 
Randall then bought it on December 4. 1893, for S250.00 They sold 
it to Maxine Laporte on December 17, 1895, Cor $700.00. Mr. Laporte 
sold It to Georgina Randall on March 31, 1896 for $700.00, who sold It 
to Thomas Johnson on January 31, 1901, for $850.00. It then went from 
Thomas Johnson to Arno!d Johnson, to Harold J ohnson, to Dwaln 
Johnson. 

IMike Cribbons, Mr. David, and Tom Heatherington were all 
renters of this land at one time or another. There has been no buildings 
on this farm for quite some time. 

LOT 8, OONCESSION 15- Alex St. .Jeans Farm (GO Acre.) 
rrhe farm was sold by Isaac Froilc to Isaac Brown, who ln turn 

sold It to Robert Wands. He rented it to Cecil Phelps from 1943 to 1W7. 
It was then sold to Louis Benoit in 1948. Alex St. Jean bought the farm 
ln 1949. Alex St. Jean married Lena Dupuis. They have no family. 

On this farm there were two gas wells. The last one was 
discarded In 1949. The last horses were sold In 1950. 

SW~~ OF LOT 8, CONCESSION 14 
Across the road from the St. Jean house, 25 acres Crown to 

James Foxton. Foxton to Thomas Dodd to Wm. Gardiner on December 
1, 1884, for $1000.00. He sold it to James Stewart on March 1, 1887, 
tor $1.200.00. Mr. Stewart sold It to Thomas Dawson on January 30, 1889, 
for $1075.00. He sold It to Wm. M. Dawson on January 31. 1890, for 
$450.00. Charles David bought it from Mr. Dawson on August 10, 1891, 
$800.00. It was then sold to Daniell Brown on August 4, 1892 for 
$289.00. It was then sold to Ellzabeth Brown (widow) and Isaac FroUc 
(bachelor) on J anuary 10, 1910 for $800.00. They sold 1t to Robert 
Wands ln 1916, Who sold it to Isaac Brown In 1919. It was sold back to 
Robert Wands In 1931, who sold It to Alex S t. J ean h\1949. 

SE~ OF LOT t , OONCESSION 14- (100 Acres; GO At.nl8 of Cbut1e 
Bean; lSO Acres of Don Glffonl) 

The 100 acres went from the Crown to Richard Monk on August 
29, 1851, to Charles George Charteris on January 12, 1880, for $4000.00. 
It was then bought by Benjamin Brown on February 23, 1880, for 
$!r75.00. He sold the South 50 to DanJel Brown, who sold It to Wm. 
OwOcten on October 1, 1919, for $3500.00, who sold It to Charles Bear on 

ober 30, 1947, for $4000.00. 
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The Nonh 50 was sold by Benjamin Brown to Daniel Brown 
who sold it to Geor&e Gifford, he tht>n so!d It to Donald GUford Sr., and 
then to Donald Gifford Jr. There has never ~n any buildings on the 
north 50, and there Is a set of buildings where Daniel Brown lived on 
the South 50. He and hls wife Elizabeth Heuston came from Eniland 
In 1882 with eleven children and two more were born bere. 

Some of the families that lived on the Charles Bear farm 
as renters were: Gilbert Parker Henry Fish, Orville Ketts, Thomas 
Broom, Leo Hartford and Cecil Phelps. 

CharUe lieu' Fam11.Y 
Charl:e Bear, son of the late Charles Bear of London, married 

May Plank of London. The had two sons and one daughter. Robert 
married Bern!ce Gagn:er and they have two sons and. one daughter, 
and they live In Chatham. Lorraine married Wm. Stickles. They have 
three dal!¥hters, and live In Mcrlln. Norman marr1ed Jean Schoolle 
and they hve in Hamilton. 

LOT I, OONOIISSION 11 (Cia7ton a.rttGn and .Joeeph Authier) 

·Mrs. Allee Askew owned 135 acres. She sold this to George 
Hardie in 1900 for $3,500. In 1911, George Hardie sold the east 50 to 
John Dawson for $1400.00. Dawson sold It to Jim Phelps in 1917 tor 
$2500.00. Mr. Phelps sold it to Shurley l.Joyd in 195a for $10,000. Mr. 
Lloyd sold it to Clayton Charlton in 1955 for $15,700. This house has 
been rented to a few families, one was Bob Schlves, and it is now rented 
by Murray Haskell. 

George Hardie sold the west 85 acres to Bert Hardie. He sold 
It to Grant Wilder, who sold It to Croft Anderson. Mr. Anderson then 
rented It to George Thibeault, and then to Ted Phelps. Joe Authier 
now owns the farm. 

The house on this farm was moved from WY., of Elf., of Lot 
8, Concession 13, in 1900 by George Hardie. There was a log barn until 
recently. There was another house on the south end of this farm 
around 1900. Some of the families that llved in It were: Jim Peters, Ed . 
.Annstrone and Jackie Stewart. This house has been gone for a long time. 

Joe married Rosalie Schemk and they have two daughters and 
five sons. Jo Anne, who Ia now Mrs. Frank Cop, of Chatham, they have 
have one son. Lee ls a clvU engineer in Waterloo. David Is an 
accountant in Windsor, and Gordon lives in Windsor. He Is a radio 
operator and has one son. There are also three children at home, 
Charles, Christine and Steve. 

LOT lt, OONCB8810N 16 (Nea.on ~) 

Nichols Mosner got It from the crown on June 24, 1826, for 
£60. 0. 0. He sold It to Andrew Hamilton on September 7, 1836. It was 
then sold to John Foxton on May 23, 1881, for $1000.00. Christopher 
Armstrong bought It for $2225.00 In 1899. 

Christopher was born on March 10, 1871, and died on January 25, 
1934. Ins wife, Avilla MJ.mln, born on February 19, urn. 

Olristopher's family: Russell, born on October 8, 1896. He 
married Edith Archer and now lives in Windsor and has one son and 
one daughter. He ls a Civil Engineer. Victor was born on July 31. 
1898, and died on Mareh 21, 1931, at the age ot 33. Selena, who was 
IMra. Benson Askew, wu born on October U, 1900, and died on April 21. 
1945. They had three sons, Wayne, Keith and Kent. Nelson married 
Mavis Hope and they have three daughters. Nelson works the home farm. 

Nelson was born on November 6, 1902. His wife, Mavis Hope, 
was born on March 22, 1908. Their three irlrl.s are: Muriel, school teacher, 
married Howard Annstrong, and now lives at Valcaroo In Northern 
Ontario. Ruth, who Is a nurse, married H\Ch McDougall, and now Uves 
at Guilds . Dorothy is living at home. 

16 



One of the barns on this farm was damaged by a wind storm 
Jn 1947. The first C'ar was a 1919 Buick. lhe first tractor was a 1918 
Happy Farmer. This tractor ~ouid never start after once warmed up. 
Once it was startro in the morning it had to be left running all day. The 
last horses on the farm were on July 10, 1914. There were two gas 
welis, both gone. Chris Armstrong was one o! the first families to 
go to Florida tor the winter in this area. They went by train in 1922. 
When they got there, they bought a Ford touring car for $200.00 and 
when thPy were ready to !Pave for home sold it for $100.00. 

SE~ OF J..oT 11, CONCESSION 14 -(Robert Ford Fann) 

James Sui">r got this farm from the crown on May 17, 1864. 
and sold It to John Su:tor on October 27, 1866, for $350.00. John Suitor 
'lav.e Jam..'!s Norris the assignment of timber on October 17, 1867, for 
$600.00. J ohn Su!tor then sold the farm to Philip T. M. Andrew on March 
9, 1878 for $1500.00. Mr. Andrew's widow, Bessie Andrt.-w, sold the 
farm to Franc's Gebbie on February 14, 1882, for $2000.00. Francis 
Gzbb!e then sold it to J oseph H. Cusack on July 4, 1885, for $1089.75. 
Francis Gei>b:e got the mortgage o! $4085.00 on February 4, 1885. Francis 
~le then sold It to Bess!e Andrew. Wm. McCrae bought the farm on 
May 5, 1888. Wm. McCrae (widower) sold the land to a company 
named Canada Land. on Octdber 3. 1888, !or $8000.00. This company then 
sold It to James D. Anslie on April 25, 1899. Mr. Anslle then sold It to 
Isaac S. Anslle on May 10. 1899. Robert Fish (bachelor> bought It on 
D~mber 23, 1899, tor $2500. 

Robert Fish then sold the SN 50 to the Straus Land Corp. on 
October 16, 1912, for $3500.00. Mr. F ish sold the SE 50 to Henry Fish on 
December 2.'3, 1899, for $1100.00. Henry Fish sold th is land to the Straus 
Land Corp. on October 22, 1912, for $3500.00. 

The Straus Land Corp. then sold the land to Philip T. Ludwig 
(100 acres> on February 27, 1913. He sold it to Ruth Jones In 1932, who 
in turn sold it to Robert Ford on November 1, 1961, for $30,000.00. 

There was one gas well on this farm and it was discarded In 
1962. George Thibeault Jived in the house for a few years, before It was 
moved from the g)() to Lot 12, where Mrs. Floyd Ludwig now Jives. 

SE ~ OF LOT 12, CONCESSION 14 

John Suitor got the 100 acres from the crown on May 17, 1864. 
Mr. Suitor then gave James Norris the assignment of timber on Octdber 
17, 1867, for $1600.00. James Suitor sold It to PhllJp F . M. Andrew on 
March 9, 18'78, tor $1500.00 Bessie Andrew (widow), sold the land to 
Francis Gebbie on February 14, 1882, tor $2000.00. On April 3, 1883, 
Joaeph H. Cussack purchased the tnnd from Francis Gebble, !or $4089.75. 
!Mr. Cussack then sold It to Wm. MCRae (widower) on March l:>, 1887, tor 
$5000.00. Wm. 'McRae then sold the land to the Canada Land Co., on 
October 3, 1888, for $SOOO.OO. Andrew W. Gilbert bought It on March 30, 
1895, tor $200.00 . 

.Mr. Andrew Gilbert sold the land in two lots of 50 acres each. 

E. 50 ACRES- Mrs. Floyd Ludwig (Owner) 

Andrew Gilbert sold the land to David J. Mulligan on June 5, 
1897, for $1600.00. Mr. Mu!Ugan sold the land to Fillmore H. MacArthur 
on March 16, 1903, for $0000.00. J ohn H. Ferguson then purchased 
the land on May 2.1, 1907, tor $2500.00. Mr. Ferguson then sold the land 
to Fillmore H. MacArthur on Novem'ber 20, 1908, tor $2500.00. Alexander 
Graham was next to purchase the land on October 24, 1910, tor the price 
of f2875.00. The Straus Land Corp., then bought the land on July 13, 
1911, for $7749.00. Phili-p Ludwig bought the land trom the Straus Land 
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Corp. on February 27, 1913. Ruth Jones then bought the land and In 
turn sold it to Floyd Ludwig. .Mr. Ludwig passed away and his wile 
now owns the !and. 

Some of the families to live on this farm were : Calvan Monk, 
A)[re:l Shaw, John Carnegie, James Wilson, James Charlton, D. MuUigan, 
Wm. Owen, Charlie Ludwig, Bert Caaaidy, AIM!rt carr, George Carr, and 
Floyd Ludwig. The house burned on this tann In 1936. 

W.M, LOT 12, OONCESSION 14- B. Ford (Owner) 

Andrew Gilbert sold the land to James M. Bishop on March 14, 
1901, for $1350.00. Lawerence Sturdevent bought the land on September 
2. 1902, for $2000.00. James Bishop received the laQd on December 22, 
1904. Mr. Bishop then BOld It to Robert Ford on January 2, 194.2. Mr. 
Ford paid $10,000, for this land, and the 53 acres across the road. 

The tamJUea that lived on this farm are: Jim Bishop, Lawe:ence 
Sturdevant, Bert Cassidy, Melvin RusseJo, George Cofell, Ohe.rlle Lu~lg, 
Joseph DeLaets, and at present, Robert Ford. 

In 1902, a house on this farm was burned to the ground and 
everything was loat. There was a log house on this farm until 1958, 
when it was torn down. 

Robert Ford married Viola Lloyd on December 30, 1939. They 
have one dau~ter, Dorothy Jean. who we~ only two pounds 3 ounces 
when born. Dorothy Jean now teaches sc6ool in the Manitoulin Islands. 
The first tractor on this farm was a 1920 nton. 

LOT U. CONCBSSION 1.5- Adlun lllrd (Owner) 

The house was moved onto this land from the lumber camp (on 
Lot 12, Concession 14, just north of railway). Some o1 the families that 
have lived In this house are: Rud Near, Len Near, John Laidlau, George 
Thibeault, and at present, Adam Bird. 

Adun Bird Famll7 
Adam Bird was born at Contental, Ohio, In 1890. He came to 

Canada in February of 1912. His wife Is the former Olive Strasburg. 
Their chHdren were: 

Nettie, who 1s now .Mrs. Kenneth Dawson, and lives at Coats· 
worth. They bave three daughters and one son. M.ax married Ruby 
Dupl..se and now lives in Detroit. Morris married Ruth St. Pierre, and 
lives in Lindsay. They have three sons and four daughters. Elmer 
married Sara Eliott, and now lives in Wayne, Mich. They have ttbree 
sons and three daU&hters. Elmer is in tool and die. Elwood married 
Martha DeCork and they a:lao live in Wayne, Mich. They have two 
sons and three dau~ters. Harvey, who lives in Belleville, married the 
former Somoi Drink. They have two sons and two daughters. Bernice 
who is now Mrs. Bill Taylor, has five sons and three daughters. Two 
of their boys have pused a\W.y. They live in nl>ury East. Joe married 
Patricia Sova and they have three sons and one daughter. Wayne, who 
Is married to the former Ruth Coulter, lives in Michigan, and have two 
daughters and one son. Their one child, Clarlyle, died a1 7 months. 

One of Bernice's children, a boy, was accldentaly stabbed with 
a butcher knl.fe and dled soon after. Joe Bird is a man we should be 
proud of, because when Joe finished Hieh School he applied for a jobed 
as bookkeeper at a local concern. He was turned down, and he tri 
for the rame posltlon at Hunt's Canning Factory in Til>ucy. Wi'thln 
a few short years, he was promoted to manager. Now the company 
has moved him to New York State. Here he ls the manager over a 
nwmer of pwns. 'l'lh.ls year he 1s trying for his B.A. 
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ROBERT FORD GORE, WEST FROM. AD.UI BIRD'S 
Henry Maher sold this land to Orin Ford In 1920. Robert Ford 

then bought the land for $2200.00 . 
.1.n 1920, the house burned before Orin Ford got moved into it. 

They built a new home and It burned In 1928. Mrs. Orin Ford and Leo 
Dupuis were burned to death. There was one gas well on this farm 
an<l it was d!sposed of In 1945. 

LOT 18, CONCESSION 14. IOwners Ford, Brown and ller) 
The Canada Land Corp. g.ot the 150 acres from the Crown on 

OctOber 26, 1S16. 
South Part (63 4/10 ACJ'tl8) 

The Un:on Gas Co. got a lease from the Canada Land Corp. on 
April 1, 1914. The lease was tor oil and gas and was $700.00 cash per 
year. The Canada Land Corp. then sold the land to James M. Bishop on 
January 31, 1923, for $2300.00. Robert Ford then 'bought It In ~r. 
19-19. I'here was a log house on the South side. Some of the families 
who lived there were: Ames Blue, Jimmy Haskell, Andrew Robinson, and 
a Shaw. 

Another house was on the N..E. oorner. The familles that lived 
there were: Jack Smllh, Gus Smith, Jack LaCount, Lyle Bishop, and 
Chester Nicholson. 

N.E. ~ (60 Acres) 
The Canada Land Corp. sold the land to Martha M. Blake on 

March 16, 1901, !or $800.00. Nelson Ellis acquired the kmd on May 13, 
1911, !rom Martha Blake. !Mr. Ellis then sold the land to Manley Ellls 
on July 28, 1922. On September 15, 1937, Archie Brown bought the land 
from 'Manley Ellis, tor $3150.00. 

This term was tiled !our rod apart by Wm. T. Graham in 1935. 
Archie Brown lost his thumb on his right hand on September 21, 1936. 
While driving a tractor and combine on the highway in Glenwood, he 
was hlt 'by a C. & 0. !relght train. The train cut the !ront hal! o! 
the tractor completely o!!. The tractor was a total loss. A:rchle either 
jumped or was thrown clear o! the wreck. Archie was not hurt but 
was shook up and he got a big scare. Hls first car was a 1929 Model 
A Ford. The last horses on the farm was in 195'2. 

Archie Brown was the son of R.o.bei1t Isaac Brown. He married 
Ruth Gi!!ord, who rw.as 1he daughter o! Robert Gltfcrd. They were 
married on November 12, 1935. Their children were: Murray, born on 
October 2, 1936. He married Patsy Leach on September 24, 1960. Doug 
was born on March 19, 1939. He married Brenda Smlth on August 1, 
1~ They have one girl, Cindy, and one boy Tommy. Richard Robert 
was born on May 8, 19<16. Judy was born on January 3, 1950. Both 
Richard and Judy stin live at home. 

N. 60 Acres (Jier Farm) 
Thomas E. ller bought the land !rom the Canada Land Corp. 

on September 14, 1909, for $1000.00. The Union Gas Co. got a gas and 
oLllea.ae on the property on April 1, 1914, !or $700.00. John and Ira Der 
received the land from Thomas Iler. 

LOT 12, CONCESSION 14, ~ 100 AORES (R. VanDeWynckel) 
Thonwrs Suitor got the 100 acres tram the Crown on October 15, 

1864. He gave James Norris tihe assignment of timber on October 17, 
1864. for $600.00. Mr. Suitor then sold the land to John M. Moffat on 

1876
April 5, 1875, for $640.00. He then sold it to Wm. Charles, on March 13, 

. for $800.00. Charles D. Coby bought the land on October 6, 1885, 
for $1500.00. IMr. Coby sold It to George Robinson on March 21, 1887, 
~ $1250.00. George Robinson sold the 100 acres In two 50 acre lots. 

$7
:._ W

00
est 50 acres was sold oo Hermon A. Croft on January 3, 1889, tor 

~· · IMr. Croft sold. the land to George Chalmers, on Nov€'Jd>er 30, 
, for $750.00. 
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As for the East 50 acres, Georee Robinson sold It to George 
Chalmers on August 16, 1890, for $1200.00. George Chalmers now has 
the 100 acres. Clnrtes D. Oobby received the Place t.rom Mr. Chalmers 
by a quit claim deed, on March 17, 1892. Charles Cdbby then sold the 
farm to Isaac L. Anslle for $1800.00 on July 1, 1893. David Kett bought 
the farm on October 29, 189'7, for S'l50Q.OO. Mr. Kett othen sold the tann 
to Alexander F . Nehlon, on May 2, 1904. Mr. Nelson paid $5000.00 for the 
farm. Alexander GMham bought the farm on August 25, 1909, for 
$5300.00. Ale»tnder Graham then sold the land to the Straus Land 
Corp. on July 13, 1911, for $7749.00. Phllip Ludwig then bought the 
land on February 27, 1913. London Lite then got the land by quit claim 
deed, from Mr. Ludwig, on December 1, 1005. Rene VallDeM'ynckel 
bought the land In 1946. In 1960, Rene V-anl>e'Wynckel sold the land to 
his son Robert. 

Some tam!Hes who have rented this farm are: Tom Broom, Jim 
Phe!ps, l'1red Authier, Millard Haskell\ Will Uoyd. Floyd Ludlwlg, Harry 
Lamens. Troupe family, Wm. Broon, Ed. Garrison, Henry Roots, Odlyn 
Vani>eWynckel, and Mrs. Lyle Smtth. 

A large house was moved on thl8 property by Mr. Ludwig from 
the east (lot 11) , and was in use u.ntU RJobert Van.DeWynckel t>uUt a 
new one, the old house was sold and moved to !Merlin. 

Robert VanDeWynekel's FunDy 

Robert was born on June 16, 1929. He Is the son of <Rene of 
Glenwood. Robert married Mary Martens on Aprll 15, 1950. Mary is 
the daughter of Theophile Martens ot 0\atham Township. Mary was 
born In December of 1!1ZS. They have two girls and one boy: Phyllis 
was born on Febnrary 6, 1951, K¥her1ne Jean was born on September 
:M, 1953, and Edward Rd>ert was born on October 24, 195'7. All chUdren 
are stUl at home. 

N~ OF LOT U, OONCBSSION 14, 100 ACRES 

Wm. Suitor got the lnad from the Crown on May 17, 1864. Wm. 
Suitor sold the assignment of tlnmer ro James Norris on October 17, 
1867, tor $600.00. Wm. Suitor sold the land to John Pigott on January 
ZT, 1875, for $1'00.00. Calvin Stephen then bought the land from Mr. 
Pigott on June 5, 1877, for $1000.00. On November 216, 1885. Isaac L. 
Aina!Je bought the land from IMr. Stephen, .tor $1000.00. Mr. Ainslie 
then sold the land to Alemnder R. Miol on July 5, 1888, !or $1800.00. Then 
he, in turn, sokl it !lo Jane AinSlie, on July 5, 1888, for $1800.00. John N. 
Horton then bought the land from Jane AinsHe on February 8, 1902, for 
$5000.00. Mr. Horton then took a $1500.00 mortgage on the !ann with 
Huron 4: Erie, December 18, 1905. Mr. Horton lost the fann to Huron 
4: Erie, W'ho aold the land to Martha J . Halliday, on May 17, .1911, for 
S62QO.OO. Mrs. Halliday then 801d the land tJo the Straus lJand Corp., on 
September 30, 1911, for $5300.00. Philip Ludwig then purchased the 
farm on February Z7, 1913. The farm then wen't from Phililp LudWig, to 
London LUe. Rene VanDeWynckel bought the land from London Life In 
19416. Rene sold It to Robert VanDeWynckel in 19612. 

On the east 50 acres o! t'h1s Jarm were two tenant houses about 
1~1895. They were occupied by Philip McKee, Joshua Shedrick, and 
the Creensider Bros. 
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LOT lt, CONCESSION 14 (Takes In Jack Gifford, Don Glfford, Oeonr-! 
Arm~tra~~C, EW. .Iones, Fred Piche, the School and the Orange BaU) 

Thomas Street gut the 200 acres !rom the Crown on November 
3, 1862. Mr. Street sold the f:lrm to Thomas B. Fuller, who died and left 
the rarm to his wi!e Cynth:a, on July 1, 1876. Mrs. Fuller then sold the 
tarm to Francis Get>b:e on February 2-1, 1883, for $3000.00. On February 
4, 1885, Joseph H. Cussack purchased the lafll! for $4089.45._ Mr. Cussack 
then sold it to Wm. McRae on Novermer 2;,, 1887, !or $5000.00. Wm. 
MI'Rae d'ed and his w dew sold the farm to the Canada Land Co. on 
O·t~be: 3, 1883. for $SOOO.OO. 

The Canada Land Oo. so1d the !arm to Geo. Gi!fol':i in 1891. 
Robe;t Gifford bought the South 50 in 1908, and John bought it Jn 1950. 

George Gifford sold the North 50 to Donald Gi!!ord Sr. in 1934. 
In 1950 Donald J r. acquired the land. 

Tn 1962 the people Jiving on the 200 acres are: Jack Gifford, 
Donald G'tford., George Armstrong, Ellis J ones, and Fred Piche. The 
Orange Hal! and the s~hool (S.S. No. 8, Tilbury East> are also located 
on thls property. 

Robert Gifford's first car was in 1916. The last horses were 
In 1946. On the South 50 there were 6 wells, some gas and some were 
oil. There is still one good gas well . There were several oil wells 
on the Nol"th 50 and at pre;;ent there are 3 gas wells. The barn went 
down in a wind storm in 1947. 

SE~ l'iO ACRES 
George Gitford acquired the land from the Canada Land Corp. 

(by conveyance), on November 25, 1891. Mr. Gilford then sold the land 
to Wm. Keullve on October 28, 1891, for $100. 

SOUTH 25 ACRES 
Enoch Sales bought the south 25 acres on November 19, 1892, tor 

$400.00. James Larose then bought the land on November 19, 1892, for 
$300.00. Mr. Lerose then sold the land to Catherine Brait on April 20, 
1894, for $550.00. David T. Bralt then bought the land from Catherine 
Brait on February 20, 1897, for $800.00. On March 23, 1898, John Chester 
purchased the land for $800.00. Mr. J. Chester then sold the land to 
Thomas W. Chester on March 23, 1898. Wm. and Nelson Doyle bought 
the land on May 23, 1907, for $1600.00. On July 31, 1911, they sold the 
land to GeorgP G!tford, ror $1600.00 and sold to Frank Gifford for $800.00. 
DonaJld Glt.rord Lhen bo~t the land In 1943. 

The house on this 25 acres was sold to George Armstrong in 
1959. The only ones known to five here before Geo. Gifford boug'ht it 
were Jim Wilson and wite, one son Harry, who was an oil driller, and 
moved to Texas. They have all passed away. There was a small house 
on the north corner whiCh Thomas Chester built. Fred Rallet and Fred 
Carnahan were among the people to live In it. Others that lived in the 
Geoi'ge Armstrong house were Frank Gifford, Charlie Marshall (1926); 
M. Fields, Albert carr (1936); Morley Carr (1938); Mrs. Charlie Gardiner 
(1944), and Harold Stoliker. 

N.E. PART, N~ (25 Acres) (Ellis Jones 12Y.l Acres, John Gltford 12% 
Acres) 

Wm. Keulive sold the place •to Enoch SaJes (25 acres), in 1894, 
for $100.00. Janet A. Estabrook bought the farm from IMr. Sales in 
1894, !or $500.00. J. A. Estabrook sold the west 121h acres to Hannah 
J. Hillman, on February 11, In 1896, for $250.00. 

H. J. Hillman then sold the 121h acres to Wm. T. Smith, on Feb· 
ruary 19, 1901, !or $500.00. Mr. Smith then sold It to George Hillman on 
March 1, 1901. J. N. Halliday then paid $500.00 tor the property on April 
2, 1901. Wm. T. Smith bought the land on November 8, 1910, for $'186.46. 
Mr. Smith's widow then sold the land to Joshua Smith on De<:ember 2, 
1911, for $700.00. Mr. Smit'h sold the land to Robert GitfiOrd on March 1, 
1920, for $1100.00. 
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Some of the famlles who lived In the house on this 12~ acres 
were: GeorJle Hillman, Billy Smith. Fred Rivers, Hughie McClaren, and 
Joshua Srrilth. This house was built out of logs and It burned down while 
Joshua Smith owned lt. 

E. 12% ACRES (owned by Billa .Jones) 
Wm. and Janet Estabrook sold the 12¥.! acres to Ellla and 

Marscaret Jones. W. C. Estabrook had a home built and moved here 
from Merf.ln 1n July of 1893. A few years ago Ellis and Margare t Jones 
built a new home then sold the older house to Dr. J . A. MX:Lean who had It 
moved to SulUvan St. In Merlin. It was then sold to Barnes Marsh. 

The barns burned on this 12~ acres on April 24, 1925. 

N.W. Iii ACBES OF LOT 11, CON. 14 (Fred Piche) 
Wm. McNarland received the 100 acres by conveyance on April 

17, 1893, for $300.00. In 1897 (April 21), Mr. McNarland Sdld onf' acre for 
the school for $45.00. Wm. McNarland· then sold the other 49 acres oto Ed 
H. Foxton on October 13, 1899, for $800.00. Later Ed H. Foxton sold the 
land back to Wm. McNar!and. Martha M. Blake then bought the land on 
March U, 1903, for $2150.00. It was then sold to ·Fred and Jeanne Piche 
in 1954. 

There was a log house on this fann In which Wm. MoNarland 
lived. There was also a gas well which is now disposed of. 

Fred Fliche, who lives there now, married Jeanne Strange of 
Merl-in, who Is a school teacher. They have one son Stephen, and two 
daughters, Laurl and Lenore. 

N. ~of LOT 8, CON. 14 (Bev Gray and Morley Annstrona') 
Andrew Heron got the 100 acres fr-om the Crown on October 14, 

~ Mr. Heron then sold It to Andrew Gilman on July 12, 1858, for 
£891 4 0. The Bank of Canada received the land on released judgement 
1n July 1858. The Bank of Canada then conveyed It to Alexander McNabb 
on Novetmer 8, 1864.. On May 2, 1867, Sarah Boomer paid $5000.00 Andrew 
Heron then got It and IIOld It to Thomas Sadder on July 1, 1881 for 
$1200.00. Enoch sales bought It on November 10, 1882, tor $1700.00. 

W. ~ (150 ~ now Bev. Gray) 
.Enoch Sales sold the land to John Chester on November 20, 18831 

for $1020.00. John Chester sold a part of the land to the Glenwooa 
Methodist Church ln 1895. John Chester's widow received the land In 
1905. She sold the land to John Ridley Chester on Noveni>er 25,1918. Wm. 
Estabrook then bought the farm on November 7, 1936. Wm. Estabrook 
then sold the land to Ems Jones on August 3, 1943. In 1947, Mr. Jones 
sold the land to Beverly Grey who lives there now. John Chester built a 
log house on this property (first pennanent house). 

There was one gas well but it Is now disposed of. Beverly Gray 
who lives there now was born on Apl"il18, 1922, is the son of Percy Gray 
of Glenwood. He married Bernadette Rltde ol Haruax on Ju)y 9, 1946. She 
was born on December 9, 1925. They have tour chHdren; Diane was born 
on December 20, 1947, Mary Ann. who was born on October 19, 1951, 
Michelle born on March 2, 1958, and Barry born on January 29. 1960. 

Beverly was, In the Navy from October 20, 1M2, to January 7, 
1946. Beverly was councH.lor from 1..954-1959, and 111 now the Deputy Reeve, 
(196().61-62). 

E. ~ (lit IICI'el, OWDed by Mr. Morley Amwtron&') 
Enoch Sales sOld the 50 acres to J . N. Halliday on March 19, 

1995, for $450.00. J. N. Halliday sold the West 2!5 acres to Wm. C. RobiMOn 
oh March 19, 1895, for $500.00. On June 14, 1900, George Hardie bought 
the land for $825.00. Mr. Hardte then sold the property to Wm. Innes on 
March 15, 1911, for $1000.00. 
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EAST 25 ACRES 

This land was sold by J. N. Halliday to Wm. Innes tor $850.00. 
Wm. Innes sold an oil !ease to H. F . Stark on May 4, 1~, tor $850.00. 
Georae Stitt li'Yed here. He was the head sawyer at the mill. Wm. Innes 
sold tlhe 50 acres to his son Alex Innes. Mr. Alex Innes sold the land to 
Morley Annstrong In 1947. 

IMr. and Mrs. Wm. Innes Sr. came from Scotland about 1880. 'Mr. 
Inn~ d:ed in 1919 and Mrs. Innes Hved untll November 22, 1924. They 
nad four children, Wllliam, Dave, Lizzie and Alex. 

Alex married Evelyn Ar!llSitrong. Mr. Innes died In 1950 and his 
wife died In 1956. Jim Schlves rented the house a few years. He now 
lives In the Vllia&'e of Glenwood. 

Murray Armstrong and his wlte, the former Rose Mane 
Buschemeyer, now live on the farm. They have one child, a gtrl. 

1888. 

N. ~ OF LOr 8 CON. 14 (180 acree, owned by Hobert Ford) 

Thomas Montgomery got this land from the Crown on August 1, 

Tboma.s Montgomery sold the NE 50 to George Wilson on 
February 19, 1870, for $200.00. Samuel Driver bought it on September 19, 
1870, for $300.00. Mr. Driver then sold it to Jacob P. Bostwick on October 
1, 1886, for $200.00. Jacob Bostwick gave N.H. Bowley the oil lease on 
December 5, 1~, tor $75.00. In 1909 he gave the lease to the Rldgetown 
Fuel Supply Co. (September 16) for $918.50. Jacob Bostwick then willed 
the farm to Benjamin L. Melvin BostWick, on March 24, 1911. George 
Hardie bought the land on August 20, 1912, $3700.00. Hiram Lloyd bought 
the land on March 14, 1919, tor $5000.00. 

Thomas Montgomery sold the NWY.i to James Bright on June 30, 
1877, for $1000.00. Thomas Montgomery bought It back on September 8, 
1882, for the token value of $1.00. 

Mr . .Montaomery then sold It In two 25 acres lots. The SWY.i 
was bough1 by George C. Marshall, on July 3, 1886, tor $425.00. J . N. 
Halliday then bought it on September 14, 1897, for the token value of 
$1.00. Abraham Dawson bought this land on April 5, 1897, for $500.00. 

The NEY.i was bought by Thomas Jones from Thomas 
.Montaomery. On January 12, 1884, Stephen Randal bought the !arm for 
ti!!OO.OO. Stephen Randal lett the land to Solomen Randal on September 
21, 1891. Wm. S. Randal then acquired the land on July 26, 1893. J. N. 
Halliday then bought the land but the date Is uncertain. Thomas Shields 
then paid $500.00 for the land on January 31., 1898. Mr. Shlelds then Sdld 
It to Abraham Dawson on February 17, 1899, for $850.00. Now Mr. 
Abraham Dawson owned the 50 acres. Mr. Dawson sold the 50 acres to 
Dr. John C. Bell on March 10, 1903, tor $2300.00. 

Dr. J . C. Bell then sold the land to Hiram Lloyd on March 13, 
1
1
9m, for $3400.00. On February ZT, 1907. Thomas Shaw was given the oU 
eue by H. Lloyd for $500.00. N.H. Boulby got the oil lease on November 

27, 1Q, for $300.00. 

In 1919 Hiram lloyd bought the east 50 whiCh gave hlm a 100 
acre J'ann. Hiram Lloyd sold the 100 acres to Wm. Reardon on March 
30de. 1920, for $14000.00. Wm. Reardon sold it to Odette on July 18, 1922. Mr. 
~ sold It back to Hiram Lloyd on December 13, 1922. Robert Isaac 
.._thevwn then bougoht the land on March 14, 1.927. Harry Brown acquired 

J 
land on November 7, 1928. Mr. Brown then sold It to Robert Ford on 

une 1, 1959. 
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It was on this farm during World War 1. a camp 9ite was erected 
for school boys who worked In the sugar beet fields . About one hundred 
boys were employed in this project. There ha ve been a few families 
who have rented the house on this farm - Jim McNully, Harry Rely, Bill 
Edwards, Tommy Simons, Fields, Ramsdon, Charlie Sams, J im Schlves, 
Wm. Stick les, Russell Lancaster, Charles Bickford. Tommy Shields, NE 
25, moved a house from the Chester farm (now Bev Gray's) to this 
farm. L'1ter Is was sold to Hiram Lloyd this being part of the house now 
in use by Garnet Lloyd. Atlter Hiram Lloyd purchased the 50 acres, he in 
tum sold the house to Jacob P. Bostwick. This house Is still in use, the 
only one on the 100 acres. The log house that had been used prior to this, 
was moved back and used for a sheep shelter. Finally It was torn down 
by Harry Brawn. 

Abraham Dawson was a butcher as well as a farmer. He 
managed a butcher route four days a week. He had his awn slaughter 
house and a large ice house. The Ice was brought from the lake by sleigh 
and stored. The cooler for keeping the meat ls stUl on this farm. It is 
constructed of -cement deep in the ground. The ice was used to keep the 
meat cool. Thls was the first cement ever to be m ixed In Glenwood. Mr. 
D1wson bought many cattle from J ohnny Irwin. At that tlime It was free 
range. Each week Mr. Dawson and Mr. lrW'in would herd up some oattole, 
drive them up to the railroad passing through the tarm of Hiram Lloyd, 
separate out the ones Dawson wanted, mostly tour or five head a week. 
Regarding the price paid, each would pick up a chip of wood. write down 
the full pruce of the animal and from there the sale was either made or 
rejected. Also, bH!des the cattle the business used 100 pigs a week. 

It was on this farm in the year 190'7 that Jlm Wilson brought 
the first tiling machine into these parts. It was a steam outfit and the 
we9t 50 acres was triled. 

N. ~LOT 1 OON. U (Charlet~ Mltflln) 

Jose=Thorncroft got 100 acres from the Crown on November 2, 
1862. Jose Thomcroft to James Badder, June 26, l1865, $300.00. J . 
Badder to Blair, October 17, 1867, $600.00; Alexander Bl'air to 
Wm. C. Mifflin, October 10. 1871, $700.00; Wm. C. Mifflin to Lake Erie 
and Detroit Railway, 38/100, September 8, 1892, $39.20; Wm. C. Mifflin 
to Wm. J . Mlftlln, 1904; Leslie Mifflin to Charles MIUlln, 1946. When 
the Mltflins came to this !ann there were only tour acres of cleared land. 
A log house was built and Is still in good condition and In use. In 1907, 
Leslie Mlfm.tn moved in a portion of a house and built onto this which 
made the second bouse. In 1944, Leslie moved into the log house and 
Charles and his wife took up residence in the frame house. Wm. C. 
Mifflin wore a Iona white beard of which he took great pr ide, and one 
that anyone would have been proud to wear. The :third generation now 
Uves on this farm. 

Wm. Charles Miffiln, born November 8, 1846, died July 12, 1926. 
Hls wife Martha Scratch, born 1847, dled January 29, 193'7. To them were 
born two sons, Roy and Leslie, and one daughter Uaura. Roy married 
Violet Chester and he died, July 28, 1931. Violet now lives In Windsor . 
Laura married Charles Gray and she died, November 18, 1933. Charles 
died November 25, 1940, and their son Ernest died, October :n, 1951. 
Leslie Mltnln manied Flosaie Watson, September 25, 1907, and to them 
were born: Edna, Mrs. Andrew Bumfied, died 1953, two girls; He1en, 
Mrs. Glen Atkinson, Merlin, one boy and one arlr1; Georgia, Mrs. Ross 
McKenzie, Dover Township, two girle; Verna, iMrs. Wm. Richardson. 
Hamilton, two girls and one boy; Charles on the home fann. Leslie 
Mlfflln dled In 1961. 

Charles married Tena Cates, da\l&'hter ot Lillian and Austin 
Cates of Trinity, on AuKUst 23, 1944. They nave two bo)'6 and two girls, 
Clar k, Fraser, JLlllan and Janelle. 



N. ~ LOT 8, CON. 14 <Georce Plche) 

Wm. Mifflin bought this farm from J . N. Halllday about 1891. 
Hl.l.on Roy lived there untll 1916. Other families who lived on this farm 
were: Enoch M.f.flln who w~rked tor Roy; Brock Mifflin who also 
worked for Roy in 1901; Wm. Innes, 1917-19; Charles Simons, Wellington 
Mlfflln, 1922-24; Hugh Dawson, 192Sa9. George Piche bought the farm 
in 1930. George Piche family: His wife Rose died ~. Bill, one boy and 
~>ne 1lrl in Windsor; Annie, Mrs. J ohn Kuchrowy, two boys and one girl, 
Sarnla: Helen, Mrs. Hector Shauvin, one boy and four girls. Emersvllle; 
Mary, Mrs. Jesse McCord, one boy and one girl, Chatham; Fred, one boy 
and two girls, Glenwood. George marr.led his second wife, Katherien, In 
~ 

8. ~ OF N. ~ GO ACRES (Chuies Mifflin owner) 

Crown - Canada Co. patent, October 216, 1846. Canada Co. to 
Robe~t Brown. November 3, 1882, .£L50 0. 0. Robert Brown's widow to 
John Brown, June 2, 1889, $1300.00; John Brown to RObert C. A. Mlf.flin, 
March 29, 1912, $4500.00. Robert C. A. Mifflin to Roy Atkinson, 1934; Roy 
Atldin3on to Charles Mifflln, 1951. Johnny Brown built the house and 
bam about 1900. Charles MlHlln's father, Leslie, could well remember 
an Indian camp site located on a knoll on this farm. Indian relics can 
still be found where this campsite was located. Some of the familles who 
have rented this house were: VanDenogan, 1962; Howard Adam, 1953; 
Herb Dlbley, 19M; Bill Haskell, 1956; Rev. Tristram, 1959, and Is still 
theft. 

LOT 6, CON. U, 180 ACRES (Lloyd .-own) 

Crown to George Sales, 100 acres patent August 30, 1880. Wm. 
Cotelol purchased the SY.z 50 acres, September 29, 1880, for $800.00; George 
Sales sold the N% 50 acres to John Anderson, January 19, 1881, for 
$1000.00 who sold ft to Wm. Parnell, October 13, 1883, for $1300.00. Wm. 
Co1ell secured the 100 acres by mortgage sale. Wm. Hope bought the 100 
acres, May 28, 1890, tor $2700.00. Wm. Hope to Lake Erie and Detroit 
Railway, 70/100 acres, September 8, 1892 for $63.00. Wm. Hope to John 
Hope, S% 50 &(:res, 1898, $1.00; Wm. Hope Estate, to John Hope, N% 50 
acrea, 1903, $1800.00; John Hope to Robert Isaac Brown, May 19, 1919, 
$14.200.00; Robert Brown to Lloyd Brown. Part of the house from the N. 
!50 waa moved across the road and is now used as a granary by Morl'ey 
Carr. The other part was moved t~ the south 50 and is now used to store 
lmplementa. Isaac Brown, 90n of Robert Brown, born 1876, died 1955, 79 
yean. His wUe, the former Eliza Shaw, daughter of George and Ann 
Shaw. Their family: Beatrice, married Roy Seal, January 23, 1923, 
Glenwood, one girl; George and Eldean Hardie, 1928, Farmington, Mich.; 
Harry married May Cousins, two boys and one girl. London; Ray married 
Edith Seal 1923, one boy and tour girls, Highland Park. Mich.; Clltton 
married Olive Mltflln, Glenwood; Ben married Eva Potts, 1930, one boy 
and one girl. Bowmanvllle; Charles married Iva Marshall, 1947, one boy, 
Merlin; Archie married R.uth Gifford, 1935, three boys and one gijrl, 
Glenwood; Lloyd at horne. 

LOT 8, CON. U (CUlton lkown tann) 

Crown to Henry Sales, August 30, 1.880, Thomas Johnson, Wayne 
JSalOhnson's grandfather, acting for the crown. Henry Sales sold to John T. 

es, May 18, 1901, fur $1000.00. John Sales sold to George Sales, March 
21, 1906, for $S200.00. George Sales to Hert>ert Sales, May 10, 190E>. Alex 
Olborne rented In 1910. Herbert Sales to Nelson Irwin, April 15, 1911; 
Nelson Irwin to Charles Case, March 1, 1916; Charles Case to Jerlmlah 
Rlordon, September 21., 1918; Riordan to Nel and Berth Hill, February 24, 

W
l921. The last three never lwed on the tann but rented it to T~m Fletcher, 

m. Huson, Geor1e Scott. Henry Shemlnk. Clifton Brown bougtlt the 
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farm in 1928. His wife Ia the former Olive M:IMl.in and they had no 
children. They have a TB tested credited herd of Angus cattle. They 
bought the first heifer ln 19&1 and sold 21 registered cows and three 
registered bulls. Now they have a herd of twelve registered cows, one 
registered bull and fourteen calves. 

LOT '7, OON. l.S, M ACRES (Harold Gudlner) 

Crown to Robert D. Ledyard, June 19, 1866, 200 acres; R. Ledyard 
to Robert G. Barrett, August 12, 1867; R . Barrett to Edward Nanton, 
January 12, 1870; E. Nanton to Cameron and Homestead, July 6, 1870; 
Cameron and Homestead to E. Nanton, July 6, 1870; Edward Nanton to 
Alexander Cameron, March 19, 1873; A. Cameron to John H. Moffat, 
April 15, 1873; to James Sadder, 1880; to Henry Bostwick to Jesson E. 
Upcott; to Wm. Harris; to Harold Gardiner, 1919. 

The dwelling on this farm ls a log house still In very good 
condition. On thla farm was a railroad aiding. It's service was to provide 
transportation for Smith's saw mill at Stewart. It was taken out In 1900. 
Harold Gftrdlner ls a son o! the late Jim Gardiner, Middle Road, his wife, 
Annie Powell, daughter of John Powell, Middle Road. Thelr family are: 
Glenn. wlfe Edith Meek, three glrls and one boy, Port Credit; Glen won 
high honours in World War n. He now ls a professional singer. Max, 
wife Kay Stevens, Samia; Eunice, National Adverttsing, Ottawa; Murray, 
single, at home; C1alre, wife Donalda Logan, one 'boY and one girl, 
Windsor; Ross, slngtle, Chatham. 

LOT '7, CON. l.S, 76 ACBIS (Morley <M'r) 

Crown to Thomas D. Ledyard, June 19, 1866; to Robert G. 
Barrett, August 12, 1867; to Edward Nanton, January 12, 1870; Cameron 
and Homestead, July 6, 1870; to Edward Nanton, July 6, 1870; to 
Alexander Cameron, March 19, 1873; to John H . MoMatt, Aprll15, 18'73. 
The N. 25 acres; John H. Moffatt to John J . Jackson, 1879 for $425.00; 
Johnlthan Sadder to J . Jackson, 1883; to James Hodgkin, 1886, $1000.00; 
to Jenkinson, 1890; to John Sales to Herb Sales; John Irwin to Wm. 
Harrl.s, 1910, $1100.00. Jenkinson worked at the saw mlll The 50 acres : 
John H. Moffatt to Wm. Johnson, June 22, 187'5, for $1600.00, who sold to 
Duncan McArthur, November 26, 1887, for $2300.00. He sold to Tom 
Brown in 1.888 for $1600.00, who sold to John Lawton ln 1903 for $2200.00. 
He sold to Jason Upcott In 1904 for $2200.00, who sold to Wm. Harris 1n 
1910 for $3200.00. Now both 25 and 50 belonged to Wm. Harris. Wm. 
Harris sold to Edward carr in 1912 tor $5200.00. Mrs. Carr died In 1922 
and Edward Carr died in 1945. Their tamUy: Flossie, Mrs. Oral Beatty, 
died 1953, two boys and one gtlrl; John, wt!e Dolly Bel')ie, two boys, four 
girls; Mabel, Mrs. Nell McLeod, one ztrl, five boys, Merlin; Archie, w1!e 
Mary Loop, two girls, Glenwood; Wllllam killed in gravel plt, 1927; 
George, wife Beatrice Tremblay, five boys and two glrls, Glenwood; 
Morley, wt!e Hazel GlHord, one boy, one i'irl, Glenwood; Albert, w1fe 
Nellie Franklln, one bor and one airl, Raletgli. Albert died 1959. Christina, 
Mrs. C. Savin, one girl, Chatham; Eileen, Mrs. Russell Kemp, one girl, 
Stevenson. George C&rr had his hand taken off in a corn shredder In 1950. 

LOT 7, OON. 1S (Morley Anutroa&') 
Crown to Thomas D. Ledyard, June 19, 1866; to Robert G. 

Barrett, August 12, 1887; to Edward Nanton, January 12, 1870; to 
cameron and Homestead, July 6, 1870; to Edward Nanton, July 6, 1870; to 
Alexander cameron, March 19, 187G; to John H. Moffatt, April 15, 1873. 
John Henry Moffatt came from Ireland when six years old and Uved at 
BrockvUle for a time. He came to this farm in 187(3. There was one 
daughter, Mrs. SUlllvan of Ra.leign Townahllp. A son James lived In this 
district until a !ev~ years ago when he w~nt to the County Home ln 
01\atham. John Henry died 1914 and his wife ln 1925. The farm was never 
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worked alter John Henry's death until It was sold to Morley Armstrong 
In 1938. On this farm was a log building now torn down. Morley 
Armstrona married Ola Cranston. Their famlly : Kenneth, wife Noreen 
ID>dgln, Ti:bury East; Donna, Mrs. Leslie Brown, one boy, one girl, 
Brlcht'a Grove; Murray, wi1e Rose Marie Busehemeyer, one girl, 
G.enwood; Pearl, Mrs. Walter Vince, Fletcher. 

LOT 7, OON. 12, GARDINER GORE 
'lbese are some of the families who lived on this farm: Millard 

Hyatt, owner. Renters are as follows: Toomer, Bucks, Joe Blatz, Dave 
Robinson. John MoMatt bought from Hyatt in 1908, sold the log house to 
Joe Haskell who mOIVed it to a farm near the Maple Leaf School. Tile 50 
a~res - Wm. Moffatt 1873 to John Henry Moffatt, 1874. M. Cotter 
rented In 1886. Nell Mittlln and Ly'le Kettle also rented. Wm. Cofell 
boUiftt the farm in 1890. It Is said Wm. Cotell burned the house down 
got the Insurance money and le!t the country. John Henry then had the 
farm back and sold it to Nelson Tasker, who sold It to Harold Gardiner 
in 1950 or 52. There are no buildings on this farm now. 

8. B. ~ LOT 8, OON. 13 (Percy Lloyd) 

Orown to Alexander Cameron, 100 acres, August 12, 1892. 
Cameron sold 3 3/100 acres to Lake Erie and Detroit Railway, August 
8, 18912, for $120.00. A. cameron sold to Charles T. Smith, July 8, 1894, 
tor $7000.00. Smith took the timber ott then sold S.E. 50 acres, Jess 
railway, to Hiram Lloyd, January 15, 1898, for $1000.00; NW~ 50 acres ­
Crown to Charles L. and James W. Srnlth, 1885. Samuel Sales bought, 
Noverrt>er 14, 1891, for $2000.00. NE 50~ Samuel Sales sold to John T. 
Hope, March 18, 1903, for $1400.00, who sold to Hiram Lloyd, March 20, 
1920, for $4000.00. Hiram Lloyd to Garnet Lloyd to Percy Lloyd, E 100, 
except railway, November 24, 1930. When Hiram Lloyd bought this part 
of the farm, it was all bush except a small lot ln the S.E. comer where 
there was a stave covered house bullt by Tom Dawson. Ben Haskell 
lived in this house about 1895. Mr. Lloyd traded a house and lot he had 
ln Stewart for this house which was later moved to the W 50 and used 
as a cattle barn. In the year 1937, P ercy Lloyd moved ln the bulldlng 
which now stands on the same spot. It had been a bare field. He planted 
several trees which now makes a shady grove. Because of thls the farm 
Is named Shady Grove Farm. Part of the house and part of the barn was 
boutht from ~e cathollc Church at Stevenson, which was being built 
at tliat time, and moved to this location. Percy Lloyd, born 1900, married 
Annie Plank born 1903. Their tamily : Dorothy, Mrs. Wm. Marls, born 
1926, one girl, three boys, Glenwood; Marjorie, Mrs. Robert Pratt, 
Raleqrh Township, a girl and boy, Shirley Ann and Eddie ; Ronald, 
married Gale Ellwood o! Tilbury, 1963, Glenwood. 

s. w. (o.met Lloyd) 

Crown to A1exander cameron, 100 acres, August 12, 1892. 3 3/100 
acres were sold to Lake Erie and Detroit RaHway, August 8, 1892, for 
$120.00. A. Cameron sdld to Charles T . Smith, July 8, 1894, for $7000.00. 
Smiths took the timber off then sold SW 50 acres except railway, to 
Hiram Lloyd, March 30, 1896, for $900.00. 

NW SO acres - Crown to Charles L. Smith and James W. Smith, 
February 5, 1885, to Samuel Sales, November 14, 1891 for $2000.00. The 
~~SO acres, George Chalmers, October 17, 1893, tor $700.00, to Hiram 

On
..-..yd, October Z7, 1896, tor $1000.00, to Garnet Lloyd, November :M, 1930. 

this NW SO was an oil lease, 1907, $500.00, also 1~. $300.00. When 
•Hiram Lloyd bough't thls land he had to cut trees down to make a lot 
onto whlch he could/ut a house. He moved the first part o! the house 
~ acroea the roa (then the Shield's farm) . In 1914..1.5 he built the 
--•~ barn In thia section, 45' wide, 96' long and 65' high, with a hlp 
root. rt had 12 horse stalls, two box stalls. three pens !or small cattle h~d 
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15 held, one bull pen, and room to tie 23 head ol cowa. All stalls were ot 
steel made by Beatty Bros., London. At that time, the grain wu cut by 
a binder, stooked In the field, then hauled into the bam and threshed In 
the winter time. This barn was tilled to the top a few times. Then they 
s tarted to stook and thresh from the field and then later came the 
combine. This barn was damaged beyond repair by a wind storm in 194'1 
and was taken down. In this b&rn a man by the name ol Mike Ondrejovlc 
hanged hlrnsel1, February 18. 1942. Gernet Lloyd and his wife, Marlon 
Misner, now Uve on the farm. 'The second house on this fann belongs to 
Wm. Maris and was moYed there In the year 195CZ. Wm. Maris familY: 
!Mlarllyn born October 2, 1952; David born October 16, 1954; Daniel born 
July 20, 1957; Dale bom December 28, 1958. 

LOT 9, OON. l.S, 200 ACBIIlS ('ftala iake8 In South of Rallway, Gi~M~Ja 
Lloyd to pa put, Uld Nortb of rallwa)', 8o)' RMkell 'IIDd BoJ s.l) 

Crown to Thomas C. Street, 200 acres patent November 3, 1.8612. 
Thomas B. Fuller, 1883 to Mary Gertrude Rose, September 6, 1883. She 
sold to Phllip c. Shafer, September 6, 1883 for $2600.00, who sold to Wm. 
T. Smith, OctOOer 3>, 1883. for $3000.00. Joel Smith to George C. Marshall, 
November 12, 1890, $2968.27. Detroit Lake Erie Railroad• bought 5 28/ 100 
acres, August 9, 1892, for $26.40. The tlrs't land to be sold otf this 200 
acres was north of the rallway, 35 acres. George C. Marshall to Robert 
Cook, AprH 8. 189'J, $300.00, to Mary F . Cook, spinster, June 10, 1895. 
Mary F. Sales to IWbert Cook, February 10, 1896; R. Cook's widow to J. 
N . Halliday April 8, 1M for $400.00. The balance of the 200 acres wu 
aold by George C. Marshall to J. N. Halliday, September 14, 1897. Now 
J. N. Halliday had all of lot except railway. The 85 acres by the railway, 
north side, J. N. HUlidey to Thomas Jones, March 1, 1915, tor $6375.00, 
to Ellis Jones, 1917; to Wrn. Reardon, 19'..k); Assment Odette, Albert 
Regnier, 1923, Hal'vey Reenter 1931. to Roy Haskell, 1960, present owner. 
These are a few of the famlWes who lived here: Isaac Cofell, Ed 
Armstrong, ElUa Jones, HarYey Regnier. Roy Haskell bulk a new house 
here ln 1962. His famlJy: Jeanne Patricia Duquette, his wile, and a boy and 
two girls, Ronakl, Lorraine and Margaret Ann. 

N.W. ~ (BoJ' s-1) 
J. N. HaUiday sold to Andrew Gilbert May 7, 1901, 50 acres for 

$1650.00, who sold to Thomas M. Johnson, March 15, 1906, tor $1950.00. 
He sold to Edward Stevenson, April 26, 1919, tor $6500.00, who sold to 
Wm. Reardon, March 1, 19a0, for S6750.00. Asalgnment Odette to Roy 
Seal, March 31, 1923, for $5000.00. 

8.E. ~ LOT 8, CON. lS (GIIadJB Lloyd) 
This farm was ortgine.lly two 25 acre farms. The east 25, J. N. 

Halliday sold to WWiam Vipond, December 11, 1001, tor $800.00. Elizabeth 
Vipond sold to Ralph Dawson, February 16. 1915, tor $2325.00, Who sold 
to Hiram Lloyd, Deceral)er 7, 1.918. fQr $2800.00. West 25 - J . N. HallidaY 
sold to Joshua Smith, AprU 5, 1900, for $600.00. Three acres south of 
railway was sold to Hiram Lloyd, March 1, 1920, for $850.00. North of 
railway was sold to Wm. Reardon, May 1, 1920, tor $1470.00. Reardon 
auell80lellt Odette to Hiram Lloyd, December 1, 1922, for $1470.00. 
Hiram Lloyd, 50 less railway, to Wm. Lloyd, November 24-, 1930. Wllllam 
Vipond died 1914 or 15. His wife Elizabeth moved to Wheatley and passed 
away just a few yean ago. They had a Bernard Home Boy from 
England, George Smith, who now Hves ln Florida. wtlen Ralph Dawson 
owned the farnl, hla brother, John, lived there. There was also a famlly 
who rented the boWie about un9, HU-am Proctor and his mother. mram 
was ln a car mishap and was killed. The house on the east 25 was sold ln 
two parts. One part was moved to Concession 8, Raleigh, near North 
Buxton, and the other moved to the Vdllage and Is the one the Schlvesll 
fam.Ry now live ln. The house on the west 25 burned down when Wi 
and Gladys Lloyd Hved there In 1934. They then moved a house ln from 
Windsor. Ivan Lloyd and Andrew Burntleld and families lived here a 
few years. Russell Lancaster bulk a new home on the E. 25 acres ln the 
year 1960. 



LOT 10, CON. 11 (Lyle Hope and Glfford8) 

CroWn to Wrn. Proudfoot, November 12, 1861, 200 acres. Wm. 
Proudfoot - Bank of Upper Canada mortgage, February 14, 1862, 
$i000.00. Bank of Canada to Wm. Proudfoot estate final order, September 
7, 1864; Queen Victoria to John J. Thompson, August 8, 1872, $750.00; to 
James Davidson, January 1, 18'14, $1600.00; Note : There have been a few 
of theee lots mortgaged by the Bank or Canada and the owners lost the 
land to the Bank of Canada, but th is particular one went back to Queen 
Victoria. Other than the houses in the Village there are no farm houses 
now in 1963, but will give an account of where some were. The south 
100 acres---James Davidson to Carey E6tabrook, January 24, 1887, fDr 
$1700.00; Wm. Estabrook to George Marshall, timber sale, February 13, 
1899; James Davidson to Wm. C. E6tabrook, February 2, 1891, to J . N. 
Halliday, February 24, 1891, tor $1300.00. He sold 3/ 100 acres to Lake 
Erie Detroit Railway, August 30, 1892. West 50 of the North 100--James 
Davldlon to George Marshall, December 18, 1&, $700.00; George 
ManlhaH to J . N. HaUlday, September 14, 1897. Now J . N . Halliday had 
1!50 acres except railway. J . ~. Halliday to Janet A. Estabrook, except 
rallway, and lots in Glenwood, December 1, 1910, for $2300.00; Janet and 
Wm. C. Estabrook to Wm. Reardon, north of railway, 117~, February 
26, 1920, for $14,100.00. Wm. Reardon assessment, Odette, July 18, 1922. 
Odette to Wm. Estabrook, to Wm. Hope, 1923; to Lyle Hope 1949; and to 
Donald Gillord, 1962. 

The NE 50 acres - James Davidson to John Davidson, August 
22, 1882, $1..00. Enoch Newham bought this December 2, 1.890, for $1000.00, 
to Annie Newham, widow, May 19 1900. She sold to Louis Gifford, 
Febi'U&I}' 8, 1911, for $650.00 •. Who sold t~ John E. Gilford, September 24, 
1917, $3500.00; to Geooge Gifford, April 8, 1918, for $4000.00; to Wm. 
Reardon, May 10, 1920 for $6000.00. Wm. Reardon assessment: Odette to 
GeorJre Glftoro to Ailee Bryan to George Gifford to Donald Gilford to 
Donald Gltrord Jr. There was a house on the south end o! this 50 acres. A 
family by the name of Valentine lived there. Families \\110 llved in t'he 
main hoU11e directly across !rom Roy Seal: John Davidson, Enoch New· 
ham, Jean Gilford, Jlm Gud8e<>n, Mr. and Mrs. Ivan DePaul, Martha and 
Paul, Mr. and Mrs. Geo. Thibeault, Thos. Haskell and his wife Beatrice, 
Mr. and Mrs. Henry Rovtch and .family, Mr. ando Mrs. Geo. Toomer and 
tamlly, Mr. and !Mrs. Constance Putz who had two gdrls, Mrs. John Kouzer 
of Chatham, Josephine, Mrs. Abert Authier, R.R. 4, Merlin. 

LOT U OON. U, 1M ACRES (Erne8t Payne, Walter Tuker and s-Is 

Crown to Canada Co., 200 acres patent October 26, 1846. Canada 
Co. to Lake Erie and Detroit Railway, 3 acres, January 24, 1893, $150.00. 
E 50 of the South 100 - Canada Co. to Ed Foxton, April 5, 1905, $1000.00; 
to John White, June 24, 1910, $1600.00; Mary J . White, widow, to Thomas 
Tuker, April 1, 1914, $'700.00; to Edward Garrison, $2400.00. Wm. H. 
Reardon, assessment, 1921, $6'1.38.45, to Odette 1922. Isaac Hoge Jr. to 
Thomas Tasker, 1925 for $3000.00; to Wm. Lloyd, reserve house, 1947, 
$2800.00; to Ernest Payne, 1955, tor $11000.00. The house from this farm 
was moved to the east corner of W 50 and is now owned by Harry 
Allan. He married Anna Tasker and they have two boys. Some of the 
!!'~~-• Who lived in the house: Ed Foxton, Ed Shaw, Billy S'mith, Eddie 
ua&"".nJIIUD, Roy M11.ls, Joe Haskell. The W 50 Canada Co., to Thomas 
'l'Mker, 1.889 to Walter, 1935. There was a house north of the railway 
and Jack Colllna and his wl!e lived there a few years. Walter Tasker and 
h1a wife Queenie Simons were married at Louisville, 1923. Their family: 
Anna, Mrs. Harry Anan, and Ruth, Mrs. Ernie Wills, Dresden. The first 
~or 8-16 International in 1925, last horses were 1947, Dolly and Dan. 
Vlft' IU well was disposed of in 1960. 
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N. li I..OT U. OON. U 

Crown to Canada Co., 200 acres patent, Oct00er 26, 1846. N ~ 
100 acres, Canada Co. to Benjamln 0 . Schrader, February 13, 1904, 
$1(5).00; to Andrew Miller, Cha-rles Houghton. W ~rthur Wilson, 
March 22, 1905, $1200.00; to Straus Land, May 8, 1911, $2000.00. Ben 
Schneider, E!W.> to Charles Smith to Straus Land, April 28, 1911, $2250.00. 
Straus Land, 100 acres to Joseph Albrecht, Mareh 1, 1913; to Martin 
Seal, 1920, to Edith Brown. The east 50 buildings have been gone for a 
long time. The W 50 house was dismantled In 1961. 

LOT 1J, CON. lS, - ~CKIS (Ji'OI'd • Jllllmaa) 

This ls another 200 acres t'hat went back to Queen VIctoria. 
Crown to Wm. Proudfoot - 200 acres, November 12, 1861. Bank ol 
Upper Canada mort~a&e, Faoruary 14, 1..862, $4000.00. Wm. Proudfoot 
final order, September 7, 18&1. Queen Victoria to Charles G. Charterls, 
August 8, 1872, for $1D25.00, sold to Joseph Hamiel, December 16, 1872, 
tor $1400.00. This was now divided Into two 100 acre lots, north and 
south. S 1~oseph Hamiel to Peter Jubenvlne, February 28, 1885, for 
$95().00. He sold S 50 acres to John Jubenville, March 30, 1892, for $950.00. 
John Jubenville sold 3 111100 acres, August 9, 1892, to Lake Erie and 
Detroit Railway, for $225.75. He sold south of the railway to J . N. 
Halliday, March 15, 1902, for $2000.00. Isaac Bechard bo11ght this, 
September 21, 1915, and sdld to RdM!rt Ford, 1927. S . pt. north of railway, 
Pater Jubenvllle to Mary Jubenvllle, 50 acres, February 25, 1889. Sold 
to Wm. J . Moffatt, October, 16, 1893, for $900.00, to John A. McGregor, 
June 1, 1896. $1500.00. The north 100 acres - Joseph Hameil sold to 
John E. HameU, February 28, 1882, for $1050.00; Peter Jubenville to John 
A. McGregor, October 13, 1890, for $1750.00 Now McGregor had the 150 
acres north of the rallway. The 100 N . of railway - John A. McGregor 
to David Kett, June 30, 1.900, Sll(XX>.OO; sold to Wm. Reardon, March 9, 
19120, for $10,000.00. Reardon, Od&tte, George Ket't, July 24, 1922, for 
$8000.00; David Kett to Ja.eph Heyena, 1939. He sold to Allan Ford ln 
1961. Some of the families who rented here were: Clarence Broom, James 
Simons. ~ barn burned in 1927. Another was built and it went down 
in the wind storm of 1946. Joe Heynes last horses, 1950. There was one 
gu well pulled in 19MJ. 'nlere wu a rallroad aiding on this farm in the 
beginning of tbe rall'way and a logging camp with a few houses and 
stables !or the horses. There was a large boarding house, part of whlch 
Is the house now on this farm. Allan Ford, born 1939, son ol Gordon 
Ford, Coatsworth, and Joanne Broadbent, born 1939, daughter of Lloyd 
Broadbent, South Buxton. 'Ibere family: Crystal born 1960 and Scott 
born 1981. 

LOT lJ, OON. U, N. M ACBIES (Charles HOlman) 

Joseph Hamiel to John E. Hamiel-, February :11, 1882, $1050.00. 
Sold to Peter Jubenville to John A. McGregor, October 13, 1890, for 
$1750.00, for the 1SO acres north of railway. 

N. 50 acres, John A. McGregor to George M. Kett_, January 5, 
1894, $725.00; to Wm. Reardon, March 1, 1921, $10,000.00 Reardon 
aut&nment (Odette), July 2t, 1922; to George Kett to Charles Hillman, 
1946. Fam.lly o1 George ltett : He was born October, 187!1 and dled 1942; 
his wife Harriet, bol'n 1870, died, 19.'36; daughter Lottie, born February 
7, 1891, married John Stevenson, October 12, 1910. They had two 
daughters, Gladys and Kathleen, and one son Carlyle who Is deceased. 
John Stevenson died, November 3, 1.937. Orval, son ot George, born, 
August 1892, died, June 23, 19e8; Ariel born, August 1, 1902, died, May 
2, 1950. Family of Chat'les Hlllman, born, December 29, 1902, wife, 
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Gladys Stevenson, born, December 25, 1911. They were married, July 
12 1930, and to them were born: Valarle, Marilyn, JoAnn and Dale. 
w:1en George Ketts bought this farm In• 1894, It was all timber. They 
had to clear a spot to build a house. The house on this farm was badly 
dama.,.ed by fire In 19:>0. The barn and pump house w-ent down In a 
wind storm in 1~. There were two gas wells disposed of In 1951. Charles 
Hillman'!! last horses, 1935. First car, Model T 1912. First tractor, Case, 
1934. 

LOT 13, CON. 13 (Ford Bros.) 

NW 100 Crown to Wm. Bell, patent September 27, 1864. Nathan 
Bell to James Norris assessment of timber, October 1, 1867, $150.00. Wrn. 
BeD to Samuel Suitor, October 24, 1868, $200.00; to John Panlel!, February 
11, 1873, $600.00; to Mathey Orr, unmarried, February 20, 1873, $700.00. 
Charles Geo. Charteris bought this May 23, 1882 for $1050.00, and sold 
to Wm. T. Sntith, June 2, 1882, for $1250.00. Joel Smith to George C. 
Marshall, NovPmber 12, 1890, !or $2968tl7; to J . N. Halliday, 100 acres, 
September 14, 1897. 

S . E. 100 acres- Crown to Wm. and Sam Glass, patent, March 5, 
1886, to Ron. John Carling, to Joseph JeUery, November 4, 1867, $100.00; 
to George B. Harris, November 11, 1869, $200.00; to George Campbell, 
October 3, 1871, $200.00; to Merchants Banking Co., mortgage, March 
17, urn, ~.00. Warden of Treasure, James Banning, Treas. deed 
part 18 acres sold tor taxes, $38.86, February 18, 1878. Merchants Bank 
to Henry Srny'th, all except part sold tor taxes, February 8, 1881, 
$Zn>.OO. James Banning to Wrn. T. Smith, pt. 18 acres, March 11, 1882, 
Sl.OOO.OO. Joel Smith to Geo. Marshall, 100 acres, November 12, 1890, 
S2968.27. George Marshall to J. N. Halllday, September 14, 1897. Now 
Halliday had the 200 acres. Halliday Estate to Isaac Bechard, September 
21, 1915. Bechard assignment to Robert Ford, October 15, 19'29. The 
house on this farm is what was the boarding house !or the saw m1ll at 
Glenwood. The second house on this farm is presently occupied by 
Garnet Hope. A very large barn went down ln a tornado in 1930. The 
same storm took two box cars out of a train that was passing through 
at the time. One car landed In the field, cut a gas llne In two. Robt. Ford 
and sons were In the process of putting up another large barn, had the 
frame all up, and It went down In a wind storm the following year, 1931. 
'lbey put up another, this time using bolts In the frame work and It still 
stands. On this farm were three large tdbacco barns. One was demdllshed 
by wind, 1943, and the other two the same way, 1947. Isaac Bechard had 
the first combine In this district, a horse powered machine, 1914. Ford 
Bros. mrst car. 1920, Model T Ford; first tractor, 1920, Titon; 4 gas wells, 
3 still good. During one season in about 1935, It rained so heavy that the 
ditches could not carry the water away fast enough, resulting In flooded 
fields. In the field south of railway, on this farm, as the water went 
down, it left thousands of carp fish strandf>d. 

•Ford family: Robert Ford Sr., born, August 19, 1868, died, 
October, 1935, his wile Rose, January 28, 1871, died April 7, 1952; Orin, 
born January 20, 1892, died April 1951; Preston, April 10, 1894, Windsor, 
wl1e Cleo Dawson, two boys and two gdrls; Emery, December 26, 1895, 
.tnele at home; Percy, April 18, 1898, single at home; Arehle, 1900, died 
three months old; Ernest, February 21, 1902, single at home; Robert, 
1904, wife VIola Lloyd, 1911, one daughter; Gordon, 1906, married 
Margaret Patterson, Coatsworth: three boys and one girl; Nelson, June 
8, 1~ single at home; Harvey, 1912, died three months old; Darrel, 
1910, died 1947; Allee, Mrs. Les Wilson, 1\lppervllle, one boy and a girl. 
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LOT 8, OON. It, ttl ACBB8 (o.llp VanDeWynekel) 

Crown to James Metcalf, 100 acres, July 24, 1866. He sold to 
Alexander Cameron, June 29, 1870, for $386.00, who sold 93 acres to Wm. 
Parn~ll . December 33, 1882, for $1860.00. Cameron sold the SE 100 acres 
to Charles T. Smith, Ju·y 17, 11ll4, for $3500.00; Charles T. Smtth to 
Henry Sales, May 26, 1898, $1800.00, who sold. to John J . Irwin, May 26, 
1900, for $2002.00; lrwln to Thomas Shaw, oil lease, May 28, 1907, $500.00; 
John J. Irwin to Straus Land Corp., December 10, 1912, $5000.00. llwin 
Estate to George F . Irwin deed agreement, December 22, 1915; George 
Irwin to Charles Case, March 1, Ul16, $5198.26; Charles Case to Raphael 
J. Casey, March 1, 1916, $22,24.9.80; Straus Land to Homer Bertrand, 
May 17, 1916, $43.645.00; Straus Land Corp., Homer .Bertra.nd forclosure, 
February 22, 1928. Straus Land, Clarence and Harry Olsen, August 23, 
1932; C. and H. Olsen to Rene VanDeWynckel, May 13, 19t7, to Odlyn 
VartDeWynckel, December 7, 1951. 

S. E. ~ LOT I, OON. JJ, Ill ACRES (Odl)'n VMDeW)'RCkel) 

Crown to A:lfred B. Cameron patent, June 28, 1895. Cameron 
sold to Charles T. Smith, March 7, 1899, for $5650.00, who sold to 
&!bastion DlllloU, March 10, 1900, for $3800.00. He sold to Wm. H. Cofell, 
February 27, 1903, !or $5600.00; Wm. Cofell to Federa'l OH Co. Ltd., oll 
leue, March 22, 1907, ~.00; Wm. Cbfell to London Life MfR .• March 
22, 1909, $.'5000.00; Federal Oil Co. to EUt Tilbury Oanad.a Oil Fuel Ltd., 
aareement, Apr41 1, 1909, $7000.00; n.,ury East Canada Fuel Co., to 
Federal OU Co., mort>ga~. April 1, 1909, $4886.86; J ohn R. Gemilll, 
(Sherilf) to Wm. H. Cofell, quit claim, .March 2, l912; Wm. Cofell to 
Straus Land Corp., March 12, 1912, $13,000.00; to Homer Bertrand, May 
17, 1916, $t3,645.00; Homer Bertrand to Nlcho* and Shepherd Co., lien 
purchase agreement, July 3, 1926, $2900.00; Fann Land Corp., fonnerly 
Straus Land Corp., to Clarence J . Olson, Harvey G. Zimmerman and 
Maurlce J. Flyn, January 25, 1933, grant $100.00; Clarence J . Olson, 
Harvey G. Zimmerman and Maurice J . Flyn to Rene VanDeWynckel, 
June 2, 194'7; Rene to Odlyn VanDeWyncklel, December 8, 1951. Odlyn 
VanDeW)'J'IICIRl, son of Rene VanDeWynckel, married .Mary Bogaert, 
dauaflter o1 Allons Bogaert. Port Crewe. To dlem were born two sons, 
Ronald. on November 20, 1944, and James born, March 1, 1.94-7. Odlyn, 
along with his parents, moved to the Glenwood area from Chatham 
Township, settled on Lots 11 and ~. Con. 14., March 1, 1937. On June Zi. 
1947, they had a bad car accident when Mary VanDe!Wynckel suffered a 
broken leg and was hospitalized two months, and confined to bed at 
home for one month. On September 27, 1958, Ronaldl suUered a broken 
leg as the result ot a bicycle accident. Their tirst car, 1943; first tractor, 
19+1; laSt horses, April 1945. In March 1948, they moved onto this !arm. 
The boY8 take a great Interest In 4-H Club wock. Along with their lather 
they have some very good beet cattle. This farm is known as the Jay-Ron 
Fanns of Glenwood. Other families who Hved on thls farm were: Homer 
.Bertrand, a Ball family, a Moore family, Wm. Broom, a Scott family. 

LOT 11, OON. 12 (.John Seal) 

Crowh to Charles Walton, 100 acres patent, December 16, 1892, 
1325.00. He sold tb ~rge E. Gurd, October 7, 189'7, who sold E '50 to 
Henry Lott, December, 21, 1897, tor $600.00; Straua Land Corp., January 
1, 1912. $3000.00; W 50 George Gurd to James Wade, I>ecember 21, 1897, 
$9)0.00; to Straus Land Corp., August 28, 1911, $2.'500.00; Straus Land, 
100 acres to Joseph Albracht, March 1, 1913; Charles Oase (!or Straus 
Land) to Martin Seal, February 7, 1920. 

John Maynard Seal, born August 17, 1900, in Illinois, married 
Anna Grosman, born, September 2, 19tl3, In 9oeor, Netherlands, one son 
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Johnny. On this farm was a log house which was dismantled In 1952. 
John Seal's first car w.as a 1915 Chalmers Touring, licence no. T5815; 
flnt tractor a 1920 lHC 15-00. They also owned a threshing machine. 
Their Jut horses were a team of black percherons, 195r3, sold them for 
$115.00. 'ftlere were two gas wells drilled about 1937 and discarded in 
1!6i. John played 2nd base and short stop In the famous Glenwood Ball 
Team about 1936. 

LOT 12, CONCESSION 12 

Crown deed for 100 acres o! virgin forest to David Hugh Payne 
and Nancy Cameron, I>ecenlber 23, 1884. ln 1885 a log house was bullt 
the 'lop of which are now the !mmework of a hog barn. In 1888, ruty 
acrea, now owned by Frank WeU>er, were sold to Charlie Long for five 
hundred oo}lars. 

A barn raising !bee was held in 1892, and the building which Is 
still etandlng, was erected. David H. Payne Sr.., was married twice, 
havlna ltWo ehlldren by 1hls first marriage. and five chlldren by his 
second marriage. 0! these two families, there remains Amos and 
Georre Payne and Catherine Payne Coulthard David Hugh Payne Jr ... 
ot the second tamlly, married Annie McLaren of Quinn In 1915. Of 
this union one son, James Ernest, was born. His wife, the !ormer 
Marion Guttridge, was born in Merlin. Of this union, two daughters, 
Janis and Sandra, were born. 

In 1917 David 'Payne had his first 'Model T Ford car. About 1935, 
a leCOnd home was moved onto the farm 'to be the home of tM.r. and 
llrl. John McLaren, parents o! Mrs. D. Payne. In 1947 this house was 
moved to Glenwood to become the home of 'Mrs. Wm. Broom. Horses 
were 'laat uaed on this farm In 1946. They were replaced by a Ford­
Fer'IUBOn Tractor. There 11re no gas wells on the .faim, but free gas 
was available to the occupants until 1946. Thls free gas lease had run 
from about 1909. The last of the bush was cleared by a bulldozing 
maillne in 1956. 

LOT l.S, CON. 12 ({)ol. Webber) 

Col. Frank Webber moved here In 1930 trom Odell, DJ., bought 
the farm In 1921. Before he moved he rented the farm to Begall and Bro., 
Lai'k, Kudaon. On this farm were five gas wells, two of which are stlll 
lood. His ftnrt car was a 191.0 Ford Touring; his first tractor, 1930, 
International n2. For 56 years Col. Webber was an auctioneer, one of the 
best, bel'innlng In 19<W3, finishing in 1961. During that time he had 2500 
or more sales. He has bad sales In every state of the union as well as 
Ontario. He married In the year 1904 to Bat'bara Mlller of Pipper City, 
m She died, October 6, 1954. Their famU)": Elleen, Mrs. Haynes, teacher, 
Detroit, one 1trL Mr. Haynes died six months after marriage; Florence, 
Kn. J. F. Moore, teacher, Peoria, Ill., three girls; Francis Webber, 
Wyoming, Dl., two boys and one girl; Clarence, single at home; Vincent, 
Detroit, two boys and two girls; Leo, Detroit, one boy and one girl; Mary, 
·Mn. Brlsto, Windsor, tour boys and three girls. 

THE VILLAGE 

The t1rst permanent house to be built In rnenwood was the one 
where BeY Gray now lives. It was built by John Chester in 1883. Others 
to foHow around 1885 to 1890 were: the Estabrook house now moved to 
IMerltn; the Shepley house now owned by Claire Torrance; the Lemuel 
~· better known as Peter Magee house, now owned by Mrs. Tom 
-vum. In the year 1891 came the saw mill located on NE corner of the 
tour comers, and Glenwood began to be a thriving community On the 
~ property was built four houses, one still remains and is occupied by 
niQ. Watson. One was moved to Lot 10, Con. 14, now John Glttord's, 
another to Lot 13, Con. 14, now Archie Browns, and the large one which 
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was a boarding bouse was moved to Lot 13, Con. 13, now the Ford Bros. 
The stable which was used to house the horses Is still ln use as a hog 
pen and is owned by Jack Gray. Across from the saw mill to the SE was 
built the first church. On the NE corner was the first s tore owned by J . 
N . Halliday. The NW corner was a bunk house for men who worked at 
the mill, also stables for their horses. The first blacksmlth shop was on 
the NE corner of the saw mill property. The fir st workshop or repair 
shop was built by Lemuel Edwards on the f irst lot north of the railroad. 
On the SW corner was the E6tabrook house and in It was the post offlce 
operated by the Estabrook famlly. The railway station was situated just 
East of the maln road. It was moved to Chatham several years ago. The 
Orange Hall, situated about 30 rod west, was buiit In the year 1898 and 
next to 1t the school was built In 1897. The mill burned down In 1903. 
Things faded away until the year 1913 when the gas plant started to 
build and then things really boomed. A few more houses were bullt, 
another store was built by G. C. Greaves. A small gra ln elevator was 
erected on the railroad, also stock yards. All this has gone, but Glenwood 
still lives on. In later years the church was moved to a new location and 
remodelled, a Community Hall was bunt, a new s tore was built by 
Percy Gray, ando a system that is hard to beat. was brought In !or 
handling grain. The post oUice was closed In the s pring of 1915. 

BMideuta ol tbe Vlllap • of toc~Q, lllld 11180 of lhe put 

Ellis Jones - On the SW corner of the crossroadS was a large 
house bullt in 1893 In which the W. C. Estabrook family lived. Part of 
thls house was used as a post office with Mr. Estabrook as post master. 
At that time the mall was taken to the sta tion to be put oo the mail 
train, twice da1ly. The post office was closed ln the spring of 1915. Ellis 
Jones married Margaret Estabrook and they had no fa mily. They 
built a new house and the old house was moved to Merlin. 

Jack Gray - NW corner of the crossroads. .Tack built this 
home and moved Into it in 1960. Jac k Gray, son of Percy Gr ay of Glen· 
wood, married Gwen Knights, daughter of Wm. Knights of Mull, J uly 
14, 1949. They have one son Kevin, born April 8, 1954. J ack is in the 
plumbing business. Gwen was a schodl teacher. Kevin has a donkey and 
also raised gulnea pigs. 

Next house west, Mrs. (Maggie) Broom, formerly Mrs. Parker. 
Gilbert Chester Parker married Maggie McLaren, December 1905. Their 
family: Edna (Mrs. Wm. Mifflin) born October 9, 1906, three girls and one 
boy, Wm. was killed December 3, 1948; Charles, born September 3, 1909, 
married lola Graham of Merlin. They have two girls and one boy. Mr. 
Parker dled .May 21, 1916. Mrs. Parker then married Wm. John Broom, 
born, December 10, 1873. They had one daughter , Hazel (Mrs. James 
Schlves) born December 3, 1918. Mr. Broom dled February 28, 1953. Mr. 
and Mrs. Parker worked for W. C. Estabrook from 1907 to 1916 tor $25.00 
a month during the summer, and $15.00 a month during the wlnter . They 
lived a few years in the house now owned by Claude Gould. In 1916 they 
bought a house and moved it by the church. Mr. Parker died within two 
months. The house was sold to Hill's Tile Plant, Stevenson. When Mrs. 
Pal'ker married Wlm. Broom, they 1ived on Lot 9, Con. 12 (now Qdlyn 
VanDeWynckel's) for some years, then moved to Glenwood In 1946. 

Carl Moe - Born AprU 13, 1893, son of Amos Moe a nd Mary 
Anne Grieves, married Isabel Hornick. Their famUy: Ordella, Mrs. Harry 
Reardon, Detroit, one girl; Geraldine Mrs. Mack Need, Wardsvl11e, five 
girls, one boy; Stewart, married Bertha Martin, Detroit, three boys, one 
girl; Clayton, married Francis Gullion, Detroit; Thelma, Mrs. Floyd 
Need, Glenwood, four &Iris, two boys. 

Next house west-..Jlm Schives. This house wa:s moved here bY 
Carl Moe about 1950. Carl Moe died and Jim Schlves bought the house 
in 1960. Jlm Schlvea, born July 4, 1915, married Hazel Broom. Their 
family: Bob, married Jean Rlll, one son; .Marlon, Glen, Wayne, Larry and 
Kenneth, all single. 
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Next house, Floyd Nead-Floyd a son of Ottls Nead, Stevenson, 
born 1914, and 'Illelma Moe, daughter of Carl Moe, born January 10 
1926. were married, 1942 Their !amtly: Audrey IMrs. Quick> born 1944; 
Allen 1945; Constance, 1947; Linda, 1949; Dale, 1952; Judy Anne, 1953. 
They moved into their home SeptlSmber 13, 19!7. On Sunday, September 
21 the same year, a tornado w recked their house. Mrs. Nead heard the 
storm coming and took the children out and laid In a d 'tch across the 
road. One child was slightly injured by a pitch fork that came flying 
through the air. This Is the only house In the village which has a storm 
ce:lar. 

Next Morris Phelp!!-1Morrls Phelps, son of Cecil and Beatrice 
P :1elps, born March 12, 1926, married Ada Irene GIJ'ford, daughter of 
Ro'>ert and Violet Gifford. born August 16, 1929. Their family: Daniel 
Morris, born August 23, 1950, and Katherine Ruth, born August 19, 1956. 
Morris and Ada built their new home and moved In October, 1948. Morris 
wo ·ks for the Russell Tool and Die, Chatham. 

We wm now go North from the crossroads and onto the west 
side. First is the Community Hall, the hiStory of whlch appears Later, 
and then the church which also appears later. 

Next is Percy Gray- Percy Gray, born, October 1, 1895, son of 
Sole Gray ot Baddertown, married Ada Graham, born July 21, 1898, 
daughter of John D. Graham, Raleigh. They were married Ln Chatham, 
September 26, 1917. They have a daughter Erva born January 18, 1919 
<Mrs. Lyle Smith ) Glenwood; sons Beverley and Jack. Percy Gray 
moved to Glenwood from Merlin In October 1928. He worked for the Gas 
Co. and built the present general store which was opened In August, 
1945. The house they live In was built by Isaac Cofell who purcllased the 
lot of about one acre from J. N. Halliday, November 27, 1893, for $50.00. 
Cofell sold to Annie Newham, (widow ) who so1d to Lydia Taylor (widow) 
September 3, 1~, $500.00. Lydla Taylor sold part of the lot to G. C. 
Greaves, July 9, 1911, for $50.00, who built a store. The balance of the lot 
was sold to the Southern Ont. Gas Co., October 14, 1914, for $800.00, and 
they sold to Percy Gray, August 29, 1950. A few of the families Who have 
Hved ln this house were: Bert Steadman, Wm. Branton and Rev. Stewart. 

Next Is the store. - The flrst store on this property was built 
by G. C. Greaves, 1911, was sold to H. E . Webster, and In 1939 it burned 
down. Lyle and Erva Smith now live over the present store. Lyle Smith, 
born July 11, 1915, son of Charles Smith, Stewart, married Erva Gray, 
daughter of Percy Gray and they have no family. Lyle Smith's great 
21'&l'ldtather was one of the first settlers to come to these parts, settHng 
fn Stewart where he had a saw mill, handle factory, store and post office. 
Lyle is clerk for the Township of Tilbury East, and Erva is manager o! 
the general store owned by her father. Erva and Lyle were the flrst to 
be married in the local church Ln 1942, the church dating back to 1895. 

Next, fll'St house north of ratlroad- This was the Lemuel Ed­
wards house, one acre of land, date not known, but it was one of the first 
Edwards sold to Peter Mag~ In 1900 for $200.00, Who sold to Dam. Gas 
Co. in 1914 tor $1400.00. They sold to Thomas Broom In 1950 for $900.00. 
Beblnd this house was a work shop of Lemuel Edwards. Upstairs was 
a community hall. This hall was used by the Orangemen, the Salvation 
Anny, and Baptists who held church service there. The first school was 
held here with Hattie Estabrook as teacher. She received 10 cents per 
pupll per month. Peter Magee moved this building to the north side of 
his house and used 1t for a blacksmjth shop. Later It was moved back of 
~It_?~~ again and used as a stable. In April of 1962, this buildlng was 
........ meld. being the end of a building whlch had seen much of the 
hlatory of Glenwood. The house on this property was operated as a board· 
lng house for gas employees for a number of years. The family living In 
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this house now 111 Mr. and Mrs. Ray Labadie. Mrs. Labadie, the former 
Edna Smith, born April 7, 1920, and adopted by a Dawilng family of Chat· 
ham, t1rst married Harry F. Hudson, born 1915. Their fam ily were: 
Gloria Jean (Mrs. Allen Netbitt> born Decenrt>er 21, 1942, one boy and 
one girl, Leamington; Donna, December 3, 1943; Patricia Ann, December 
14, 1946; Roeemarle, August 17, 1948; Frederick, February 21, 1950. Harry 
Hudson died 1956 and she then married Ray Labadie, August Z7, 1959. 

Next house, Archie Carr-Archie Carr, born February 5, 1905, 
son of Edward Carr and Lily Branton, and Mary Eaves, born January 2, 
1905, daughter of Thomas Eaves and Allen Caughy, were married In 
Blenheim. Their family: Betty (Mrs. Austin Suitor> Chatham, two boys 
and three glrls; Colleen (Mrs. Royce Buchan) Port Alma, two girls and 
two boys. Archie and Mary moved here December 7, 1935, and boug'ht 
thelr home In 19:50. Archie has worked for the Gas Co. since 19Z7. Others 
who lived In this house were: Woods, Claude Gould, Wm. Mifflin. 

Russell Gould - Russell was born December 30, 19Zl, son of 
Claude Gould. He married Ruby Torrance, born August 23, 1925, daughter 
of Fred Torrance. Their famlly: Janice, August 28, 1947; Marsha, August 
23, 1950; Barbara, October 11, 1953; Brian, September 3, 1956. Russell 
and Ruby moved Into their home, August 13, 1949. They bought this 
house from the Gas Co., August 29, 1950, $1000.00. Russell started work· 
lng for the Gas Co., July 1, 1939. He was in the army from 1941 to 1945. 
Others who Hved in this house were: Wm. Branton, Porter Martin and 
Vern White. 

North to Claude Gould-Claude GoUld, born April 17, 1890, son o! 
Warren Andrew Gould, and Ruby Woods, born February, 1892, were 
married, September 24, 1913. Thelr tamlly: Ida, born 1914, died while 
young; Dorothy (Mrs. Mark Dlllon) born October 19, 1915, Sarnia ; Ray­
mond, January 30, 1919, died young; Doreen (Mrs. Lyle Fisher) born 
January 12, 1930, three boys, Port Crewe; Russell Robert, born March 31, 
19311 wlte Dianne Brooks, Wheatley, four boys and one girl. Mrs. Ruby 
Gowd died December 20, 1948. Claude married Elizabeth ~lng, Septem· 
ber Z7, 1941. Claude came from Tilbury, May 7, 1917, moved Into this 
house in 1932, bought it from the Gas. Co. In 1950. This Is one ot the older 
houses built for the saw mill. Claude started a welding and repair shop, 
1954. Other tamllles who lived here were: Gilbert Parker, George Mills, 
Mrs. Sam Wallace, Edward Stevenson, Charles Saunders, John Franklin. 

North to Claire Torrance-Claire, born September Z7, 1933, son 
of Fred Torrance, Merlin, married Shirley Robinson, born April 21, 1938, 
daughter of Wlnn1tred Robinson, Leamington. Their family: Jimmy, born 
October 4, 1955; Gloria, April 1, 1957; Bruce, June 11, 1958; David, May 
6, 1960; Larry, Ma,y 23, 1961. This house was built by Joseph Shepley be­
fore 1891. Annie Shepley sold It to J. Garrison, September 23, 1916 for 
$550.00; Garrison to Wm. Reardon, April Z7, 1920, $450.00. Reardon 
assignment to Odette, 1922; to S~muel Regnier, 1924; to Geo. Mills to 
Wm. Branton, June 5, 1926, for $650.00; to Fred Torrance, 1960. 

Now east of the crossroads on the north skle. This ls where the 
saw mill used to be, then later years the gas plant. A! the bulldings are 
gone except one, (twice a busy place, now a ghost spot> . East of this ls 
a barn and a couple of acres belQnging tQ Jack Gray. This barn ls the 
one used by the teamsters in the logging days. In front of It was the 
large boarding house and three smaller ones. The boarding house moved 
to the Ford Bros. farm, one smaller to Jack Gl!!ord's !arm, and another 
to Archie Brown's farm. The third is stlll there. It belongs to the St. 
Clair Grain Co. and is occupied by Wm. Wats<>n. This land changed tram 
J . N. Halliday, to Wm. C. Estabrook, to Geo. Estabrook, to H. E. Webster, 
to St. Clair Grain, and part to Jack Gray in 1953. 
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Wm. Watson famlly- Wm. Watson, born May 16. 1925, son of 
John Watson, Tllbury, married Mary Graham, born, January 8. 1930. 
daughter of Lorne Graham, Merlin. Their famHy, Graham, born February 
26. 19t9; Garry, born August 2, 1950; Grant, May 11, 1953; Marylu. 
Aueu• 7, 1962. Wm. Watson started with the St. Cl.alr Grain In 1939. 
Others who have lived In this house were: Fred Authier, Geo. Estabrook. 
Jerry Haskell, Eddie Garrison, Louis Bass. 

Next to Wm. Watson-Her~:: is a small house where Jim Motfa t 
lived for several years. Jim is now in Thamesview Lodge, Chatham. On 
thla same lot in about 1890, was a blacksmith slwp. 

The following Information is of famtlies who have lived In this 
dlatrlct and also of those who still live here. 

John Chester Family-John Chester settled In Glenwood on Lot 9, 
Con. 14, about 1890, coming from England with his family, Sarah Ann, 
hls wife, and children. Mary Ann married Thomas Llttle of WheaUey 
dJstrlct; Sara Jane married Hiram Moorehouse; Thomas married Caroline 
Gray of Baddertown, later moving to Alberta, settling near McLeod; 
Hanna Elizabeth married John Renwick of Renwick, Talbot Road; John 
Rldley remalned single and owned the homestead of 50 acres after death 
of hls father ln the early 1900's. He owned It until his death in 1936. Violet 
Eva married Leroy Mifflln of Glenwood district and she lives in Windsor; 
Joseph Cyrus went to Alberta and married there, settling In Lethbridge 
where he stlll resides. The Chester family and a famlly by the name of 
Shields, and Joseph Shepley family, were the first to reside In Glenwood. 

Arthur Wardle- He was born, August 20, 1941, son of the late 
Earl Wardle of Blenheim, and he mar ried Donna McMillan, bOTn, October 
9,1940, daughter of Jack McMillan, RJdgetown. Their children were Diane 
Elizabeth, born June 24, 1961, and Lynda Lee, born December 12, 1962. 

Roy Haskell- He was born, April 21, 1924, son of Clarence 
Haskell, and he married Jeanne Patricia Duquette, born September 15. 
1926, daughter of Phileas Duquette, Tilbury. Their family, Ronald. 
Lorraine and Margaret Ann. 

Allen FoniL--IB<>rn 1939, sor. of Gotdon Ford, Coatsworth, married 
Joanne Broadbent, born 1939, daughter of Lloyd Broadbent, South Buxton. 
To .them were born Crystal, August 13, 1960, and Scott, October 26, 1961. 

Robert VanDeWynckel-Born June 16, 1929, son of Rene VanDe­
Wynckel, Glenwood, married Mary Martens, born December, 1928, 
dall,(_hter of Theophlle Martens, Chatham Township. They were married, 
Aprll15, 1950, and to them were born: Phyllis, February 6, 1951; Kath· 
erine Jean September 24, 1953; Edward Robert, OctOber 24, 1957. 

The family ext Mrs. Lyle Smith lived on the Robert VanDe­
Wynckel farm about 1930. They have one son Robert, and one daughter, 
Ellzabetb, and now live in Bothwell. 

IPhiHp G. Ludwig-Came here !rom Moweaqua, Illinois, ln 1913. 
He was born in 1858 at Arnheim. He married Julia Osborne, born 1864 
at Jerseyville, llilnois. To them were born Llda (Mrs. Jack Haehlen) 
born 1884, Floyd born 1887, Ruth born 1891. They adopted two cllildren, 
Charlie, born February 16, 1895, and Mabel, born January 18, 1897, who 
were born at Moweaqua, Illinois. 

Floyd Ludwig - Born December 3, 1887, died November 10, 
1982, married Luella Yoder, born May 19, 1892. They were married 
January 10, 1915, and to them were born Harold, born at Glenwood 
August 15, 1916, who married Gale Moore, September 2, 1938. Their 

Lo
chlldren, Sharron, Victoria, Diana, and they, live ln Millred, Michigan. 

is born December 30, 1919, at Mercedes, Texas, married Allen Mar· 
rllnott Aprll 12, 1947, their family: Judith, Sandra and Allan. They live 

Oak Park, Michigan. 
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George Ketts, Lot 12, Concess-Ion 13 - Born October, 1871 
and died 1942. HJa wife, Harriette. born 18'70, died 1935. Their fam1ly: 
Lottie, born February 7,1891; Orval, born August 1892, d4ed June 23, 1958; 
Oriel, born August, 1900. died Ms.y 2, 1950. Lottie married John Steven· 
son October 12, 1910. Thi!y h'lld 2 daugrhtet"'l, Gladys and Kathleen, and 
one son, Carlyle, deceased. John Stevenson died November 3, 1837 

Charles Hillman, Lot 12, Concession 13, 1962. - Born December 
29, 1903, and married Gladys Stevenson, born December 25, 1911. To 
them were born Valorle, February 19, 1932, married Evert Brown, their 
children, Lor1e born February 8, 1900, Lee Ann September 27, 1954, 
Lynn, July 24, 1957, Gerald, October 2, 1960, and. Ron!, November 1, 1961. 
Marilyn, born March 23, 1934, married Clifford Snrlth, Mull, have one 
daughter, Terry, born August 10, 1955. Jo Ann. born April 10, 1940, 
married Ron Huff, Chatham, their famlly, Bernet, born July 3, 1953, 
Kevin, September 4, 1959, Kelly October 11, 1961. Dale, born March 31, 
1935, single, at home. 

Robert Ford Sr .• Lot 13, Concession 13, 1868. - Robert Ford 
born August 9, 1868, died October, 1935. His wife, Rose, born January 
28, 1871, died April 7, 1952. 'Their family: Oren, born January 20, 1892, 
died AprU 7. 1951.; Preston, born April 10, 1894, married Cleo Dawson 
and live at Windsor, 2 boys and 2 girls. Emery, born December 26, 1895, 
single, Glenwood; Percy, born April 18, 1898, single, Glenwood; Arohie, 
born 1900, dled 3 months old; Ernest, born F®ruary 21, 1902, single, 
Glenwood; Robert, born 1904, married VIola Lloyd, 1 girl; Gordon, born 
1906, married Margaret Patterson, Coatsworth, 3 sons and 1 daughter. 
Nelson, born June 8, 1908, single, Glenwood. Harvey, born 1912, d!ed 
3 months old. Darrel. born 1910, died November, 1947. Allee. Mrs. Les. 
Wilson, born July 28, 1914, 1 daughter and 1 son, Tuppervllle. Emery 
and Preston both died in 1963. 

Odlyn VanDeWyncklel, Lot 9, Concession 12 - Married Mary 
Bogaert of Port Crewe June 27, 1943. To them were born 2 sons, Ronald 
born November 20, 1944, and James, born March 17, 1947. 

John Maynard Seal, Lot 11, Concession 12 - Born August 17, 
1900, married Anna Grosman, born September 2, 1923, have one son, 
Johnny. 

Col. Frank Webber, Lot 13, Concession 12 - In the year 1904 
Col. Webber married Barbara Miller of Pipoper City, ru. She died 
October 6, 1954. 'Their famlly: Eileen (!Mrs. Haynes) teacher, Detroit, 
1 daughter. Mr. Haynes died slx months after marriage. Florence, 
teacher (IMrs. J. F. Moore) Peoria, Til. , 3 daughters. Francels Webber, 
Wyoming, Ill., 2 sona and 1 daughter. Clarence, single, at home. Vincent, 
Detroit, 2 sons and 2 daughters. Leo, Detroit, 1 son and 1 daughter. 
Mary (Mrs. Bristo) Windsor, 4 sons and 3 d1lughters. 

Joe Authier married Rosalie Schemk. Their family: JoAnne 
Mrs. Frank Cop, Chatham, 1 son; Lee, of Waterloo, Civil Engineer; 
David of Windsor; Gordon of Windsor, radio operator, has one son. 
Charles, Christine, and Steve at home. 

Christopher Annstrong, Lot 10, Concession 15 - Born March 
10, 1871, dled J'anuary 25, 1934, married Avilla MJmin, born Febnlary 19, 
1877. 'lbelr famUy: Ru.asell, born October 8, 1896, his wife Edlth Archer, 
born February 15, 1899, have one son and one daughter. Russell is a 
ClvU Engineer and lives In wtndsor. Victor, born July 31. 1898, died 
March 31, 1931, 33 years of age. Selena (Mrs. Benaon Askew), born 
October 11, 1900, died April 21, 1945, three sons, Wayne, Keith, Kent. 
Nelson married Mavls Hope and has 3 girls. 
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Ne!son Arms-trong family, Lot 10. Concession 15 - Nelson, born 
November 6, 1902. m:1rried Mavis Hope, born March 22, l~. Their 
family, Muriel, school teacher <Mrs. Howard Armstrong> lives at 
Val Caron. Northern Ontario, one son. Ruth, nurse (Mrs. Hugh Me· 
Dougall> . Guilds. Dorothy at ~wme. 

Robert Ford, Lot 12, Concession 14 - Married Viola Lloyd and 
have one daughter, Dorothy Jean, weight at birth 2 lbs. 3 ozs. Dorothy 
Jean Is now a school teacher, E lizabeth Bay, Ontario. 

Wm. Graham, Lot 8, Concession 14 - Married Jane Sams and 
their family, Ruth, Mrs. Lyle Blonde, 2 sons and 2 daughters, Riverside. 
Helen, Mrs. Jim Adamson, 1 son and 2 daughters, Tilbury. Lyle, married 
Ivy Benjamin, 2 sons and 1 daughter, Merlin, RJR. 4. 

Harold Johnson, Lot 8, Concession 15 - Married Nettie Jones 
and J,ad one son, Dwaln. 

Alex St. Jean, Lot 8, Concession 15 - Married J..ena Dupuis and 
have no family. 

Daniel Brown, Lot 9, Concession 14 - 1882 married Elizabeth 
Heu.ston In England, their family, CLalra, died young from typhoid fever, 
WlU, went to Texas, Jack went to California, Wilfred went to British 
Columbia, Jim went to Detroit, Sophia, Emma, Joe, Mathew, Herbert and 
Edward also went to Detroit. Ada of Merlin, died December, 1961, 
Violet of Glenwood (Mrs. Robert Gi!tordl. Violet was the only one to 
atay in Glenwood. Herb and Violet were born here, the rest were born 
In l!.'ngland. Wilfred was killed by a land slide in B.C. 

Charlie Bear, Lot 8, Concession 14 - Married May Plank o! 
London. Their family: Robert, married Bernice Gagnier of Tilbury, 2 
sons and one daughter, and they live in Chatham; Lorraine, Mrs. Wm. 
Stickles, 3 daughters, Merlin; Norman, married Jean Schooley and they 
llve in Hamilton. 

Wm. Jone8--'Lot 6, Con. 15, married Mary A. Brown of Wheatley 
In 1927 and they have no family. 

Charles Arrnstrong-lLot 5, Con. 14, married Edith McCibben and 
they have one son Roy. 

Edward Parker-'Lot 6, Con. 14, married Hanna Armstrong. 
Their family: Albert, Gilbert, Ivan. Joseph, John, all deceased, and Alla 
and Nora, single, Chatham. 

Thomas Johnson- Lot 7, Con. 15, born 18<15, died 1907, his wile, 
Mary Anne born 1857, died 1928. Their family: Adah Sophia, born 1878, 
died 1901; EMtel Annie (Wands) born 1880 (2nd marriage Williams); 
'Ibomas Martin, born 1882, died 1960 (1 son Otto); Arnold Edwin, born 
1883, died 1942; Bertha May, born 1895, died 1927; Sara Jane, (Doyle, 1 
son Dwight) born 1887; Harold James, born 1889, died 1959 (1 son 
Dwaln); F'lossie Pearl, dled at 8 years, 1891.-1899; Ernest Cecil, born 1893, 
(1 son Wayne); Eirle Fern, born 1895, died 1898; Mira Pearl (Campbell) , 
born 1897 died 1952 (1 girl Louise). 

Ernest Johnson-'Lot 7, Con. 15, married Netta Gardiner and they 
had one son Wayne. 

Wayne Johnson-d..ot 7, Con. 15, married Francis Newinshwan· 
der, one daughter, Cindy, two sons, Kevin and Wendell. 

Solomen MtUlln,. born March 31, 1846, and Elizabeth Badder, 
born 1849, were married in 1872. Solomen died in 1.889 and ~h 
In 1913. Their family: Thther (Mrs. Wm. Parker), they had 2 sons and 
3 daugthters. Esther dled August 15, 1960. Jane (\Mrs. John Amlstrong), 
they had 4 sons and 4 daughters. Avilla (IM.rs. Christopher Armstrong) , 
one daurghter, 3 sons. A<VIlla died May 7th, 1964. Anne (!Mrs. Thomas 
Heat'herlng'ton) , 2 soM, six daughters. Anne died February 24th, 1949. 

39 



Pearl, died at 5 years of age-scarlet fever. Vl.ctor, died at 3 years of age­
scarlet fever at the same Ume. Myrtle (Mrs. Joseph Oark> 2 daughters. 
Myrtle died in 1930. Guy, 3 daughters. 1 son. Guy died November 12. 1937. 

Mal'ltin Johnson - Lot 7, Con. 13, born 1882, died 1960. Hls wife 
Nellie Gilford, born 1886, died 1958. They had one ron. Otto. 

Otto Johnson-Lot 7, Con. 13. married ~deleine Foster 1935. 
Their fa mily: Joan, laboratory technlclan, California; Gary, school teacher 
Chatham; Terry, banker, MerHn; Neil and Allen at home. 

James Jones-Lot 6, Con. 15, 1883, married Sara .Moore and their 
family included six boys and three girls: William, James, Lucy and Jane, 
all went to !Midligan. Rose Ellen married James Miftlln and after his 
death married Joshua Smith: Reuben H ., Robert, Wellngton, who was 
kicked by a horse and died from the results, and Thomas. 

Thomas Jones-Lot 6, Con. 15, and h is wife Mary were married 
In 1889. They had five children: Ellis who married Margaret Estabrook; 
Nettle I., (IM.rs. Harold Johnson); Lorraine T ., married Nina Watson, 
Wheatley; Wm. C. married .Mary A. Brown, Wheatley; Ethel E. M., single. 

Christopher Armstrong Sr.- Lot 5, Con. 14, mauled Ann Chester. 
They carne from Allandale, England, 1868, and their family : Hana (Mrs. 
Ed. Parker); Elizabeth (Mrs. Andrew Beasley) ; Mary, single; E liza (!Mrs. 
Tom Stockwell); Annie (Mrs. Robert Jones); Amery, single; Margaret 
(.Mr s. Henry Real). These were all born in England. Born in Canada: 
John (hls wife Jane MiUlin); Christopher (wile Avilla Mitflin ); Edward 
(wife Ida Smart, 2nd wife Mary Green). Of this family only two sisters 
are now living, Jane and Avilla. 

Johnpy Awst,rong Lot 5. Con, 14. married JanP Mifflin Tholr 
•The fo»owing member s of the Johnny Armstrong family were 

omitted - Morley, two sons, two daughters; Mary, (Mrs. Lyle Hope), 
Merlin R.R. 4, no tamUy ; Olive, (.Mrs. Nelson Co.fell), Leamington, two 
sons, two daughters. 

uwuJ.)'. w.cuuyu, oorn vctOber '£1, 1952; David, born October 16, 1954; 
Danny, born July 20, 1957; Dale, born December 28, 1958. 

Garnet Lloyd~Lot 8, Con. 13, married .Marion Misner of Thames· 
ville and they have no famUy. 

Harry A'llan married Anna Tasker and they have two boys, Bill 
and David. 

Walter Tasker married Queenie Simons, 1923. Their famlly : 
Anna, born 1924, married Harry Allan; Ruth, born 1934, married Ernest 
Wills, one son, Dresden. 

Joseph Heynes--Lot 12, Con. 13, married Alma Notschalle. They 
are native of Holland and their family: Helen, Mrs. Earl Towell, Wallace­
burg, six children; George married Erla ffill, Wheatley, four children; 
.Margaret, Mrs. George Frederick, Merlin, three children; Henry a t home. 
They now live near Dresden. 

Harold Gardiner- Lot 7, Con. 13, son of the late Jim Gardiner, 
Middle Rd., married Annie Powell, daughter of John Powell, Middle Rd. 
Their tamlly: Glen, married Editll Meek, three girls ·and one boy, Port 
Credit; Max, married Kay Stevens, Sarnla; Eunice, single, Ottawa; 
Murray, single, at home; Claire, married Donelda Logan, one boy and 
one g irl, Windsor; Ross, single, Chatham. 

Edward Carr-<Lot 7, Con. 13, died 1945 and his wife died 1922. 
Their tamlly: Flossie, <Mrs. Oral Beatty) died 1953, two boys and one 
girl; John married Dolly Benge, two boys and tour girls, Merlin; Mabel, 
(Mrs. Neil McLeod) one girl and five boys, .Merlin; Archie roamed Mary 
Loop, two girls, Glenwood; William, killed in a gravel pft, 1927; Geot~ge 
married Beatrice Trembley, five boys and two girls, Glenwood; Morley, 
married Hazel Gifford, one boy and one girl; .A-lbert married Nellie Frank· 
lin, one boy and one a1rl, Raleigh; Albert died 1959; Christina, (!Mrs. C. 
Shavin) one girl, Ohaiham; llene, (Mrs. Russell Kemp) one girl, Steven· 
son. 
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Morley Armstrong Lot 7, Con. 13. married Ola Cranston. Their 
tam::y: Kenneth married Noreen Hodgin, Tilbury East; Donna, (Mrs. 
Leslie Brown l one boy and one girl, Brights Grove; Murray, married 
Rose Marie Buschemeyer, one girl, Glenwood; Pearl, (~1rs. Walter Vince) 
neteber. 

Percy I.Joyd-Lot 8, Con. 13, born 1900 and Annie Plank born 
1903 were married October 21, 1922. Their family: Dorothy, <Mrs. Wm . 
.Mar!a) born 1926; M1rjorie, <Mrs. Robert Pratt> one girl Shirley Anne 
and one boy FA!(lle, South Buxton; Ronald married Gay!e Ellwood of 
'nlbury and lives at Glenwood. 

Charles Mifflin--Lot 7, Con. 14, married Tena Cates of Trinity, 
August 23, 1944, and they have tJWo boys and two girl:, Clark, Fraser, 
JIWan and Janelle. 

Ge-orge P:che, wife Rose died 1955. Their famJly: Bill, one boy, 
one 1irl, Windsor; Annie, (Mrs John Kuchrowy) two boys and one girl, 
9arrlia; Helen ((Mrs. Hector Ohauvin) one boy and !our girls, Emersville; 
Mary, CMrs. Jesse McCord) one boy and one girl, Chatham; Fred, one boy, 
two ilrls, Glenwood. 

Iaaac Brown- Lot 6, Con. 13, born 1876, died 1955, married Eliza 
Shaw, daughter of George and Ann Shaw. Their family: Beatri-ce, (Mrs. 
Roy Seal) one girl; George, (married Eldean Hardie) Farmington, Mich.; 
Harry, ('Married May Cousins) two boys and one girl, London; Ray 
(married Edith Seal) four girls, one boy, H\ghland Park, Mich.; Clifton 
murled OJl.ve Mlfflln, Glenwood; Ben married Eva Potts. one boy, one 
girl, Bowmanvllle; Charles married Iva Marshall, one boy, Merlin; Arehle 
married Ruth Gifford, three boys and one girl, Glenwood; Lloyd, slngle, 
at home. 

Clit.ton Brown-Lot 6, Con. 13, married Olive Mi!!Un, no family. 
Beverley Gray- Lot 9, Con. 14. born April 18, 1922, married 

Bernadette Rltcey, born December 9, 1925, Halilax. Their family: Diane, 
born December 20, 1947; Mary Ann born October 19, 1951; Michele, born 
March 2. 1958; Barry, born January 29, 1960. 

Wm. Innes Sr.- Lot 9, Con. 14. Mr. and Mrs. Innes came from 
Scotland about 1880. Mr. Innes died 1919 and Mrs. Innes died November 
22. 19'.M. Their t.amlly: William, Dave, Lizzie and Alex. 

Ak!x Innes-Lot 9, Con. 14, married Evelean Armstrong. Alex 
died 1950 and hls wife In 1956. 

!Murray Armstrong-Lot 9, Con. 14, married R<1se Marie Busche­
meyer and they have one daughter. 

Wm. Mifflin-Lot 7, Con. 14, born November 8, 1846, died July 
12, 19Q6. His wife, Martha Scratch, born 1847, died January 29, 1937. To 
them were born two sons, Roy and Leslie, and one daughter, Laura. Roy 
married Violet Chester and he died July 28, 1931. VIolet now Uves In 
Wtndaor. Laura married Charles Gray. Laura died November 18, 1933. 
Charlie died November 25, 1940 and their son Ernest died October 31, 
1951. Lealie married Flossie Watson, September 25, 19CY7. Leslie died 1961. 

Leslie Mlfnln-'Lot 7, Con. 14, married Flossie Watson, Septem· 
ber 25, 1907, and to tthem were born Edna (Mrs. Andrew Burnlleld) died 
1953, two Rtrls; Helen, (!Mrs. Glen Atkinson) Merlin, one boy and one girl; 
GeoJ'Ida, (!Mrs. Ross McKenzie) Dover Township, two girls; Vema, (Mrs. 
Wln. lticha.rds) Hamilton, two girls and one boy; Charles married Tena 
Cates, Glenwood, two boys, two g1rls. 

GeOl'ge Gifford-Lot 10, Con. 14. born 1852, died January 25, 
1938. married Alleln Frolic, born 1852, died February 28, 1926. Their 
tam.lly: Robert, marrled Violet Brown, Glenwood, four boys, two girls; 
ErneSt, Toronto; Nellie CIMI's. Martin Johnson) born November 22, 1886, 
cled 19M, one son. Frank. married. Bearice Shepley, Glenwood, one boy, 
one ~I; Donald married Emily Garlick, one boy, one girl. 
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Donald Gifford Sr.-Lot 10, Con. 14, born 1891, died 1945, married 
Emily Garlick. Their family: Ellen Mae, born August 31, 1936, died Jan· 
unry 8, 1940, a son Dona:d married Joyce Walker, one boy, one girl. 

Donald Gifford Jr.~t 10, Con. 14. born November 12, 1937, 
married Joyce Walker, born March 20, 1935. at Ti.mmlns, Ont., who is a 
nurse. They have one son Kent and a daughter Chris. 

George Armstrong- Lot 10, Con. 14, married Ferne Cook and 
their family: Gerald, married Sophia Dezrka, Cottam, one boy, one girl; 
Allen, married Barbara Vlvone, Nipigon, one boy, one girl. Allen is a 
Provincial PoUceman. Audrey, (iMrs. A. Elsom) Whea~ey, two girls; 
Kenneth, Guelph Agricultural School; Ruth Anne, (Mrs. Ross Roe) 
nurse, Charing Cross; Grant, Bank of Montreal, Merlin; Darwin and Dale 
at home. 

Fred Piche married Jeanne Strange of Merlin, school teacher. 
They have one son Stephen and two daughters, Laurie and Lenore. 

Adam Bird-'Lot 12, Con. 15, born 1890 at Contental, Ohio, 
married Olive Strasburg and their family : Nettle, (&Mrs. Kenneth Daw· 
son) Coatsworth, three girls and one boy; Max married Ruby Duplse, De· 
t rolt; Morris married Ruth St. Pier.re, Lindsay, four girls, three boys; 
Elmer married Sara Elliott, Wayne, Mich., three girls, three boys; Elwood 
married Martha DeCork, Wayne, Mich., three girls, two boys; Harvey 
married Somoi Drink, Belleville, two girls, two boys; Bernice, (Mrs. Wm. 
Taylor) Tilbury East, three girls, five boys ; Joe married Patricia Sova, 
one girl, three boys; Wayne married Ruth Coulter, Michigan, two girls, 
one boy; Carlyle died at seven months. 

Archie Brown-Lot 13, Con. 14, married Ruth Gl!ford. Their 
family: Murray married Patsy Leach; Doug married Brenda Smith, one 
g irl Cindy, a boy Tommy; Richard and Judy at home. 

Robert Gifford-Lot 10, Con, 14. born Octooer 4, 1882, died De· 
cember 10, 1949, married Violet Brown, born March 14, 1885, died Novem· 
ber 23, 1951. Their family: Edwin, born April 22, l!ll.O, died November 18, 
1930; Jim born February 6, 1914, married Edna Carnahan, three boys and 
two girls, Windsor ; Ruth born January 15, 1916, married Archie Brown, 
three boys, one girl; Jack born September 1, 1919, single, Glenwood; Wm. 
born January 13, 1924, married Hazel Hope, Merlin, one girl; Ada born 
August 16, 1929, married Morris Phelps, Glenwood, one boy, one girl. 

Warren Andrew Gould married Maude Woods and their family: 
Claude born April 17, 1890; Edward born February 16, 1892, deceased; 
Gordon born April 19, 1894; Owen born December 12, 1898; George born 
July 1, 1902; Arthur born January 24, 1904. Warren Andrew died 1931, 72 
years of age, and Maude died 1951, 84 years of age. Mr. and Mrs. Gould 
managed the boarding house for the Gas OJ. Mr. Gould was also a painter. 

Andrew Bum1ield came to Glenwood from Coldwater and taught 
school here tor the year 1925a6. He married Edna Mifflin and lived at 
Coldwater until 1935 when they returned and lived In the log house on 
the Mi!flln farm. At this time he worked for the Gas Oo., and in 1945 he 
was transferred to Leamington where he now lives. Andrew was born, 
July 1, 1902, son of Wm. Burnfleld of Coldwater, Simcoe County. His wife 
Edna Mifflin was born October 8, 1~. daughter o1 Leslie MiMlln of Glen· 
wood. They were married in 1927 and their family : a daughter Thelma, 
born September 25, 1933, who married Kenneth Hawkes o1 Leamington 
In 1954, two children, Nadine and Ronald. They now live in Belleville; 
Norine, born September 12, 1937, married Wayne Edwards of Windsor In 
1960 and they have one daugtlter Debra. They now live In Windsor. Edna 
died December 10, 1953 and Andrew married Ester Murray of Leamington 
In 1957. 



The Kelver family by Amelia Richards-John Kelver died 1915. 
85 years old and hls wife Em11y Lily died 19-10, 81 years old. Their 
famlly; Percy, single, over 80 years old, Blenheim; Will, s ingle, Rio 
Grande, Alberta, died 1959; Veda, Mrs. John Richards, died 1943, two girls, 
Blenheim; AmeUa, Mrs. Charles Richards, three boys, two deceased, Bten· 
hftln; Reginald, single, R io Grande, Alberta ; Viola. Mrs. John Dougla<;, 
two girls, Oak Park. Mich.; Clarence, two boys, one girl , Rio Grande, 
Alberta; Harry, four boys. two girls , Carman, Manitoba; Fay, Mrs. Wil· 
fred Walch, two girls, two boys, deceased, Shrewsbury. One of Fay's sons 
and his wife were kll!ed In a car accident In 1956, the other boy died at 
tbe age of 8. Reginald was overseas during the 1st World War and 
Clarence was overseas during the second World War, six years in service. 
WUJ. Reg!na'd and Clarence, when young men, decided to go West, and 
homestead. They went as far North In Alberta as they could by train, then 
they bought a horse and went on into the timber land for days. They took 
up homestt.'adlng In what Is now Rio Grande, near the base of the Alaska 
Hlpway. This district Is one of the best clover seed districts in North 
America. Re&lnald came back here once about ten or fifteen years ago. 

Jim Bishop tamHles by Lyle Blshop-:\ir. and Mrs. Jim Bishop 
were amon& the early settlers coming to S~ Lot 12, Con. 14, In the year 
1901. James Melville Bishop, born May 18, 1876, and Addle Moorhouse, 
born November 4, 1876, were married November 20, 1895, and to them 
were born: Royal McKinley, March 5, 1897; Grace M.lldred {Hazel) De· 
cember 6, 1898; Lyle Raymond, April 29, 1901; Earl J ames, July 22, 1903. 
James Bishop passed away September 5, 1005, and Mrs. Bishop on October 
8, 1906. James Bishop was a brother of Mrs. Wm. Blake who lived on the 
farm the &chool is on, for a number of years. 

Royal Bishop married Eunice Davidson, February 5, 1919, and 
lived in a house on the gas plant grounds west of the water well. When 
their second child was born the baby and mother both died, May, 1921. 
Royal was in World War I and unfortunately he was gassed and shell 
shocked. After being home a few years the effects of these began to take 
hold. He was admitted to Westminster Hospital, London, where he is 
now. 'nley have one daughter, Katherine Addie, born October 26, 1919. 
On October 26, 1940, she married Harold Glover and they have one son, 
Michael Gary. 

Grace Mildred <Hazell Bishop married Chester Nicholson, Oc· 
tober 12, 1920, and lived at Lot 13, Con. 14, across the road from where 
Rebert Ford now lives. The house has been moved away and is the one 
In whkh Mrs. Broom lives at Glenwood. They had tour children: James 
Orlo born July 7, 1921, married Margaret Campbell, May 10, 19-14, four 
ctilldren, Sharron, Kay, James and Irvine. James Orlo dled January 25, 
1953; Louis Verne born November 7, 1922, married Margaret Gordon on 
Pl!'bruary 9, 1948, five children: Carol Lou, Ruth, Robert, Brenda, Wllda; 
Ratpb Delmar, born January 2. 1926, married Betty Burroughs, June 1. 
19t6, tour children: Bonnie, Mary, Victoria and Linda; Ruth Mildred 
born February 1, 1929, married George Owen, June 5, 1948, their child· 
ren: Larry, Donald, Thomas. 

·Lyle Raymond Bishop married Eva Wallace of Merlln, October 
12, 1920. They llved at Lot 13, Con. 14. Their family: Raymond Lyle born 
Aueust 5, 1923, married lola Asselstlne, June 25, 1945, their children: 

J
DoDald. Raymond, Shelley, Anne. Edna Jean married Leon Dalgleish on 

uly ~. 1947. 

Earl Bishop married Ruth Olmstead, August 31, 1929. They had 
two children: Earl James born August 7, 1930, married Kay Ludwig, ()c. 
~~· 1936, one son Mark; Phoebe, born February 22, 1936, married 
~ Bojanzyk, January 19, 1957, their children: Melissa and David. 
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Charles Saunders family by Mrs. Fred Authier- Mr. and Mrs. 
Charles Saunders lived In the house now owned and occupied by Claude 
GJuld. They had three girls who went to school in Glenwood: OUve, who 
now lives in Windsor, single and works for the Bell Telephone; Susan, 
Mrs. Joe Pickup, works for the Bell Telephone and lives in Windsor; 
Elizabeth, Mrs. Jas. Murphy lives in Wallaceburg. Their son Charles was 
born in Glenwood Mr. Saunders worked for the Southern Ont. Gas Co., 
also the Union Gas Co. Both Mr. and Mrs. Saunders are now deceased. 

Franklin family by Mrs. Fred Authler--John Franklin carne to 
Glenwood from Manchester, England, In August 1922, and stayed with 
his wife's sister and her husband. Mr. and Mrs. Charles Saunders. The 
following May, 1923, Mrs. Franklln and family arrived and lived In tht 
house now occupied by Claude Gould. In 1924 they moved to the house 
now owned by Mr. VanDeWynckel. There we•·e three glrls and two boys 
who went to Glenwood school. Tom lives in Belmont and has two daugh­
ters. He works at SonvnervlUe's In London. Clara Is Mrs. Fred Brown, 
Wallaceburg, two sons, one daughter; Nellie, Mrs. Albert Carr of Raleigh 
Township, one daughter, JoAnne (!Mrs. Max Ryan) and one son. Albert 
d!ed of a heart attack in 1958. Albert and Nellle lived tor a whlle in the 
house now owned and occupied by George Armstrong, also a f~ years 
In the one owned and occupied by Bev Gray. Ahrt drove a truck for H. 
E. Webster. John who now lives in Grosse Pointe, Mlch., t'hree sons and 
two daughters. Rachel married Fred Authier in 19rl9 and Jived on No. 3 
Highway, Ed Garrison farm, for five years, then to Stevenson and in 1940 
back to Glenwood. Fred worked for H. E. Webster and 'ltved. in the house 
now occupied by Wm. Watson. In 1942 they moved to the farm where they 
now live, R.R. 1. Wheatley. They had two sons, Alfred who farms and 
Jack Who works for Union Gas Co., Brantford. Their one daughter Is Mrs. 
Ratph Brooker, R.R. 1, Comber, and she teaches 9Chool. In 1929 Mr. and 
Mrs. Franklin moved to Wallaceburg where they still live. 

John Horton tamlly by Laura Burke--John Nlmlah Horton born 
September 4, 1869, died June fl, 1951, at the age of 81 years. He was 
raised at Shrewsbury. Phoebe M"!'gan, born October 3, 1872, at Morpeth, 
died September 28, 1959. They wer<' married December 15, 1891 and to 
them were born five boys and three glrls: Wllllam Abram, Aprill, 1893; 
Laura Blanche, March 8, 1895; Lloyd Irad, Septem\>er 25, 1898; Harold 
Melvin, December 9, 1900, all born at Shrewsbury; Etta May, December 
17, 1903; Lelia Grace, October 4, 1906; John Leslie, September 1, 1909; 
Theodore Edward, January 15, 1912, all born at Glenwood. They moved 
to Glenwood, February 8, 1902, and bought a farm trom Isaac Ainslie, 
NW% Lot 11, Con 14, 100 acres. The barns and a large house were 
situated In the middle of t·he farm and there was a house at the road. 
There was one log bulldlng, may have been the first house on the farm. 
Will married Genevive Shardbott of Detroit, April 2, 1919, one son, Will 
works for Ford's at Windsor. Laura married Robert Burke, March 7, 1918, 
no family. Lloyd is single in Windsor. He has owned and operated a 
physical culture and dance school tor 28 years. Melvin married Connie 
Hairdusser, October 15, 1939, no family. Elta married Rev. Jas. Grundy, 
July, 1928, one son James. Grace married Arthur Mcintyre, May 8, 1928. 
four girls, one boy: Dorothy, Shtrley, Betty, Mary Ann, and Arthur. 
Johnny married Myra Hundy, March 20, 1936, one son Edward, one daugh· 
ter Marjorle. Ted married Jean Howard, .May 24, 1940, three sons: Dwaln, 
Van and Greg. Ted Is supervisor at SUverwoods. Robert Burke was a 
brakeman on the C.N .R. Rallway for 32 years. He died of a heart attack 
while at work, May 25, 1957. About 191~19 Lloyd was In the trucldng 
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buSiness, trucked one million brick and a small amount of tile to be used 
ill th• Prince Edward Hotel. One ot the trucks was a Ford rear wheel 
cbaln drlvt, one of the 111st amphablan water and land Inventions. Laura 
and ('..race have belonged to St. Jo~n Ambulance Aso;ociatlon for the past 
12 yH.rs. They teach home nursing and fir~tt aid classes. Their division 
1s Hopewell No. 301. Their motto - We Hope We will do Well. They go 
whtrever they are needed. 

The Wm. Harris .family by Lee Harris of Leamlngton- Wm. 
Harris l:ved on the farm now owned by Morley Carr, 1910 to 1912, also on 
the farm now owned by Harold Gardiner. 1912-19. They then moved to 
B'ytheswood in 19Z7. Wm. dled and then Mrs. Harris and family moved 
to Leamington. Mrs. Harris' malden name was May Bagley. She died in 
1956. They are both burled in Stewart Cemetery. They had three child­
ren: Lee, married Ada Reid of Blytheswood and lives ln Leamington, two 
daUibtE'rs, Alice <Mrs. Donald Cleghorn) Wheatley, lJnda at home; 
Hazel (i:\<lrs. carl Doakl Detroit, one daughter; Edna <Mrs. Rex Ives) 
wtndsor, five daughters, three sons. The oldest boy was ln an accident 
11nd Is crippled. and the third oldest boy was In the navy. Lee went to 
school at G.enwood and Nellie Tasker was his Sunday School teacher. 

Edward Blake Stevenson lamily by Mrs. Edna Stevenson, Leam· 
in~on-Edward Stevenson fanned a few years the north 50 of Lot 9, Con. 
31, which is now owned by Roy Seal. Later he worked tor the Gas Co. and 
lived In the house now owned by Claude Gould. Edward was well known 
as a great violinist, playing for many old time dances. Edward Blake 
Stevenson marril'd Edna A. Marshall, August 23, 1910. Edward passed 
away, May 16. 1942. Their family: five girls and three boys, of whk:h five 
are stenographers and two Greyhound Bus drivers. Ada Eileen married 
Colnl J. Vezina, two children, Janet Eillen, William Colni, lZ7 Victoria Dr., 
Windsor. Edith Helen married Lyle Gray, three daughters, Margaret 
Jane, Constance Alberta, Patricia Helen, Victoria St., Rldgetown. Irene 
Marshall married Russell Robinson, no family, 374, Detroit St., Windsor. 
James Gordon marr ied Joan Canning, two children, Brenda Susan, James 
Andrew, 631 Beecher St., London. Erva Norlne married Glen M. Muckle, 
two children, Ann Louise, Steven Glen, R..R. 2, Blenheim. Wtll Martin 
married Mildred Wreckes, no family, 41 Byrne St., Branttord. Robert 
Andrew married Margaret Mascule Copeman, two children, George Blake 
and Robert Mark, 296 Parkland Trailer Court, Kapuskaslng, Ont. Muriel 
Ann married Robert G. Collins, no family, Leamington. 

Ivan Lloyd family, .formerly lived EY• ot tne S~ Lot 9, Con. 13, 
the old Vlopond home now moved away. Ivan Lloyd born at Glenwood, 
September Z1. 1908, son or the late Hiram Lloyd and Eliza Mancell, 
rnarritd Edna Keams, daughter of the late Arthur Kearns and Elizabeth 
Ritchie, R.R. 2, Merlin, born March 12, 191-:1. They were married, Novem· 
ber 26, 1932, and have one son and one daughter. Douglas Lloyd married 
Martha Cours of Wheatley, September 8, 1956, one son, Michael, one 
clauchter, Veronica. Judy married Miohael 'nerney of Windsor, January 
30, 1960, and they have two sons, Lloyd and Steven. Edna was the first 
patient to be treated by the late Dr. Berry when he started practice in 
Merlin. Ivan was among the first to have a truck, a 1932 Chev., and was 
tht first to hold a FCV license which he had for four years, when he quit 
tbe trucking bualness. The late Jack Frosdick o.f Merlin got the PCV 
licence. They also had a mall route out of Merlin from 1931-40. 

James H. Phelps family by Mrs. Maurice Phelps-James H. 
Pbh elps, born In Salem, Illinois, December 17, 1867. In 1887, on July 4th, 

e married Helen Immel who was born on December 21, 1870, ncar Salem, 

l
l!!!nols. They lived in Taylorvllle, l.lllnols, and Jennings, Louisiana, untll 
"'L2 when they moved to canada. They lived ln the Albrecht house and 
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later the Ludwig !arm. Then they bought the home where Jos. Authier 
now l.ves, in 1917, and moved there In 1919. Mr. Phelps passed away on 
March 5, 1950. His w1fe, Mrs. Helen Immel Phelps, passed away on De· 
cember 7, 1938. Mr. Phelps worked for the Union Gas Co. of Port Alma 
lor several years b1!fore he was superannuated. They had six children: 
Lolo Helen Louisa Phe.ps, born January 17, 1889, who later married Curd 
Neely. They had two children, a son Edmund now reskllng In Texas, and 
a daughter Corrine, now Mrs. Carlls Ward, living in Arkansas. Mrs. 
Neely passed away in 1955. Harry James Phelps, born December 6, 1890, 
died, August 1951. He married Mabel Albrecht who passed away, January 
1963. They had one son Cl!Uoro now living In Learn.lngton. Mr. Phelps 
d1ed from injuries rece1ved when he fell dolng carpenter 'INQrk. Florence 
Anna Phelps, born November 29, 1892, married Norris Hazzard, and have 
a daughter Marion (Mrs. Leo Northcott). Mr. and Mrs. Norris Hazzard 
live in ~10unt Brydges and their daughter lives in London. Theodore 
Phelps, born Septenwer 6, 1894. Mr. Phelps never married and at present 
res1des in St. Thomas. Cecil Rtelps, born April 7, 1900, married Beatrice 
Muriel Walby In 1925. She passed away in February 1953 at the age of 48 
years from Injuries received while a passenger In a car. The car ran 
ran into a deer on No. 3 Highway east of Wheatley. They had 3 
children, Maurice, Bob and Margaret (!Mrs. Stanley Gllbeault) all of 
the Merlin District. Carl Oran Phelps born May 12, 1904, married 
VIvien Roberts of Essex. They have 2 sons, Barry and J immy. Carl 
has resided in Chatham for many years where he operates a drug store. 

W. C. Estabrook famlly- W. C. Estabrook born October 3, 1Sl5, 
Glgetown, NB., married Janet A. Palmer and they had one son Jarvis, 
who was killed in the saw mill. Glenwood, November 22, 1892. Janet A. 
Pabner passed away and W. C. Estabrook then married Janet Ann 
Marshall. born August 26, 1852, at Putnam, Ont. Their family: Hattie A. 
married Rev. A. E . Thomson of Goderlch~ Elizabeth M. married Blake 
R. Cohoe, South Woodslee; Allee L .. married Rev. E. Kyle Simpson. 
Rldgetown; Clara S., married Floyd Hunt of Detrolt; George P . married 
Jean E. Treadgold of Toronto, who passed away May 16, 1960; George 
P . then married Mrs. Lena Poole of Kingsville; Will C. married Olive 
Welch. Wallacebu_nt. Will passed away In 1942 and his wife passed 
away September 28, 1956. Margaret married Ellis C. Jones of Merlin; 
and Mabel J . married Rev. James Bewell, Newmarket, Ont. Allee was 
a missionary for 14 years in China. She started the first school for 
g irls while there. 

Martin Seal family, by John Seal---Martin Seal born 1866, Sto­
vonger, Norway, and Margaret V. Fur born 1873, Broughton Township, 
Livingston Co. Ill., were married January 16. 1895. To them were born 
Roy !Martin, November 4, 1895; Diith Mary, March 8, 1898; John Maynard, 
August 17, 1900, Margaret Marie, October 16, 1910, all born In Nettle 
Creek Townshtp, Grundy Co., Ill. Martin Seal died April 25, 1951, hl.s 
wife March 26, 1944, and Margaret February 28, 1953. Roy married 
Beatriee Brown and they had one child. .Muriel Ardella, born June 10, 1924, 
died February 2, 1926. from the after effects of the mea.sles. Edith 
married Ray Brown, October 4, 1923, and they have 5 children: Betty 
Jean, born at Merlin R.R. 4, September 6, 1926, married Robert Hovogtad 
March 14, 1952, 3 chtld'ren; Ardella June born at Merlin R.R. 4, June 11, 
1928, married Joe Guthrie July 24, 1948. 3 children; Eunice Joan. born 
Highland Park, Mich., August 13, 19M., married John VanGemert 
November 22, 1952, 4 children; Leonard Milton, born Highland Park, 
August 28, 1933, single; Pauline Juliana, born Highland Park, Mloh., 
January 31, 1938, married Jerry Dlcken, October 24, 1960, no children; 
John Seal married Anna Grosman and they have one son. 

46 



The Fish famlly, by Florence Fish-'Robert and Henry's parents 
were married In old Stepney Church. London, England, 1845, and came 
to Canada 1831. They settled at Turkey Point where Robert and Henry 
were born. In 1876, their mothe:- died and a year later the !ather and 
son Henry came to Morpeth by row boat. For a time they operated 
a l.thery, wltlch consisted of a seine and row boat. In the year 1901, 
ROber and Henry came to lot 11, concession 14, 100 acres. At that time, 
tn:s was almost all timber. They divided the fann, Robert taking the 
west 50 and building a log house. He was never married. Robert was 
bo:n 18.~ and dled 1939. Henry took the east 50 and built a fram£> 
houae. Henry was born 1859, and married Allee Jane DeClute of Howard 
'lbwnlhip ln 1891. Henry died 1948 and his widow 1939. Their family: 
Earl. born 1897, married Edith O'Halboran, 1933, who dled 1942. They had 
one daughter, Mary Allee (.Mrs. Ross Rogers, Chatham); In 1944 Earl 
married Alice Letts and has Jlved In Miami since. Florence, born 1901, 
lin. Merton Gosnell of Ridgetown; George William, born 1904, married 
EUza Gault in 1935. and they have 3 sons, David. Robert and Keith, one 
dauailter Betty, all live at Eiginbury, Ont., near Kingston. The Fish 
famT!y sold in 1912 and moved to Clearville. 

George Thibeault family-George, born 1871, died 1960, and 
Mrs. Thibeault <Hattie Roel born 1884, dled 1940. Their family: Harry. 
Wallace'burr. born 1899; Jennie, 1901, deceased; Lawrence, wife Kattie 
Wilson, B:enheim, 2 sons and 1 daughter; Charlie, single, Chatham; Clem, 
wlfA! Elnor St. Clair, Tilbury, 4 sons, 6 daughters; Eima, Mrs. C. Wilson, 
1 aon. 3 daughtets ; Jean, single, Tilbury; Lorrie died at 6 weeks; Annie, 
Kra. D. Nead, Chatham, 2 sons and 1 daughter; George (deceased) wife 
Delflen Brainard, 1 son, 3 daughters; Evelyn (Mrs. J. Reaume) Chatham; 
Frank. wife Mabel, was In the anny 4 years, 8 months; Oscar, County 
Home, Chatham. 

Bert Hardy hmlly.-Bert Hardy, born In Napanee, March 26, 
1880, died December 28, 1953, son ol Thomas Hardy, and Edith Avllla, 
born May 23, 18'M, dJed October 28, 1957, were married In Romney 
parsonage and lived around the Glenwood and Merlin district all their 
Uves. They had 8 children ; Ernest Herbertrus, born October 11, 1900, 
married Flossie Gra·ham. He operated a school bus, also was town 
policeman, they had 2 daughters, Marie and Doris. Ernest died June 18. 
1951. Howard, born November 19, 1901, married Florence Graham, no 
lamily. He has been a fisherman all hls llie, first In Port Crewe, 
and then Wheatley. Hilda Fern, born April 10, 1903, married Johnnie 
Nicholson, who passed away, and then she married Charlie Stevenson, 
Wheatley, 2 sons, Howard and John Allan. Bernice Fay, born May 16, 
1905, married Hugh Dawson, lived in Glenwood, Merlin, and the home 
fann. He worked for the gas company, and they have 3 children, 
Gerald, Kenneth and Gloria. Nina Louise, born June 22, 19CY7, married 
William Farr, lived in Leamington and worked for Heinz, 3 children, 
Geftldlne, Ronald and a boy who died. Celena Belle, born June Z7, 
1!11.0, married Keit-h Wigle, Kingsville, fanner, 2 cltlldren, Raymond and 
Ardella; Joseah, born January 7, 1913, died August 22, 1921; Madeleine 
Edtth, born May 18, 1920, married Gerald Johnston, live In Blenheim, 2 
daugh~rs. Reat and JuHa. 

Robert Scltlves, born December 31, 1937, married Jean Hill, born 
January 11, 1937, and they have one son, Kevin, born A'Pril 7, 1959. 

Abram Dawson family, by Mrs. Hugh Dawson.- Abram Daw· 
IOJl and Annie Nattress were married at Lanchester Co., Durham, 
llnrland, February 3, 1886. They sailed from Liverpool, England, to 
Canada on February 24, 1887. Their family. Jane Dawson, born at Black 
HIU, Durham Co., November 17, 1886. She married Jerry Coatsworth, 
Ta))ot Street, and they have 3 children, Viola, Bessie and Robert. John 
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Dawson, born at Merlin, January 6, 1889, married Lula Coatsworth and 
they have 3 children, Irene, !Leona and Jack. ll'he remainder of the 
Dawson family were born at Glenwood. Mary Elizabeth, June 7, 1891, 
manied Jack Simpson, lived on Pelee Island several years, 3 chlldren, 
Marjorie, Erma and Ra!;)h. .Margaret, born !March 30, 1893, married 
Clarence Simpson and lived on Pelee Island several years, 4 children, 
Harry, Acle, Doris and Clive. Ralph, born May 21., 1~. married Addle 
Smart, and have 4 daughters, iLeona, Betty, Jean and Colleen. They live 
In ·Merlin. Annie Edna married Leroy Cunningham. They moved to the 
U.S.A. for a while then carne back and live in Merlin, where they operate 
a garage. They have 3 children, Marlon, Leroy and Ross. Joseph 
Hetherington, born September 13, 1898, married iLula LMalott, lived in 
Port Alma and have one son, Benjamin. Pheobie !Maude, born April 21, 
1900, married George Reh, Uved on Pelee Island for aWhile, then to a 
farm on Tal>ot Rd., then to •Leamington. George is manager of the 
growers department for H . J . Heinz, they have 1 daughter, Peggy. 
James Wesley, born July 11, 1901, married Vida Peters, worked for 
the Union Gas. Co., later moved to Wheatley and has an electrical store. 
They had 4 children, Lyle, 'Roy, Audrey and Glen. Hugh was born 
January 14, 1903, married Bernice Hardie, worked for the Union Gas 
Go. and have three children, Gerald, Kenneth and Glorla. 

George Hardy .famUy.-George, born 1874, died January 21, 
1962, hls wife, Eva Bostwick, their family: Eldeen (Mrs. George Brown,) 
Farmlngoton, Mich.; Corrlene (•Mrs. Frank Konnesky) Bergensfield, 
N.J. They also had 2 boys from the Bernard home In England; Harry 
Lindsay and Jack Saunders, who was in World War 1 and now lives 1n 
Windsor. 

The Edwards family. - William, born May, 1872, died 1939, 
hls wife, IBertha, born November 6, 1891, died January 17, 1953. Their 
famlJy: Eliza Jane (Huffman) 2 daughters, 6 sons, Morenci, Mldt.; Gien, 
his wife, Hazel Whltsal, 2 daughters, 1 son, Wheatley; Ben, bls wife, 
Doris Clarke, 3 sons, 1 daughter, Charing Cross; Helen (Irwin), 
Blyaewood; Barney (Authier) 1 son, Leamington; Thelma (Mrs. George 
Wright), 2 sons, 2 daughters, Wheatley; Letta {IBIUharn), 2 sons, 
Leamington. 

FamUy ol Charles Sams--IMa.rrled Zelma .Munn, Cbal"lng Cross. 
Their tamUy: Carol (!Mrs. Allan Charlton); Gordon, single at home. 

Harry Brown family.-Harry man-Jed May Cousins and their 
family: Carl, Dr. James (Eldon); Elinor. 

The Simons family. - Came from England In 1911 and lived 
at Stewart until 1919, when they moved to Glenwood. Mrs. Simons 
died May 5, 1916. Mr. Tom Simons died December 12, 1934. The oldest 
da~ter, Jenny, stUl lives In England; Alfred, deceased; Sarah, Mrs. 
Jim Gudgeon, London, 5 sons; Lilian, .Mrs. fl'om Moore, W1ndsor, 3 
children; Charlle, husband of Sara Gudgeon, London, 1 son, 1 daughter; 
Jim, huaband of Et!tel Lloyd, 1 daughter; Queenie, Mrs. Walter 
Tasker, Glenwood, 2 daughters. There were 7 children who died while 
young. 

Guy Milllln lfamlly.--{;uy died November 12, 193'7, 'his wlte, Rose 
Jeffery, lives ln Merlin. They had 4 children: Lorna, ·Mrs. Garnet 
Haskell, 5 sons, 2 daughters, St. Thomas; vm., Mrs. Mack Hetherington, 
2 sons, 2 daughters, Blenheim; George, married !Mary Groves, 3 sons, 
St. Thomas; Pearl, Mrs. Mervin Toomer, 4 sons, 5 daughters, Burlington. 
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Lome Armstrong famlly.-Lorne married Lily Drury, and their 
family as toUaws: Son Milo, married Helen Nead, and they have 2 sons 
and 2 daughters, and live in Merlin ; Gerald, married Edna Morton, and 
they have 2 sons and 2 daughters, and live In Merlin. Marjorie married 
Bl1l Cbatarson, 3 daughters and 2 sons ; Delores married Marvin St. 
Peter. 

Charlie Ludwig !amlly.-Charlie moved here March 1, 1913, from 
Shelby Co., Ill., later married Nell1e Tasker, daughter of Thomas Tasker, 
and they had 6 children. They now Uve In Tilbury. Their family: Ilene 
luue, born July 19, dled April, 1934; Glen Ronald, married Marion 
Smith, one daughter, Marcia, Tilbury ; Marg6ret, married E . Brcc>hey, 2 
chlldren, Bonnie and Gary, Blenheim; Charles Jr., married Gwen Watson, 
2 cflildren, Susan and Ricky, Brant!ord; Audrey, married B. Mayhew, 3 
chlldren, Heather, Lona and Tommy, Comber; Kenneth, married Ann 
Richardson, London; Glen was in the Air Force and Charles Jr. was 
In the navy. Their !lrst car was an Overland, and first tractor a Happy 
Farmer. 

Frank Gifford famlly.-Frank married Beatrice Shepley. Frank 
wu klUed in 1!04 in the elevator at Glenwood; Beatrice, dJed 1957. They 
had one dauf.~~· Hazel (Mrs. Morley Carr> and one son, Avery, of 
North Bay. 1 has one son and one daughter and Avery 1 daughter 
and 2 .sons. 

Wm. Blake famlly.-Wm. Blake, born In England, March 18, 
1B7J, dled on his birthday, March 18, 1959, 8'7 years of age. His wife, 
Martha M. Bl.!lhop, Dover Township, born September 10, 1878, dJed July 
4, 1957, 79 years of age. They were married September 1, 1sg'7, and 
came to Glenwood from Chatham 1901, returning to Chatham in 1954. 
'lbey had 3 daughters, Violet and Edna, single, o! Chatham, and Doris 
(Mrs. Frank C. Wiggle) of Windsor. Mr. Blake was a home boy from 
Ena!and. While he •fanned he was one of the highly honoured registered 
seed JTOWers. He won many prizes In several falrs. 

Alex Mlfilin famlly.-Alex dJed November 21., 1940, and his wlfe, 
Hattie Osborne, now lives ln ~erlln. They had 2 daughters, Eva, Mrs. 
Fred Moore, 1 son and 1 daughter, Independance, Missouri; and Lila, Mrs. 
Tony Algiers, Merlin. 

Roy Atkinson family--Roy married Edith Jane Ferguson, nurse 
of Manitoulin Ialand, 1932. They now Jive ln Blenheim and thelr farnlly: 
Henry Ferguson, born 1934, married, has one daughter and he teaches 
Industrial Arta 1rt 'l'Ulaonburg High School; Robert Cornelius graduated 
from Blenheim High School In a special commercial course and now 
worlcB for Canadian Rock Selt Co., Clarkson, Ont; Janice Marjorie grad· 
uated from Blen:helm High, trained at !Metropolitan Hospital, Windsor, 
poaduating as a Registered Nurse In 1958. She ls now a member of the 
staff ot Oakville General Hospital. 

The Hasson family-Bill Hasson died 1953 and Mrs. Hasson In 
1945. Their family: Alfred George, two boys, Ridgetown. Alfred was 
kflled ln World War ll In Belgium, November 1944; Wm. Douglas ,one 
Jlrl, Cllatharn, Beverley Alexandra, died 1947; Peter Archie, one boy one 
K1rl. Ble~m; Twins, Oliver James, no family, Charlni Cross, and Olive 
~y CM&lott) five children, Wheatley; Dorothy Jean (Bennett), five 
~· Charlng Cross; Gladys and Tommy died when children; Harold 
"~• ftve children, Kingsville. 

Johnny Hope !arnlly by Mabel Albrecht-Johnny was born May 
19, 1862, son ot Wm. Hope and Martha Hancock, and came !rom Upper 
~nada, Laura Ann Scott born July 19, 1872, daughter of John Scott and 
... rah 'Mason of Edwardsburg County of Greenville, Ont., were married 
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February 11, 1891, and to them were born three girls: Mabel May, June 10, 
1895, married Let> Albre-cht, February 12, 1919. They had one son Kingsley 
J :>hn, born February 3, 1921; Edythe Fern born January 5, 1901, married 
CliHord Ferguson, June 25, 1930, who is an undertaker and has a furni· 
ture store in Leamington; Ida is single and is a Registar Postal Clerk In 
Leamington. Mr. Hope d'ej April 7, 1936 and Mrs. Hope, December 30, 
1950. Lee A:brecht died March 29. 1937. Kingsley joined the Air Force In 
1942 and spant four years in service. On October 11, 1946 he married 
Irene Brown of Wheatley and they have two girls, Betty Anne and 
Kathleen Doris. Mr. Hope was Sunday School Superintendent for a 
number of years in the Methodist Church of Glenwood. He also served 
several years in the Township Council and was the first one to have a 
car In Glenwood, a 1910 Studebaker. 

Hiram Lloyd famlly- Hlram L!oyd born February 13, 1862 at 
Aurora, Ont., married Elizabeth Mancell born October 8, 1871 at Bridge 
Inn (now Kent Centre)). Hiram died February 2, 193! and his wife on 
December 26, 1938. Their family: Ethel (Mrs. James Simons) born July 
5, 1891, died March 27. 1945, one daughter; John Leslie born February 28, 
1896, died September 1899; Wm. Earl, husband of Gladys Ball, born March 
2, 1898, died January 12, 1961, one boy, one girl; Perc;v Lyall, hus1>and of 
Annie Plank. born April 5, 1900, two girls, one boy; EdJth Irene (Mrs. Alex 
Robertson) , March 27, 1902, one girl; Clarence Garnet, husband of Marion 
M:sner, born July 5, 1904; Ivan Mancell, husband of Edna Kearns, born 
September 27, 1~. one boy, one girl; Viola Eve1een (Mrs. Robert Ford), 
born June 7, 1911, one girl. 

Garnet Hope family-Carnet born May 25, 1910, husband of 
Gertrude Patterson, July 29, 1912. Their family: Hazel (!Mrs. Wm. Gif· 
ford), Merlin, born September 13, 1930, one girl Linda; Carlyle born De· 
cember 2, 1931, husband of Joan Bradbury, Leamington; Donald and 
Donna, born September 26, 1935. Donald married Carol Hayes, one boy, 
Tilbury, and Donna, school teacher, married Ken Sk'lnner, Coatsworth ; 
George, January 5, 1947; Bryan, May 19, 1949; Ronnie June 23, 1956. Gar· 
net Is a contractor and has built several quansit barns. Tenants who have 
lived in thls house: Archie Goodall, 1936; Isidor Thurston, 1931·32; Mike 
Burike, 1933-34; John VanBuren, 1935; Dick Sampson. 1935; Garnet Hope, 
1940. 

Charles Marshall family by Walter Marshall, Port Alma- Mr. 
and Mrs. Charles Henry Marshall came to Glenwood, December 30, 1900, 
from Merlin. They first lived just north of railway on Lot 9, in a log 
house, faMned there until 1907. They then moved to Lot 13, Con. 13, now 
tlhe Ford Bros. farm, lived there until 1914 When they moved to Badder· 
town tor slx months. They then moved back to Glenwood on Lot 10, Con. 
14, now owned by George Armstrong. Whlle l!vlng here Mr. Marshall 
worked for the Unjon Gas Co. Charles Henry Marshall was born March 
22, 1870, Raleigh Township, and he married Linda Hope, born September 
20, 1875, Tilbury East Township. They were married June 18, 1902, and 
their family: Helen, born 1903, married Stanley Lethbridge, 1936, one son 
Murray. Stanley Is a fleld.man for Union Gas Co.; Walter born 1~. 
married Elizabeth Jane Crewe, 1956. Walter served in the Royal Canadian 
Air Force as an instructor during World Warn and is now plant foreman 
for the Union Gas Oo.; Archle, born 1910, single; employed by Union Gas 
Co. as a rod machine operator; Florence, born 1914, married Webur 
Peters, 1933, and they have four boys, one girl, having lost a little girl 
in 1955. They now llve In Oakdale where he is a tleldman for Union Gas 
Co. in the Dawn division; Marjory, born 1916, died 1920. Mrs. Marshall 
passed away ln her 66th year in 1941. Deatn was caused from an auto 
accident on the way to Chatham. Mr. Marshall passed away in his 82nd 
year, 1955, at Port Alma. 
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Wm. Innes lived at Lot 6, Con. 14. He married Lottie Tasker and 
they now five In Leamington. They had three sons: WllUam died In 1957, 
and twins Carlyle and Lyle. Carlyle, married, has two girls and lives In 
Klnpvllle, Lyle Jives In Leamington. 

Wellington Mlftlln tarnily- Welllngton born 1882 died 1943, hls 
w:fe Betsy Tasker, born 1886, died 1937. Their fam.lly: Olive born 1907 
(i)(rs. Clifton Brown) Glenwood; Margaret, born 1g].5 <Mrs. Olmar Pat· 
rick), Rkigetown. 

Charlie Simons family-Charlie married Sara Gudgeon. Sara died 
1M\. The!r family: Philip, and Joyce a nurse. They all Uve In London. 

Hugh Dawson famlly--Jiugh Dawson married Bernice Hardie 
of Baddertown. Their family: Gerald married Agnes Charlton, two girls; 
Kenneth married Marion Ford, two children, Baddertown; Gloria, Mrs. 
John Rowe, school teacher, Lambeth. 

Jlm Gudgeon family-His wile dled In England and the rest 
came to Canada about 1915. They had three daughters: Sarah, Beckie and 
Sis. He then marr'ied Sarah Simons and they had slx sons: Edward, 
Arthur, Bill, Jack, Ted and Art. Jim Gudgeon and his daughter Sarah 
nave passed away. 

Roy Mills famly-'Roy Mills married Nettle Tasker and their 
family, one son deceased; Connie (!Mrs. Ordo Trembly), Oldcastle, two 
boys, alx glrla, one deceased; Alta (Mrs. Merle Miller), Wallaceburg, two 
boys, one girl; Nettle had a leg amputated In the spring of 1962 due to 
suear diabetes poisoning; Roy d ied December 2, 1957. 

Family of Jerry Haskell-Jerry married the oldest daughter of 
Tbomu Tuker, Maud. They had six children: Thomas married Beatrice 
Moore, three boys and one girl, and live ln Windsor; Leila married 
WWlam Shepley of Blenheim, three girls, one boy; Douglas married 
Fern Tasker, four boys, one girl, two deceased, they Jive near Rldgetown; 
MaJgle married Burns Renwick, three boys; Walter married Cora Rem· 
tqton. Blenheim, one boy, one girl, and they Jive In Bletl'helm; Uldean 
married Gerard Derkens and they have three girls and one boy. 

Augustus Smith family by Mrs. Russell Chase--This family llved 
In a houae next to the Orange Hall. It burned down about 1918. Augustus 
Smith married Lilly Enuna Smith who was born In Bath, England, Aug· 
uat 9, 1883. She died November 'n, 1915. Their family: Eliza Smith, born 
In Merlin, November 25, 1901, married Russell Chase. They now live in 
Wheatley. Eliza had two half sisters and half brothers as follows: 
.Mice Smith born March 11, 1910, married Carl McCracken C1f Wheatley; 
.Mae Smith married Arthur Dutfln of Honeywood, Ont. She is superivsor 
of a hoepttal at Shelburne and lives at Hornlngs Mills. Their son, Billy, 
wu klDed by a fal.ftng tree at the age of 18, in 1956, and they have a son 
Paul; Harry Smlth whereabouts unknown; Vernie Smith served In the 
navy 1946-47, married Cynthia MCMann, three children and a step· 
dau&'hter, Wendy 18 years. Verna 3 and Debra 6 months. Arter Lilly Smith 
died ln 191.!5, the children went to dU!erent homes to llve. Eliza llved with 
the Albrecht famlly untfl she married and t!ten she took the rest of the 
chDdren to live With them until they grew up. 

Family of Eliza Smith by Mrs. Russell Chase--.Eliza Smith 
married Russell Chase of Blytheswood, October 3, 1922, and they now live 
ln Wheatley. 'lbey have !!ve children: Louise married carl Reid of Wlnd-
80r and they have two children, Shelley and Laurie. They now llve in 
Guelph and she is nursing at St. J oseph's Hospital; Dorothy married 
Charles Mathews of Windsor and they have four chttdl'en, Penny, Pamela, 
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David and Susan; Delbert Sterling married Gloria Girard of Merlin and 
they have three children: Judy, Mark, Michael. They live In Detroit where 
he Is a meat cutter for a supermarket; Allen married Marina Anderson of 
Honeywood, Ont. They have three children : Heather, Danny, David. They 
live in Waverly, Nova Scotia. Allen Is a chief second class in the navy, 
also a frog man and has been In the navy over eleven years. Danny lost 
hls right eye when a stick flew from a power lawn mower. Joyce married 
James Cobby of Wheatley and they have two children, Donald and Linda. 

Family of Thomas Tasker- Thomas was born in Baddertown on 
the Joyce farm. He married Allee Hunt and they had one ch1ld, 'Maud. 
Her mother died when she was three years old. Thomas later married 
Annie Haskell, December 3, 1890. Thomas Tasker, born February 2, 1861, 
died January 9, 1939, and hls wife Annie, born September 1, 1872, died 
February 5, 1944. Their family: Maud, born September 18, 1884, married 
Jerry Haskell, ten children, four deceased; Margaret born October 28, 
1891, married Edward Garrison, ten children, five deceased; Nellie, born 
March 7, 1894, married Charles Ludwl~. six children, one deceased ; Nettie 
born August 28, 1897, married Roy Mills, three chlldren, one deceased; 
Walter born August 5, 1901, married Queenie Simons, two daughters. 

The Shelmk family-H. S. Shelmk died 1945, his wife Elizabeth 
Recker, died 1960. Their family: Agnes, single; Lenord, married, Detroit ; 
Ruth (!Mrs. Ernest Authier) three boys, one girl; Fred, two girls, one boy, 
Leamington; Hilda (Mrs. Wagner) two boys, two girls, Windsor; Rosane 
('Mrs. Authier) 5 boys, 2 girls; Harold, 3 girls, Windsor. 

Eddie Garrison family---Eddie married Margaret Tasker who 
died In 1933. They had ten children, four now living. Clayton married 
Ruby Elder, Chatham, one boy, one girl; Robert married Anne Clouthier, 
Chalk River, one girl, three boys; Margaret (Mrs. Jim McLean), Tilbury, 
three boys; Murray married Ethel Allen, St. Thomas, two boys, two girls. 

Joe Haskell famlly-..Toe Haskell married Libby Anderson who 
died about 1906, and they had three children: Ester, Clarence, Millard. 
Then Joe married Minnie Ellis and they had seven children: Nelson, 
!della, Elgin, Evert, Ross, Millie and Gladys. 

James Simons tamlly-..Tames Simons, born 1900, and Ethel Lloyd 
born July 5, 1891, were married 1922. They have one daughter, Hazel, 
Ethel died March 27, 1945. They now live In Sarnia. 

Homer Bertrand family by Orville Bertrand-Homer Bertrand, 
born May 24, 1879, died June 20, 1950. His wife, Allxe, born January 24, 
1886, died October 19, 1957. They were married In 1900, and moved here 
in March 1916 from Kankakee, lll. Their family: Hornor, born 1904, died 
1913; Orville, born August S. 1907, at Kankakee, Ill., married Eva Authier 
April 27, 1927 and they have four children: Geraldine, Robert, Jean and 
Joyce; Elmer born December 27, 1908, marned Beatrice Kouture In 1930. 
Their family: Elinor, William, Elmer Jr., Jack, Mary Lee, Nancy, Jimmy. 
They live In Elk Rapids, Mich.; Theresa, born February 24, 1914, married 
Paul VanLerberghe In 1933 and their family, Ross and Dale, live In Wake­
man, Ohio. The Bertrand family moved from Glenwood In 1930. 

Carnell Authier family by Orval Bertrand-Camlel, born 1865, 
died 1939, had a f.amlly of eighteen. First marriage: five children: Maft'le, 
Lena, Charlie, Olive, Lewis. Second marriage (!Mary Moron) thirteen 
children: Delhi, Fred, Author, Ernest, Eva, Joe, Albert, Edgar, Irene. 
Four died when young. 

Joseph Albrecht family by Mabel Phe}ps--Mr. and Mrs. Joseph 
Albrecht moved to Glenwood, March 13, 1913, from Ohio, niinols, bOUihl 
300 acres of land for $32,100.00. The Straus Land Co. had built a new 
house and barn, Lot 11, Con. 12, where they lived. On this lot was a very 
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IQOd log house u5ed as a work shop. On the west 50 was another log 
liouse. Mabel and. Harry lived there until about 1920. To Joseph and 
Enuna Albrecht was born two boys and two girls, Marla and Peter re· 
malned In the States, Lee and Mabel came here with them. Lee married 
Mabel Hope, 1919 and had one son Kingsley. Mabel married Harry Phelps 
1916 and they had one son Cllrford. 

The Arthur Kearns family- Arthur Kearns, born In 1885, and 
Elizabeth Rlrehle, born 1889, were married In the year 1913 at St. 
Peters Parish. They had two daughters and three sons: Edna married 
Ivan Lloyd in 1932. they have one son. Douglas, and one daughter, Judy; 
~married Mary Morris In 1945, they have seven chlldl'en: Gayle, 
Carole, J,m, John, Anne, Barbara, Mlke; Alva married Joe Robertson, 
18, they bave two daughters, Patricia and Karen; Joe married Lois 
Hanklneon, 1951, they have tour children: Joan, Kathy, Margaret and 
Ruth; Mark married Maureen Hoy, 1945, they have two sons, Carl and 
Larry. Arthur died In 1960. Mrs. Kearns and Mark died In 1961, just one 
week apart. 

Farnlly o1 Morley Carr-Morley Carr, son of Mr. and Mrs. EO­
ward Carr ol Glenwood, and Hazel Gifford, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. 
Frank GHford of Glenwood, were married, November, 1938, at Romney 
Parsonqe. They have one son, Douglas born February 1943, and one 
daughter, Carol born Febraury, 1957. 

Russell Lancaster-4tussell Lancaster, son of Mr. and Mrs. 
Georp Lancaster o! North Ely, Quebec, and Doris Lloyd, daughter of Mr. 
and Mrs. Wm. Lloyd of Glenwood, were married April, 1947, at Montreal, 
Quebec. They have three sons: Bryon, born 194.7; Ralph, born 1949; Paul 
born 1952. 

Shurley Lloyd--Shurley Lloyd, born November 7, 1926, son of 
Gladys and Wm. Lloyd o! Glenwood, and Anne Huckulack, born Decem­
ber 19, 1924, daughter of Mary and Dymtro Huckulack o! Tilbury, were 
married, June 22, 1946, at the United Church parsonage, Tilbury. They 
have one son Wllllam Michael, born, October 14, 1959, also a daughter 
Sherry Marie, born, November 11, 1961. Shurley died by an accident, No· 
vember 16, 1962. 

William Lloyd famJJy- Wm. Lloyd, son of Eliza and Hiram 
Lloyd, and Gladys Ball, cmughter of Maud and Nelson Bail, were married 
December 2, 19120. They had one daughter, Doris ('Mrs. Russell Lancaster) 
md one son, Shurley. Wiillam died January 16, 1961 

Harry Phelps by Mabel Phelps-Harry Phelps married Mabel 
A!Jrectlt, 1916, and had one son Clifford Dale, 1917. CliUord joined the 
Royal Canadian Air Force, 1942, served four years, of which two years 
and nine months was spent overseas. A!ter the war Harry Phel.<ps and 
Son, Butldl.rrg Contractors, Leamington, was formed on July 6, 1951. The 
ICatfoldlng broke whlle shingling the Unlted Church parsonage. Harry 
ClWord, and Ross Sheldon were thrown to the ground. Mr. Sheldon lived 
one week, Harry had his spinal cord severed and lived three weeks, dying 
July 27,195.1. Cll!ford was In ·a cast from his waist to his chin, lour broken 
and crushed vertebrae, from July to December, and Is now recovered. 

Joseph Shepley by Mrs. Morley Carr~oseph Shepley, one of the 
tint settlers in Glenwood was born February 3, 1847, and died, January 
1114. In 1870 he married· Annie P. Hetherington who was born May 3, 
185'7 and died December 16, 1927. To them were born: James W. Shepley, 
born January 13. 1871, died July 28, 1885; Mrs. Alex Newham (Hannah J.) 
~October 4.18'72, died February 24, 1959; Mrs. C. W. McKenzie (Agnes 
-.) born February 24, 1874, died March 18, 196C2; Joseph A. born March 

1!!.
11, 1876; John W. born January 23, 1878, died February 6, 1954 ; Michael 

·born August 25, 1880, d:ied June 6, 1946; ~tell I. E. born August 27. 
1882, died, February 28, 1944; Roy R., born August 25, 1884, died Novem· 
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ber 10. 1914. Roy married Pearl Haskell; Mrs. Robert Clark (Annie G. E.) 
born July 16, 1886, died May 28, 1954; Andrew E. born December 19, 1888; 
'Mrs. Ernest Claridge <Maude I. H.> born June 16, 1800, dled November 10, 
1960; Mrs. Frank Gifford (Beatrice E.) born July 11, 1893, died October 
11, l!bl. Alter Frank died, Beatrice married Wm. Branton. 

Rene VanDeWynckel family-Rene born, January 31, 1894, and 
Clarisse Martens, born November 16, 1900, were married at St. Lawrence, 
Belgium, May 12, 1921, and to them were born : Odlyn, born In Belgium, 
March 3, 1922; Alice born In Belg:um, November 29, 1923; CyrU, born In 
Eberts, Ont., June 24, 1926; Robert born In Eberts, Ont., June 16, 1929; 
Jean born In Glenwood, December 29, 1937; Francis (stUJborn) 1939. Mr. 
and Mrs. Van.OeWynckel, along with two children, landed In Charlng 
Cross station at 6 o'clock on the night of April 17, 1924, and stayed at 
Cryall Ramfore's a short time the first year in this country. They worked 
for Mr. Blackburn on No. 2 Highway near Chatham. 'n\e next year they 
worke<l 50 acres on shares for Percy Dutf near Louisville, then rented 
130 acres from Alex Lanagon near Eberts for eleven years. They then 
moved to Glenwood. Mr. VanDeWynckel has been back to Belgium three 
times and on two trips he was accompanied by his wife. Mr. and Mrs. 
VanDeWynckel still remember the horrors of the first World War when 
they were mistreated on several occasions. Mrs. VanDeWynckel's 
brother's wife was hit by poisoned shrapnel, her husband get her to the 
hospital and came back In three days to see her. By this time she had died 
and was burled. Also four cousins were all killed at the same time when 
the Germans blew up a barn they were ln. Since coming to Glenwood they 
have bought 500 acres of land, also 200 acres at Crommerty, and a cold 
storage business In Merlin. In ftle first part of 1963 t'hey sold the land 
and business to their sons and now Uve retired. 

niE CHURCH:-

Before 1800, the first religious services in Glenwood were held 
on the tour comers In the open, by the Salvation Army. There were some 
salvationists living here and some would come out from Chatham by 
horse and buggy. Later In the year, and when the weather got cold, the 
services were held In one of the stave sheds. Some sel'Vfces were held 1n 
the homes by the Baptists. About this time, Lemuel Edwards built a work 
shop with a 2nd floor. After It was flnlshed, both denominations held 
their services there. Thls shop was behind the first house north of the 
railway and was torn down In A~ril, 1962. On October 13, 1893, a meeting 
was held In Mr. Andrew Gllbert s house about building a church. There 
were Methodists, Baptists, Salvatloni&ts and Presbyterians. They discuss· 
ed a union church, but flnaHy decided on a Methodist Church. Mr. John 
Chester donated the land, Lot 9, Con. 14, (now Bev Gray's), ftle location 
about 30 rods east from the tour corners on the south side. In May, 1895, 
the building was completed. The trustees appointed at that time were: 
John Chester, Thomas Shields, Austin Bradt, George Bradt, Abraham 
Dawson, George Hillman and Wm. F . Smith, all now deceased. Adjoining 
the back of the church was a large dining hall, across rhe back 
adjoining the hall and up the opposite side of the church was a long 
shed tor horses and buggies. In 1927, It was decided to move the 
church to Its preaerrt site which was donated by t!le EStabrook family. 
At that time, the church was made larger and the trustees were: 
Leslie Ml.mln, Robert Glttord, John Annstrong, Christopher Armstrong, 
Ridley Chester, and George Gl!tord, all now deceased, and H. E. 
Webster and Charles Ludwig, who are still Hvlng. The work was 
started on April 2, 1928, and a re-<>penlng service was held on September 
23 the same year. The present otflcers are: Elders: Beverley Gre,y. 
Nelson Annstrong, Charles MlUlln, Percy Lloyd and Wm Marls. 
Stewards: Bob Ford, Nelson Annstrong, Lyle Smith and Ernie Payne. 
Present mlnl$ter: Rev. Davtd AMen. 
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1b1a 1a a record or the ministers who have served this 
community: 

July 1894--July 1895----aev. Mahlon P lckard, pastor. 
July 1894-July 1895-A. E . Lloyd, junior pastor. 
July 1895-July a896-.Rev. Plckard, A. W. Dever. 
July 1896-1897-Rev. S . M. MoVitty, R. C. Carscallan. 
189't-1~Rev. s. M. McVItty, Thos. St('adman. 
1~1899----Rev. S. M. McVItty, Stanley Shaw. 
1899-----1900-IRev. J . C. Reid. 
1900-19Q2-.Rev. James Walker. 
10--1903----.Rev. A. E. M. Thomson, C. W . McKenzie. 
191B--190;>-....Jtev. Thomson. 
1e-19Q8-.Rev. W. H . Gaylor. 
l!KB-19ll~v. Allen H . Brown. 
1911-191~Rev. W. R . Vance. 
191!>-191&--lRev. Albert V. Walden, S. E. Edworthy. 
1916--1917-----.Rev. Walden, Sidney Hewitt. 
1917-1918----Rev. Arthur Page. 
1918-1921-Rev. S. M. Sweetman. 
!IICn- 1922-----.Rev. W. J . Maines. 
19'a-1923-Rev. L. C. Harvey. 
1923-1924---4Rev. Irving Kaine. 
1M-1925--Rev. C. E. Beacom. 
192!>-19'J6-.....Rev. J . F . Gilbert. 
1---...1929--Jtev. R. N. Stewart. 
l!ra9-1930--JRev. P . E. James. 
1~1934-Rev. F. A. Bunt. 
19:M--1936-ftev. T. G. Hussar. 
1936-1940--Rev. H . A. Bandy. 
~1944--JRev. C. L. Couzens. 
19H-1948-Rev. Clarke. 
19418---1952--Rev. S. R. Cooper. 
19ei2-1955-.Rev. Barrett. 
Auaust to September, 1955-Don Hooker (supply). 
1~1956---Rev. Gandler. 
19!i6--19M-Rev. Tristram. 
195&-1961~v. Wilkinson. 
1981-.>resent-----.Rev. David Allen. 

In 1894 Andrew Gilbert buUt a house on which Is the church 
yard, north side of church, between the church and Percy Gray's house. 
ln the year 1002, this house was moved to NY4 of Lot 9, Concession 13, 
now owned and oocupled by Mr. and Mrs. Roy Seal. 

'l'ZACHERS- S.S. No. 8, TILBURY EAST 

1897-Sept. 17 to Dec. 31 
1898--Jan. 1 to Dec. 31 
1899-.Jan. 1 to Dec. 31 
190().....Jan. 1 to Dec. 81 
1901-Jan. 1 to Dec. 31 
lQ......lan. 1 to June 30 
1Q Sept. 1 to Dec. 31 
1Q.....,Jan. 1 to Dec. 31 
~an. 1 to Dec. 31 
10--Jan. 1 to June 30 
~pt. 1 to Dec. 31 
l~an. 1 to Dec. 31 
190'7-Jan. 1 to Dec. 31 
1~an. 1 to Dec. 31 
1909-Jan. 1 to Dec. 31 

Mr. W. C. Scott ....................................... .$ 125.00 
Mr. W . C. Scott ...................................... 300.00 
Miss Mary E. Gordon ·······················-····· 240.00 
Miss Mary E . Gordon .............................. 270.00 
Miss Mar<y E. Scott ·····-·······-···-··········· 300.00 
Miss Mary E. Scott .............................. 170.00 
Miss M. E . Payne ···-·············-···········-··· 130.00 
Miss Louise Palmer ·····-·····--··-·····-····· 300.00 
Miss Louise Palmer ···-····- ·--············ 325.00 
Miss Louise Palmer ·······················-····· 202.37 
Miss VIolet Lowry ·················-········-··· 147.63 
Miss Violet Lowry .............................. 400.00 
Miss E . Stella May ···················-············· 375.00 
Miss Myrtle McQueen ·····················--··· 400.00 
Miss Myrtle McQueen ............................ 400.00 
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1910--J'an. 1 to Dec. 31 Mr. Charles Doey .................................. 500.00 
1911~an. 1 to Dec. 31 Mr. Charles Doey ................................ 505.00 
1912-Jan. 1 to June 30 Mr. Charles Doey .................................. 350.00 
1912-Sept. 1 to June 30 M:ss Annie MacDonald ........................ 550.00 
1913-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Annie MacDonald ·············--······· 600.00 
1914-Sept. 1 to June 30 Lena Hyland ·······························-·········· 600.00 
1915-Sept. 1 to June 30 Lena Hyland ............................................ 625.00 
1916-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Maggiebelle McEarther ............ 575.00 
1917- Sept. 1 to June 30 M!ss Etta Salton .................................... 650.00 
1918-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Elizabeth Arnold ........................ 682.50 
1919-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Elizabeth MacLennan ................ 835.00 
1919-5 weeks at Christmas Miss Willis .............. -................................. 104.50 
1920-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Ellza•beth MacLennan .................. 1100.00 
1921-Sept. 1 to Dec. 31 Miss Mary McKinley ............................ 440.00 
1922-Jan. 1 to Jan. 31 M.ss Nonna Whitall ....................... _... 110.00 
1922-Feb. 1 to Apr. 30 Miss Annie Robinson ............................ 268.16 
1922--May 1 to June 30 Mr. George Edwards ............................ 220.00 
1922-Sept. 1 to June 30 Mr. Fred Herr ........................................ 1100.00 
1~ 1 to June 30 Miss Ruth MCLeod .................................. 1000.00 
1924-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Ruth McLeod ................................. 1100.00 
192:>-Sept. 1 to June 30 Mr. Andrew Burnfield .......................... 1000.00 
1926-Sept. 1 to June 30 Mr. Andrew Burnfleld ............................ 1100.00 
1927-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Marlon Misener .............................. 1000.00 
1928--Sept. 1 to June 30 Mlss !Marion Misener .............................. 1000.00 
1929-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Beula Hlllman ............................ 1000.00 
1930-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Beula Hillman ............................ 1000.00 
1931-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Florence Mervin .......................... 800.00 
1932-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Florence Mervin .......................... 800.00 
193.1-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Kathleen Doyle ........... -............... 500.00 
1934---Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Dorothy Hare .............................. 600.00 
1935-Sept. 1 to June 30 Mlss Dorothy Hare ................................ 700.00 
1936-Sept. 1 to June 30 Mlss Dorothy Hare ................................ 700.00 
1937-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Dorothy Hare ................................ 900.00 
1938-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Dorothy Hare, plus superan. .... 900.00 
1939---Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Dorothy Hare ................................ 1000.00 
1940-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Dorothy Hare ................................ 1000.00 
1941-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Marjorie White ... _ .................... -... 850.00 
1942-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Marjorie White ........................ 1000.00 
1943---Sept. 1 to June 30 Mrs. Marjorie Sunpson ............ -............. 1300.00 
1.944---Sept. 1 to June 30 Mrs. Marjorie Simpson ........... _ .. ,_....... 1400.00 
1945-Sept. 1 to June 30 Mrs. Marjorie Simpson ........................ 1500.00 
1946-Sept. 1 to June 30 Mrs. Marjorie Simpson ........................ 1550.00 
1947-Sept. 1 to June 30 Mrs. Marjorie Simpson ... - ................... 1800.00 
1948--Sept. 1 to June 30 Mrs. Marjorie Simpson ........................ 2000.00 
1949-Sept. 1 to June 30 Mrs. Gwen Gray .................................... tn.OO.OO 
1950-Sept. 1 to June 30 Mrs. Gwen Gray ....................... _ ........... 2200.00 
1951--Sept. 1 to June 30 Mrs. Gwen Gray .................................... 2400.00 
1952--Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Isabel Patterson ................... - ....... 2400.00 
1953-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Isabel Patterson ........... _ ........... 2600.00 
1954--&pt. 1 to June 30 Miss Shirley Spence ............................ 2200.00 
1955-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Shirley Spence ............................ a600.00 
1.956--Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Eleanor Powell .............................. 2600.00 
1957-Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss Joanne Stephens ........................ 2400.00 
1958-Sept. 1 to June 30 Mrs. Audrey Dawson ....................... -.... 3300.00 
1959--Sept. 1 to June 30 Miss D. MoMlllan-Mrs. D. Wardle .. 2900.00 
1960--Sept. 1 to April 30 Mrs. Donna Wardle .................. - ........... 3100.00 
1961-J\f.a.y 1 to June 30 Mrs. Marlon Payne ............ _ ... per day 19.00 
1961-Sept. 1 to June 30 Mrs. Donna Wardle ..................... _ ..... . 
1962---Sept. 1 to June 30 Mrs. Glendenning ............................... . 

Ed. Foxton, Janltor, 1897- for $8.00. 

56 



TRUSTEES S.S. No. 8, TILBURY EAST 

Chairman Secretary 
18P7- Danlel Brown. Isaac Ainslie W. C. Estabrook 
189S-Daniel Brawn, Isaac AlMI1e W. C. Estabrook 
189&-Danlel Brown, Isaac Ainslie W. C. Estabrook 
1900-.Danlel Brown and John Jubenville, Isaac Ainslie W. C. Estabrook 
1lMll-John JUbenville, H . S. Uoyd W. C. Estabrook 
19al--.David Mulligan, H. S. Lloyd W. C. Estabrook 
1~avld Mulligan, Chris Armstrong, H . S. Uoyd W . C. Estabrook 
190l--H. S. Uoyd, Chris Armstrong W . C. Estabrook 
1905-Wm. Blake, Chris Armstrong H . S . Uoyd 
19()6.-...Chrls Armstrong, Wm. Blake H. S. Lloyd 
19C17- Wm. Blake, Chris Armstrong H. S. Lloyd 
11K8-'nloma.s Tasker, Wm. Blake H . S. Uoyd 
1909-'nlomas Tasker, Chris Armstrong H . S. Lloyd 
191~Thomas Thsker, Chris Armstrong H . S . Uoyd 
1911-Thomas •Tasker, Chris Armstrong H. S. Lloyd 
1912-'nlomas Tasker, Peter McGee H. S . Lloyd 
1913--Thomas Tasker, Peter MoGee H . S . Lloyd 
1914-Jean Gilford, Rdbcrt Gifford H. S. Uoyd 
191S-.Jean Gifford, Robert Gitford H . S. Uoyd 
1916---Jean Gilford, Robert Gifford H . S. Lloyd 
1917~obert Gifford, Jean Gifford H. S. Lloyd 
191.8-Robert Gifford, Edward Carr H. S. Lloyd 
1919-R.obert Gifford, Edward Carr H. S. Lloyd 
1920-Robert Gifford, Edward Carr H . S. Lloyd 
1921--Robert Gifford, Edward Carr H. S. Lloyd 
191D-R<i>ert GiUord, Edward Carr H. S. Lloyd 
1923--Robert: Gifford, George Estabrook H. S. Lloyd 
1924---George Estabrook, Rooert Gi.tford H. S. Lloyd 
1925--(;eorge Estabrook (6 mos. ) P. Ludwig, Harold Gardiner, R. GIUord 
1JD&.......HMoJd Gardiner, Ridley Chester Robert Gilford 
191'l7-Harold Gardiner, Ridley Chester Robert Gl!tord 
1928--Harold Gardiner, Ridley Chester Robert Gifford 
1929--Harold Gardiner, Ridley Chester Robert Gifford 
1930-Harold Gardiner, R . Chester, Alex Innis (sec. only) R. Gifford 
19al.-1Udley Ohe&U!r, Alex Innis, Ed Carr Robert GiUord 
~ldley Chester, Alex Innis, lli Carr Robert Gifford 
1~ Innis, Ed Carr, Nelson Armstrong Robert Gifford 
1964--A:lex Innis, Ed Carr, Nelson Armstrong Robert Gl!tord 
1935--.A.lex lnnis, Ed Carr, Nelson Armstrong Robert Gl!ford 
1.936-.Ed Carr, Nelson Armstrong, Walt Tasker Robert Gifford 
1137-F..d Carr, Nelson Amnstrong, Walt Tasker Robert Gilford 
~ Carr, Walter Tasker, Percy Lloyd Robert Gltford 
1939-Ed Carr, Walter Tasker, Percy Lloyd Robert Gifford 
liMO-Percy Lloyd, Walter Tasker, Nelson Armstrong Robert Gilford 

(1940 paid sec. $15.00) 
lMl-Walter Tasker, Harold Gardiner, Nelson Armstrong R. Gifford 
1M2-No Election (war measure, old officers to carry on) 
1943--Harold Gardiner, Walter Tasker, Nelson Armstrong R Gifford 
19M----H. Gardiner, W. Tasker, Harry Brown (salary $25) R. Glfflord 
19t6--;Walter Tasker, Harry Brown. Harold Gardiner R. Gifford 
1946--Harry Brown, H. Gardiner, Archie Brown (981. $30) R. Gifford 
1M7--Harold Gardiner, Archie Brown, Morley Qarr R . GiUord 
~rchle Brawn, Morley carr. Nelson Armstrong (sal. $50) R. Gilford 
~Brown, Morley Carr, Nelson Armstrong R. Gillard 
1950--Archle Brawn, Morley carr, Nelson Armstrong N. Armstrong 
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1951-Archle Brown, Morley Carr, Robt. Ford 
1952--.'Morley Carr, Robt. Ford. Archie Brown 
1953--Robt. Ford, Arehie Brown, Morley Carr 
1954---.Arehle Brown, Morley Carr, Robt. F'ord 
1955--1.'\forley Carr, Rd>t. Ford, Archje Carr 
1956--Robt. Ford, Arehie Brown, Fred Piche 
1957--.Archie Brown, Fred· Piche, John Gifford 
1958-Fred Piche, John Gtflord, Archie Brown 
~ohn Gillard, Archie Brown, Fred Piche 
1960-Archle Brown, Fred Piche, John Gifford 
1961-Fred Piche, John Glllord, Archie Brown 

CO.'\tMUNITY HALL:-

Nels on Armstron2 
Nelson Armstrong 
Nelson Armstrong 
Netson Armstrong 
Nelson Armstrong 
Nelson Armstrong 
Nelson Armstrong 
Nelson Armstrong 
Nelson Armstrong 
Nelson Armstrong 
Nelson Armstrong 

On February 12, 1946, a meeting of the men of Glenwood Com· 
munlty was held In the laboratory of the Dominion Gas Co. Garnet Lloyd 
was elected chairman. He explained that a building approxlmately 20' by 
50' belonging to the Federal and Provincial Government, located at Valetta 
uaed as a dormitory .t.or the Japanese labourers dunng the war, was to be 
disposed of. James Garner, Agricultural Rep., asswned this building 
could be purchased for $400.00 provided it would be bought .for a com· 
munlty hall. Percy Gray offered to sell a lot south of the church .for $75.00 
and that be and his two sons would donate the $75.00 toward the project. 
In order to raise money tor the project, the chalrrnan then asked those 
to stand who would donate $25.00. These wer~: Garnet Lloyd, Morley Carr, 
Charles Mifflin, Percy Lloyd, Arthur Benge, Nelson Tasker, George 
Piche, Wm. T. Graham, Wm. Lloyd, Cecil Phelps, Charles Bear, Wm. 
Gifford. Robert Ford, Archie Brown, Percy Gray, Beverley Gray, Jack 
Gray, Archie Carr, Roy Seal, Owen Gould. In view of these offers, a club 
was tonned. Elected were: Pres. Garnet Lloyd, 1st Vice Pres .. Archie 
Carr, 2nd Vlce Pres., Shurley Lloyd, Sect.JI'reas .. Charles Mlfnln. There 
was then fonned a finance committee and building committee on Feb· 
ruary 25, 1946. Another meeting was called to elect directors to form a 
club. The following were elected by ballot: Garnet Lloyd. Charles Mifflin, 
Arthur Benge, Robert Ford and Archie Carr. At this meeting it was 
passed that the Board of Directors complete the transaction tor the 
bu.ild1nlr and land. At a meeting held on March 19, 1946, it was moved by 
Archle Carr, seconded by Wm. Branton, we accept an oUer at the Domin· 
ion Suaar Co. to send Frank Fleming out to get the story of the club pro­
ject to be broadcast over the radlo. Cecil Phelps was elected foreman of 
the building cornm!ttee. In the spring ot 1946, the buJldlng was moved in, 
spilt down the middle, made ten teet wider, and twenty feet longer. At a 
meeting held May 16, 1946, the secretary read the hall account. To keep 
the ball in possession of the community, It had to obtain a charter. A 
vote was taken on this and carried. The club was to have a board of dl· 
rectors of eight members which would include the present ones, plus two 
more to be elected. At a meeting held May 22, 1946, Mrs. Percy Lloyd and 
Mrs. Morley Carr were elected to act as members of the board of directors 
tor the balance of the year. At a meeting held, September 2, 1946, the 
charter of the club was presented by the president, the purpose of the 
club, to provide a community hall to serve as the social centre of the 
community, and to promote projects which will have as their object. the 
bettennent of the community llte. It was moved by Roy Seal and second· 
ed by Cecil Phelps, the first Directors of the club to be: Garnet Lloyd. 
Charles Mifflin. Arthur Benge, Archie Carr, Archie Brown, Mrs. Morley 
Carr and Mrs. Percy Lloyd. It was decided that the grand ooenlns;r was to 
be held. October 15. 1946. ThE' first annual meeting was held. January 31. 
1947. Officers elected were: Pres., ArehJe Carr. 1st VIce, Cecil Phelos. 2nd 
Vlce. Charles M1fflln, Sect.-Treas .. Percy Lloyd, Directors: Garnet Lloyd, 
Archie Brown. Arthur Benge. MorlE'y Armstrong. 
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Presidents and Secretary-Treasurers. 
1MB Cecil Phelps, Percy Lloyd. 
t!M8 Charles Mifflin, Percy Lloyd. 
19!50 Morley Armstrong, Percy Lloyd. 
1951 Archie Brown, Percy Lloyd. 
1ts2 Mrs. Ernest Gray, Percy Lloyd. 
1953 Charles Bear, Roy Seal. 
1934 Wm. Graham, Charles Bear. 
1~ Roy Seal, Charles Bear. 
19!56 John Armstrong, Mary Carr. 
1957 Arthur Ben&e. Mary Carr. 
19!18 Charles Mlf!lln, Mary Carr. 
19:59 Archie Carr, Percy Lloyd. 
19M Charles Bear, Percy Lloyd. 
tNt Morley Armstrong, Percy Lloyd. 
196tl Archie Brown, Percy Lloyd. 
1983 Arthur Benge, Roy Seal. 

S'IURDJ· .-
The ttrst store, 1891, was owned by the saw mill and was situated 

on NE corner of the crossroads. Offered In barrel quantity were: White 
and brown sugar, molasses, flour, beans, salt, vinegar, and coal oU. Also 
10!d were: yeast cakes, nails, etc. The second store was bullt just south 
of the railway by G. C. Greaves, In 1911, and sold to Harold Webster In 
1fU2. In later years It was operated by Gordon Webster until It burned 
down In 1939. Percy Gray built the present general store and it was 
opened August 1945. This store Is operated by his daughter, Mrs. Lyle 
Smith. 

'IHE ORANGE HA.UL:-
Tbe Orange Lodge L.OJL. No. 1335, bought a lot from Hanna J . 

Hllhnan, in 1898, for $25.00. This lodge was started, February 12, 1894. 
1be ftr8t Worshipful Master was Lemuel Edwards. At that time the meet­
lllp were held in the old community hall over Lemuel Edwards' work· 
shop. The nrst Orange Hall was completely destroyed by a wind storm, 
Septetm»er 26, 194.7. 1't was replaced with the Orange Hall moved here 
from Coatsworth. 

'lHE SAW MtLL (situated on the NE corner of the crossroads):-
The saw mlll was moved here from Port Alma In 1891, owned by 

J. N. Halliday of Merlin, was operated under the supervision of Mr. W. C. 
Dltabrook. To the east of the mill, and owned by J. N. Halliday, were a 
IarKe boarding house and four smaller ones, also a barn In which horses 
were kept. To the west, on the corner, was a store. Between the mill and 
rallway, were two large stave sheds. Also, on the NW corner of the cross· 
toada, wall a camp with bunks, stove, table and benches, for use of the 
men living In 'Merlin and staying In camp during the week. There also 
was a stable for two teams of mill horses. The mJil burned down ln 1903. 

THE RAD..JWIAY:-
The Detroit and Lake Erie, later named the Pere Marquette, and 

then the Chesepeake and Ohio, was built ln 11:92 and 1893. At that time, 
treea were cut down to make a right of way. The large oak trees were 
UJed as a !Ill for the road bed. Today these logs are still solid. They were 
burled beneath earth, sand, cinders and crushed stone. In Glenwood on the 
~ side, was a passing switch, on the south was a spur to serve the 
saw mUl (later the gas plant). The station was about ten rod.! east ot the 
~~oad, just over the ditch from the road were ttsh stands. Crewe 
_...,._ Fishery at Port Alma, brought thelr fish there to be shipped out 
by train. One mile west was a siding to serve a l~r camp. One milt 
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east was another siding to serve Smith Mills of Stewart. Until about 1925, 
elch year there would be train wrecks as the road bed wasn't In shape 
to hold the trains. Until about 1930, there were four passenger trains a 
day. Now there are no passenger trains, but many freight tra ins. 
H. J . HEINZ by Noble Armstrong, Growers Department. 

Heinz tomato receiving station situated on SW corner of Lot 8, 
Con. 13, opened in 1938 with approximately 750 acres. It operated for 8 
years then closed for one year in l:l50, and operated again for 1951 to 
1952. The station was then closed for three years. It was then opened 
ctgain for 195&57-58, and has been closed s 'nce. The top acreage was in 
19-lG, 1,150 acres. The highest yield per acre for any year was 1L5 tons in 
1958. The lowest acres lor any year was in 1945, three tons. It was a 
wet year. 

Re HEli.NZ, by Percy Lloyd- There are five growers who still 
deliver their tomatoes to Leamington: Bev Gray, Fred Piche, Robert 
VanDeWynckel, Odlyn Vandewynckel and Archie Brown. Through better 
management and knowledge, the yield for 1961 was just under twenty 
tons per acre, the pnce, No. 1, $41.50 per ton ; No. 2, $22.50. A grade of 
2/3 No. 1 and 1/3 No. 2 would be approximately $35.16. In 1962, the 
average was up again 25 to Z1 tons per acre. Percy Lloyd grew tomatoes 
for 21 years, frequently growing twenty acres. The price one year (con 
tract) was 25c for 60 lb. bushel, but the company .paid 30c which wauld be 
J.pprox1mately $1.0.00 per ton delivered to Leamington. In the year 1940, 
Percy Lloyd shipped 785 ~ bus. baskets of cucumbers to Heinz, the larg· 
ast load they had ever received up until that time. The cucl.llllbers were 
A little large for dills, resulting in a poor grade. The load after paying 
pickers and trucking, netted $18.00. 

1lHE GAS PLANT:-

The first gas plant consisted of a large building near the railway. 
Ln it were four large pumping engines, also near by was another large 
building, a machine shop and engines, which made the electric power. To 
the south, near the road, was a purifier and boiler house, also two large 
ponds. As the gas passed through these !lll'ge engines, It got to such a 
heat It had to be cooled so the gas lines passed through these ponds to 
cool the gas. Near the purifier was also a laboratory and a high water 
tank. First the large pump house went, then the machine shop, then the 
high water tank. The other buUdlngs are stlll there being used as a 
storage place for the Union Gas Co. The ponds serve as a skating rink 
for the children. The following are some of the men who worked there 
and the work they did: 

Engineers--Wm. Branton, Sam Woods, Douglas Thompson. 
Oilers-Claude Gould, Orel Beattie, Jack Dawson. 
Machine Shop Engineers-Hugh McLaren, Wm. Beattie, Tommy Slmons. 
Purifier Engineers--Hiram Proctor, Earl Dawson, Bill Coaltart. 
Welder-Claude Gould. 
Carpenter---Harry Jones. 
Brick Mason~lm Gudgeon, Andy Romain. 
Purifier Watclunan-Jack Lacount, Isaac Houton, Charlie Simons, Jack 

Carr, Percy Lloyd, Jim Simons, Wm. Owen, Paul Thibeault, Arthur 
Trembley, Chester Nicholson. 

Boilers---Jsaac Smith, Oarniel Authier, Henry Bowers, Sam Taylor. 
Chemists--Freeman Rice, Joe Lemon. Mr. Freed. 
Foreman-.Mr. CoUee, Glen Gale, Dan Tucker, Carol Lutz, John Strout, 

Ira Gray, Stanley Smith, Rud Smith, Lome Graham. 
Supervisor-George Wilkinson, Gray Houston, Peter Morton. 
Machlnlst~Bert Steadman. 
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Fleldmen-Hugh Dawson, Charlie Parker, Jack Tasker, Glen Carr, Mer· 
vln Presley, Jack Carr. Nelson Cofell, Bennie Pierce, Harold Pierce, 
Lorne Graham, Andy Burn!leld, Wm. Branton, Simeon Ml!fl!n, Ceo. 
and Ed Tonks. Geo. Tasker, Harold Broom. Geo. Campbell, Clarence 
Bowers, Roy Wallace. Gus Sawyer, Glen Peters, Gerald Morgan, 
Harry Robinson, Lorne Brown, Garnet Leach, Bob Sheets, Glen 
Sheets, Doug Pierce, John Kenney. 

New Purlfer 1929-Hugh Dawson, Ben Pierce, Archie Carr, Steve Moore, 
Ed Stevenson, Tom Broom, Percy Gray. 

While the plant was being built a boarding place consisting of 
two lar1e tents were operated by Mrs. Houston. The first house north of 
the railway was operated as a boarding house by Mrs. Houston, Warren 
Gould, Sammy Wallace, Florence Phelps, Mrs. Miller. Tom Broom. 

l11lMS OF INTER.EST:-

()ct(j)er :;w, 1918-The Victoria Red Cross workers met at the 
bome of Miss Mabel Hope with the new otllcers as follows: Pres., Mabel 
Hope; Treas., Eldean Hardy; Soc., Addle Smart. A box was packed for 
lblpment and the girls disposed of their quilt, auctioned to Mr. Jerry 
Haskell tor $10.50. 

1939-Gienwood store completely destroyed by fire, operated by 
Mr. Gordon A. Webstt>r. 

19t0--Glenwood couple celebrate 45th wedding anniversary-Hr. 
and Mrs. Martin Seal. 

1941-Mr. Roy Seal, while picking mushrooms, found one 7~ 
Inches in diameter. 

!March 12, 1942-The Duke of Kent chats with Flight Sergeant 
G. P. Gardiner, somewhere in Brttaln. 

1942-Glen Gardiner reported missing after air operations. Air· 
manshlp, courage, heroism, cited by R.A.F. In awarding a young Glen· 
wood man high honour. He captained night !lights over Norway in face 
of ,reat enemy resistance and Is now a prisoner of war In Germany. For 
deeds of heroism, Pilot Oftlcer Glen Gardiner has been awarded the 
Distinguished Flying Cross. 

1944-Woman of 93 goes to Ottawa by plane. Mrs. W. C. Esta· 
brook became the oldest air traveller in Canada when she boarded a 
T.C.A. plane, Windsor to Ottawa. 

GleDWOOd Community honours service personnel--.A banquet 
was held in the Glenwood United Church to honour the service personnel 
of the community. The attalr was staged by the Willing Workers Class. 
Veterans present were: Bev Gray, Ernest Cox, Avery Glf!ord, Bernard 
Cox, ROM Haskell, Nelson Haskell, Elgin Haskell, Glen Ludwig, Charles 
Ludwig Jr., John Broom, Harold White, Harvey Bird, Elmer Bird, Elwood 
Bird, Milo Armstrong, Garland Cofell, Morris Bird, Glen Gardiner, Clay. 
ton Garrison, Robert Garrison, Russell Gould, Ira Iler, Wilfred Sampson, 
Murray Garrison, Max Blrd, Max Gardiner, Frank Th1beault, Clarence 
Kelver, Russell Lancaster, Wm. Marls, Reginald Kelver, Jack Saunders, 
Albert Saunders. 

July 5, 1945--Gienwood United Church celebrated golden jubilee. 
'nlose taking part in the evening program were: recitation by Miss Col· 
leen Carr; solos by the Brown sisters, Mae and Doris, Miss Dorothy Uoyd, 
Eunlce Gardiner and Annabelle White. Mrs. C. Mllllin perlormed an 
xylophone solo, Miss Margaret Walker, accompanist. A candle light ser· 
~by Ada Gifiord., Lot'Taine Bear, Annabelle White, Dorothy Uoyd, 
ao:'Tflice Bird, Ewart Clarke. 

1946-i'Mr. and Mrs. Isaac Brown observe their golden wedding 
anniversary. 

1!K7-August 30, Mr. and Mrs. Wm. Blake celebrate their Golden 
Anniversary. 
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1947-Septemb.~r 22, Mr. and Mrs. Floyd Nead and two small 
children had a narrow 1 scape as a tornado hit this district and destroyed 
their home. 

1947-September 22, The Glenwood Orange Hall completely des. 
troyed by tornado. 

1958-Soyabean test plots at Percy Lloyd farm, 19 varieties are 
planted. 

1958-Local Guernsey cow rates tops In Canada, owned by 
Arthur Benge of Roselea Farm, Glenwood. 

1958-Former Glenwood merchant, Harold Webster, plans 
world tour. 

1959-Farmer leaps to safety as train hits tractor. Archie Brown 
leaped to safety seconds before a raHway d:esel cut his tractor in two. 

1961-1..\ierlln Fair Board honours two half century members: 
Odlyn VanDewynckel, president of the Ra~eigh and Tilbury East Agri· 
cultural Societ{, presents awards to Harold Gardiner of Glenwood and 
Alex Pepper o Merlin, for fitly years of active service in the society. 

1962-.June 3, Mr. and Mrs. Wm. Graham are holding Open House 
from 2 to 6 celebrating their 50th wedding anniversary. 

~96Z----Octxlber 21, Mr. and Mrs. Percy Lloyd celebrate their 40th 
wedding anniversary. 

GLENWOOD OLD BOYS REUNION 1936, June 21 and 23:-

0n Sunday, Rev. Robt. Stewart spoke In the United Church at 
11 a.m. and 7.30 p.m. There was a large celebration on Tuesday. A straw· 
berry social was held Tuesday, June 23rd, tickets 25c and 15c. There were 
three soft ball games. The first game at 1.30, Glenwood vs. Merlin; second 
game at 4 o'clock, Valetta vs. Port Alma. The winners of the first game 
played the winners of the second game. There was a big open air dance, 
music by Sonnr. Brook Orchestra, dancing !rom 9 p .m. A grand concert 
was held at 3 o clock, horse shoe pitching tournament, tug of war, climb· 
lng greasy pole, races. Admission to grounds, 25c, to grounds and supper, 
40c. The Glenwood Old Boys Reunion was a great success, ideal weather, 
good crowds, splendid ball games, and dancing. The village was decorated 
for the occasion with streamers and nags. The attendance at both church 
services was large. On Tuesday at 1.30, the first ball game, Merlin vs. 
Glenwood, was played, the former winning by a score of S.O. The second 
game, Valetta vs. Port Alma, was played, the former winning 2-1. The 
third game In the early evening was played with Valetta winning the 
purse of $10.00, the score being S.l. Prizes were given for the oldest on 
the grounds, Mrsr Jeanne Estabrook being judged the winner, aged 83 
years. Mr. George Gifford won the prize for the oldest man present, 85 
years. It Is not certain, but an estimated 600 attended the supper. The 
days events were brought to a happy close by an open air dance, music 
belng furnished by the Sunny Brook orchestra. 

FIRST OF MANY 'I'HINGS:-

1893-Arnold and .Martin Johnson were among the fi rst to ride 
a train on the present railway, 1893. 

1900-The first cement to be mixed was by Abraham Dawson and 
was used to make a cooler !or meat. This cement still stands. 

1900-Flrst gas light was made by Abraham Dawson who took a 
large beef bladder, went to the David Ketts farm where they were drill· 
ing a water well, but not gas. He tilled this bladder with gas and that 
night he let the gas escape slowly, lit It with a match, and that was the 
light. 

19<Y7-Wm. Graham has a steam powered tiling machine (In 
Ohio). 
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1910~Lcwis Simpson brought Into th is district. a threshing 
ma:hlne to thresh the grain, steam powered. The first gas well was on 
Lot 12. Con. 14, now Robert VanDeWynckel's. J . N. Halllday owned thE 
well and supplied Merlin with gas. 

1911- Wm. Graham's first tiling machine In Ontario. 
1913-The first gas was delivered from Glenwood to all towns as 

far east as Brantrord, by the Glenwood Natural Gas Co., at a price of 15c 
per thousand feet. 

1914-Isaac Bechard had the first combine to thresh grain, a 
ho:-se powered umt. 

1915---Wm. Graham was the first one to farm without horses. 
1917- Wm. Graham has a home made tractor. 
1924---<Roy Seal has h1s first radio, a crystal set. 
19rl7-Flrst road to be gravelled, the No. 1, now County Road 14. 
:1928--First hydro used In this district was by a temporary hook 

up for the Christmas Concert, in the fall of 1928. 
The first threshing machine owned and operated In this district 

was a very large steam outllt owned by several farmers. Following thls 
were ones owned by: Nelson Armstrong, P . G. LudWig, Rene VanDe· 
Wynckel, Ford Bro3., Martin Seal, Olmer Bertram, L. D. Relgnler, Isaac 
Brown, Wm. Lloyd. 

Horse population. 1915-20: work horses, 140; colts, 60; mules, 8. 
In 1962 there were 55 tractors, Zl pull type combines, 7 sell· 

propelled. Cars in use : 69; pickup trucks, 6; stake trucks, 4. Number of 
homes, 66; new homes built In the last 5 years: Robert VanDeWynckeJ, 
Fred Piche, Jack Gray, Russell Lancaster and Roy Haskell. 

In thls district there were 29 gas wells (also a few oU wells, 
l!Kl5). 

Glenwood Famous Hard Ball Team of 1917-20:- Pitchers: Donald 
GWord Sr., Rolly Jones, and Roy Seal; Catcher, Wm. Carr; Short Stop, 
Ben Brown and John Seal; Centre Field, Arthur Greaves and Walter 
Tuker; Right Field, Lyle Bishop; Left Fleki, Bert Steadman; 1st Base, 
Robert Gifford and Jack Pullford; 2nd Base, Carl Lutz and Joe Wheelan; 
3rd Base, Royal Bishop. 

Sott Ball Team of 1936:-Manager, Frank Gil:t:ord; President. 
Percy Gray; scoreboard, Roy Seal; Pitchers, Gordon Ford, Garnet Kearns 
and Jlm Adamson; Carehers, Jack ller, Clarence Webber and Ike Der; 1st 
baae, Ivan Lloyd; 2nd base, John Seal; 3rd base, George Carr; short stop, 
Al»ert Carr; lett lleld, Morley Carr, centre field, Leo Tremblay, right 
field, Ben Tremblay and Max Bird. 

Glenwood Soft Ball Team organized in 1946, played In Tilbury 
East leque aiainst: 2nd mile Club o! Tilbury ; Usher Club of Tilbury; 
Port Alma; South Buxton, Jeannettes Creek and Valetta, with Lyle Smith 
as manacer. In 1946 Glenwood team played 19 games without a loss, won 
the champlonshipp of Tilbury East. TWs team continued !or about four 
years then joined with Port Alma and played in the 'I1i.lbury East League, 
aao the Wheatley League !or two years. Many of the original ball players 
heliped form a team In Merlin, playing in the Ontario Playoffs, and in 1956 
won the Ontario International Chaml)lonshlp. The original team in 
1946 had only 14 players, of these four pairs werP. brothers. The original 
team consisted of: Catcher, Max Smart; Centre Field, Earl Smart; 3rd 
base, George Carr; right field, Morley Carr; short stop, Jack Gray; 
Pitcher, Beverly Gray; 2nd base, Clare Brown; right field, Floyd Brown; 
1st ba.se, and utlllty fielder, Shurley Lloyd; Bob Bear, utility fielder; Ike 
Iler, 1st base and utility fielder; Fred Plebe, 1st base and utility fielder; 
U McLeod, pitcher and utility fielder; Keith Haskell, pitcher and 
utility fielder. Through following years others playing with Glenwood 

Cow
were: Avery Gl!ford, Allan McLeod, John Presley, Blake Broadbent, Mike 

an, Bill Pratt, Cliff Charlton and Gordon Gillespie. 
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S::>YIE TillNGS WE DID YEARS AGO:-by Laura <Horton> Burke 
Windsor. ' 

On the Horton farm was a slaughter house for hogs. The neigh. 
bours would get together and have a slaughtering bee. Some of the meat 
was for home use and the rest had to be taken to market, sold by the 
whole hog, half or quarter. The men did the killing and dressing and the 
ladies would collect the fat from the internals which would be made Into 
lard. One very exciting day was when our oil well was shot. It came in a 
gusher, 500 barrels a day. One day a thunder storm came up and the 
lightning hit the oil tanks and they were set afire. In the year 1~. at 
George GIUord's barn raising, in those days men came from all around to 
help. They always chose up sides and had a race to see which side would 
win getting the frame work up. As Wm. Blake and Jack Horton weren't 
afraid of heights, they were alwayss chosen to be the men to work on 
the top beams. One day Wm. Blake took a di:lZy spell and fell to the 
ground (not serloussly hurt) . This put the whole weight on J ack Horton. 
He knew if he let it go someone might be killed so he held on until help 
arrived. From this severe strain, he developed a serious liver condition 
wh:ch continued for several weeks. 

Floor Covering- It was mostly made from old rags and woven 
into a carpet. The neighbours would gather together to sew these rags. 
At one of these sewing bees, Hattie Estabrook was a little late arriving. 
Finally they heard her scream, t-hey all ran out and the old buck ram had 
made a charge and she was up on top of the gate. One time Melvin was 
bringing a large fork full of straw into the horse stable. As he entered 
the door, an old sow took out between Mel's legs. Well there they went, 
Mel. straw and all on the old sows back. On January 15, 1912, some people 
working laying a gas line for the gas company, had ears, nose and fingers 
frozen. We moved from Glenwood to Port Crewe then to Kent Centre, 
attended church and Sunday School at Huffman's Corners. We always had 
company on Sunday, the dinner table was always set for 18 or 20 people. 
One week end Ethel and Billy Lloyd came to visit us in a new Ford tour· 
ing car. They took us for a ride. Of course, Dad wanted to have a try at 
the wheel. As he went over a culvert, a plank let go and over we went, the 
car on It's top. No one was hurt, just a few scratches. We tipped the car 
back over and six scared people continued back home. 

ODD HAPPENINGS by Mabel Albrecht (!ormery Mabel Hope) :-

.My father's first car was a 1910 Studebaker. The li2hts came 
trom a presto tank that was fastened to the running board. Tht>se wt>re 
like gas Hghts, had to be lit by a match. When the tank was empty It 
meant a trip 20 miles to Chatham tor an exchange for a full one. ll we 
n'!eded a new tire, it was Chatham also. Later years also Tilbury. Owing 
tc the heavy clay roads, the car was stored for the winter and earlv 
spring. A team ot horses on a buggy was needed to get through the 
roads. A spade was always carried. During the spring thaw, It you needed 
a tioctor, the P JM. rallway hand car was used. The doctor would come tn 
the nearest point and then walk the rest ot the way. Everyone would re· 
member Dr. Oliver who was loved by all. He came to Merlin when a 
young man and served the Glenwood area. Mabel Hope was his first baby, 
born June 10, 1895. 

By Mabel Phelps, formerly Mabel Albrecht, (!Mabel passed away 
suddenly, January 23, 1963) :-

Do you remember the terrible wind Easter week 1913? That week 
we arrived In Canada and It rook one hour for the ferry to get across the 
river at Windsor, usually it took about 15 minutes. On Good Friday the 
ferry could not go at all. Also a freight car at Coatsworth got loose and 
came through Glenwood on the fly. A gas well driller, Blll Sweet, jumped 
on It at Glenwood station and rode It to Merlin where he put on the 
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manual brakes. It was run Into the switch. This caused quite a lot of 
excltement In the community. One could ~o on about the good old day~ 
for hours. Now no one has time to call the1r own with all the gadgets we 
have to make life eas:er, we seem to work harder. No time to visit our 
friends, maybe the cause Is TV, just sit and listen. 

FJIIUB:-
Orln Ford house, twice. Jim Bishop house; Estabrook barn, 

April 24. 1925; Ralph Dawson barn; Ludwig house. March 21, 1936; Joe 
Heynes hun, 1927; Billie Smith house; Estabrook barn; Wm. Lloyd house, 
l:XW; saw mill. 1903; store 19'39. Damaged by !Ire. Charles Hillman house. 

ARMED FORCES:-
Glen Ludwig, Russell Gould, Charles Ludwig, Frank Thlbt!ault, 

Clarence Kelver, Russell Lancaster, Glen Gardiner, Wm. Marls. Elwood 
Bird. Harvey Bird, Elmer B:rd, Harold White, Reg Kelver, Jack Saunders, 
A!bert Saunders. 
OOMPilE'I'E LOSS BY WlND:-

1947 -H .Johnson harn . .TOP H~>ynes barn, (;arnet Lloyd barn, 
Oranj[e H:lil, Don G:tford bArn. 1931- Ford Bros .. a verv large stock barn 
by tor nado, had the frame work up for a new one the following year 
when It went down by a wind storm. 1931- the same tornado that took 
Ford Bros. barn took two freight cars out of a train that was passing 
through. 

WIND DAiMAGE:-
1947~elson Armstrong barn , Floyd Ludwig barn, Floyd Nead 

house, Carl Moe house, Bev Gray house, St. Jean barn. 1942--CllH 
Brown. 1946--C. HiJJman barn and pump house, Ford Bros. two tobacco 
barns. 1942 -Ford Bros. one tobacco barn. 

BflRNA!RDO HOME BOYS trom ENGJ..A.ND--.Wm. Blake, George Smith, 
A!bert Saunders, Jack Saunders. 

LOG HOUSES:-Those gone: John Seal two; Bob Ford, Wayne Johnson. 
Otto Johnson, !Morley Armstrong, Gardiner Gore, Fish. George Hardie, 
BUlle Smith, Fred Piche. Those still In use-Harold Gardiner, Mrs. Leslie 
Mltfiln. 

FOLLOWING A!RE SOME F!R.OM 1HE DISTRICI' WHO HAD A PRO· 
FESSION:-

Nurse--Joyce Simons, Jane Johnson, Ruth Armstrong, Ruth Ann 
Armstrong, Joyce Gifford, Doris Lancaster. 

ITeacher~loria Dawson, Gary Johnson, Tieen We'bber, Florence 
Webber, Helen Mlf!lln, Muriel Armstrong, Donna Hope, Marlon Lloyd, 
Jeanne Piche, Gwen Gray, Dorothy Jean Ford. 

Joan Johnson, laboratory technician; Terry Johnson, banker; 
Arnold Johnson, brakeman; Bertha Johnson, professional millner; Lee 
AuthJer, civil engineer, Gordon Authier, Radio operator; Russell Arm­
ltrone, civil engineer; Allan Armstrong, provincial polJce; Kenneth Ann· 
ltrone, agromanary; Elmer Blrd, tool and die; Joe Bird, manager Hunts 
Canning tactoey; Jack Gray, plumber. 

~AIMILIES OF TEN CIDIJDREN OR MORE:-
Ten~A'braham Dawson.: Jane, John, Mary, Margaret, Ralph 

Annie, Joseph, Pheoble, Wesley, Hugh; twenty-11lne grandchl1dren. 
Ten-Eddie Garrlson :Clayton, Robert, Margaret, Murray; six de­

ceased; thirteen grandchllldren. 
Ten-Adam Bird: Nettle, Max, Maurice, Elmer, Elwood, Harvey, 

Bernice, Joe, Wayne, Carlyle; forty-two grandchl1dren. 
Ten-J'oe Haskell: Ester, Clarence, Millard, Nelson, Idella, Elgin, 

Evert, Ross, Mlllle, Gladys. 
Ten-Robert Brown: Benjamin, Thomas, Joseph, Elizabeth, Jane, 

Jclhn, Robsln, Henderson, Ann, Isaac ; !orty~lght grandchlldlren. 
Ten-Christopher Armstrong Sr.: Hana, Ellzabeth, Mary, Eliza, 

Annie, Amery, Margaret, John, Christopher, Edward. 
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Ten-Ed·.vard Carr: Flussll!, J ohn, Mabel, Archie, William 
G~orge, Morley, Albert, Christina, Eileen; thir ty grandchildren. ' 

Ten- Wm. Hasson famlly:AUred, Douglas, Beverly, Peter, Oliver 
Olive, Dorothy, Gladys, Tommy. Harold; twenty grandchildren. ' 

Eleven- Thomas J ohnson : Adeh, Ethel, Martin, Arnold , Bertha, 
Sara, Harold F lossie, Ernest, Dirle. Mira. 

rrwelve--.R.obert F ord Sr.: Oren, P reston, Emery, P reston, Archie, 
E rnest, Robert, Gordon, Nelson, H lrvey, Darrell, Allee; eleven grana­
children. 

Thirteen-George Thibeault: Harry, Jannle, Lawrence, Charlie, 
Clem, Alma, Jean, Laurie, Annie, George, Evelyn, Frank, Oscar; twenty­
four grandchild ren. 

Thirteen- Daniel Brown: Clara, W!U, J ack, Wilfred, J im, Sophia, 
Emma, Joe, Matthew, Heroert, Edward, Ada, Viole t. 

F-ourteen-Tommy Simo ns: Jennie, All, Sara, Lillie, Charles, J im. 
Queenie; seven died when young. 

Eighteen-:camiel Auth ier : Maggie, Lena, Charlie, Olive, Lewis, 
Dehi, Fred, Author, Er nest, Eva , J oe, Albert, Edgar, Irene; four dlea 
young. 

SOME OF THE EARLY FAMILIES BEFORE 1900:-
1870-Edward Parker, Edward Nanton, Samuel Driver. 
1871----Robert Brown, Johnson Bros., Wm. Mifflin. 
1872-Wm. Mi!f1ln ( different Mifflin, Charles grandfather) 
1873-John H. Moffatt. 
1~njamln Brown. 
1881-John Horton. 
1882- Danlel Brown. 
1883-John Chester, Joseph H. Cussak. 
1.884-Thomas Jones. 
188S-lsaac Ainslie, Peter Jubinville. 
1886-.Jacob Bostwick. 
1887- Wm. McRae. 
1888-Tom Brown, Wm. MacRae. 
1890-Johnny Hope, Enoch Newham. 
1891--George Gifford. 
1~ohnny Armstrong, Isaac Frolic. 
1893-Wm. Moffatt, Wm. McNar land. 
1894--.David Bratt, W. C. Estabrook, George Kett. 
1895-Andrew Gilbert. 
1896--Hiram Lloyd. 
1897--.David Kett, David J . Mulligan, James Wade, Henry Lott, Abraham 
Dawson, John McCarther, Isaac Brown. 
1898-Thomas Shields. 
1899---JHenry Fish, Robert Fish, James Danslle, Ed H. Foxton, Christopher 
Armstrong, Johnny Brown. 

Lot 10, Con. 13, known as the Armstrong farm, was the first to 
be taken up from the crown, 1~. It was then twenty years before the 
next was taken. There were three In 1846. As far as can be found out the 
first families to live In Glenwood were John Chester, Tommy Shields, 
Lemuel Edwards, J oseph Shepley. 

SOME OF nm FIRST TR.ACrORS:-
1914-----Pbillp Ludwig, Rumley 1 cyl. 
1915-Hiram Lloyd, Essex 4 cyl. 
1917- Wm. Graham, home made. 
1917---Hlram Lloyd, Beaver 4 cyl, large one. 
1918-Chrlstopher Armstrong, Happy Farmer, 2 cyl. 
1920--.Ford Bros., International Titan, 2 cyJ. 
1!r.n--Martln Seal, International 15-30, 4 cyl. 
1937---Ford Bros., International Fl2, 4cyL This Is the first tractor on 
rubber In this district. 
1939-Garnet Lloyd, Silver King on rubber, 4 cyl. 
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SOME OF THE FIRST CARS: 

1910.-Johnny H ope, Studebaker . 
1.912--J.Iartln Johnson, Keeton, 7 passenger. 
1913--Lee Albre-cht, make not known, got In from door in rear. 
1914----Wm. Graham, Hup Roadster. 
1914----Amold Johnson, Metz, Jlcence no. 22668. 
19l~Adam Bird, Model T Ford. 
191~rtln Seal. Chalmers touring, licence no. T5815. 
D16-Robert G:Uord, Maxwell. 
H16-Hiram Voyd, Model T F ord. 
191~eorge GIUord, Buick six. 
1916---Harold Johnson, Chev. 
1919--Chris Armstrong, Buick . 
1919- ·Roy Seal, Ford Touring, 3 door . 
1~Ford Bros. , Model T Ford. 

WHEN 'J1HE FOULOWING WERE CONSTRUOIED:-

Rallroad, 1892-93; Saw Mill, 1891. burned 1903; School built 1897; 
Church, 1895; Orange Hall, 1898; Phone System, 1912; Hydro, 1923; First 
rravelled road, No. 1. 19Z7; Community Hall, 1946. 

The following was copied from a book at the Museum, Chatham, 
and consists of the names of people who got their mall at Glenwood Post 
Office, 1903: Chris Armstrong, Wm. Blake, Jacob Bostwick, Sam Brown, 
Isaac Cofell, A'braham Dawson, W. C. Estabrook, H. W. Fish, R. S . Fish, 
Isaac Frollck, Ed Foxton, George Gifford, Jean Gifford, Andrew Gilbert, 
J. N. Horton, David Innis. Wm. Innis, Wm. Innis Jr., Joseph Israel, 
Tormny Jenkins, David Kltt, George Kitt, Wm. Larose, Henry Lott, Pete 
Kaeee, John McNarland, Wm. C. McNarl.Bnd, George Marshall, Andrew 
Miller, David Mulllgan, Enoch Newman, Alec Osborne, David Payne, W. 
J. Scott, Thomas Tasker, George Torrance, George Torrance Sr., Wm. 
Vipond, Jim Wade, Wm. Smith, Josiah Smith, Isaac Smith, John Scnrader, 
E. L. Shaw, Lewis Shaw, J oseph Shepley, Hiram Lloyd. 

PEX>PLE WHO LIVED lN GLENWOOD AND WERE KILLED:-

Jarvis Estabrook killed at saw mlll, November 22, 1892; Dlny 
Hickey, load of logs crushed him, 1893; Wellington Jones, kicked by a 
horse; Joe Laidlaw, gas llne blew up, 1911; Ellby Cofell, while tUlng Robt. 
VanDeWynckel Farm, about 1916, jumped !rom machine onto a crow bar 
that was sticking up in ground and pierced his body; Hiram Proctor ran 
into dltx:h with car, a broken neck, 1920; Wm. Carr, land sUde In gravel 
pit, 1927; Dorothy (Owen) Britton, car accldent, piece of glass pierced 
her heart, November 1, 1928; Mrs. Oren Ford and Leo Dupuls, house !Ire, 
1928; Frank Gifford, killed In Webster's elevator, 1934; Mike Ondrejovlc 
hanged himself In Garnet Lloyd's barn, February 18 or 19, 1942; Dlck 
Sampson hit by car on Highway, about 1943; AJ!red Hasson, World War 
U, ln Be~um, November 1944; Harold White, car accident, 1946; Mrs. 
Cecil Phe s, car accident caused by a deer, February 18, 1953; Floyd 
Ludwli fe off a wagon, broken vertabrae In back of neck, passed away 
a ff!W days later, November 10, 1962. 

PDlPLE KTIUiD JUST OUTSIDE 1 MILE LllMIT:-

Peter West's body was found in a hollow tree on what is now 
Du)'dt's farm, Port Alma, about 188()..9(); A man by the name of Wallace 
polaoned his wl!e on what is now Cill1 Charlton's !ann, Port Alma, 1.880-
90; Sole Gray, boiler blew up at saw mill in Baddertown, 1896; three of 
Pres Heward's girls, 19 years and younger, died In a house lire at Port 
Alma. 1897; Joe Laidlaw, gas line blew up, 191.1; A MaLeod, boiler blew 
up at aa.w mlll. Stevenson; Arnold Moore, tra1n hit car east o1 Merlin, 
1933; Norm&n Mcl.eod, Gas Co., March 13, 1945; Wm. Mifflin, Gas Co. 
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Port Alma, December 14, 1MB; Blll Sloan, tractor upset In dltch, ValeUa, 
1951; Glen Smith, son of Edgar, No. 2 road, tractor upset in ditch ; Gayle 
Charlton, 8 years, buried on 9th b irthday, kil!ed by truck, Port Alma, 1959· 
two men drowned in Lake Erie, worked for West Petroleum ; A Detroit 
man drowned while fishing, Lake Erie. 1960; Dillon drowned at Jeffery's; 
Shurley Lloyd Instantly killed whll<' repairing combine, 1962. 

ACCIDENTS AND PEOPLE INJURED IN GLENWOOD:-

Charles Thibeault, scalp split open at barn raising, H . S. Lloyd's, 
1915; Johnny Armstrong Sr. run over by hay loader, June 26, 1918, and he 
also fell from ladder in barn, hurt badly, 1922; Guy Ml!11ln, load of hay 
upset, many bones broken, August 8, 1924; Wm. Lloyd, finger off by buzz 
saw, 1928; Archie Brown, thumb off, silo til er, 1006; Martin Johnson, 
team ran away, broken ankle, 1942; George Carr, hand oft in corn 
shredded, 1949; Roy Seal tell from ladder in hay mow, broken leg, July 
23, 1959, h~ also had a broken knee cap in 1937; Roy Seal, while painting 
at Gray's Store, fell off ladder and cracked skull, 1959; Odlyn VanDe· 
Wynckel, car accident, June 23, 1947, his wife Mary suffered broken leg, 
was hospitalized for two months; Ronald VanDeWynckel suffered a 
broken leg as the result of a bicycle accident, 1958; Joseph Heynes lost 
three fingers in corn picker, 1960. 

BAD ACCIDENTS BtiT NO ONE HURT:-

Boiler blew up wh11e drilling oil well on Lot 9, Con. 12, now Odlyn 
VanDeWynckel's fann, 1905. The well can still be seen, the boiler land· 
ed on the No. 1 road; Train derailed at gas plant siding in Glenwood as 
Elizabeth McClenan, school teacher, and Perey Lloyd were walklng along 
tracks to the station. Box cars piled up in all directions. When the dirt 
and dust settled they found they had only been missed by a few teet, 1919; 
Isaac Brown loses control of car and hits a tree by the Innes farm, now 
where 'Murray Armstrong lives. The tree still shows the scar on It's 
bark, 1930; Harry Brown's pant leg got caught in the power take of! on 
combine. Harry ended up In his shirt tall. The funniest part was that he 
was living in London and Charlie Sams had the house on the farm rented. 
He finally decided he just had to have pants, and where was he going to 
get them? He had to come to the house and ask Mrs. Sams if he could 
borrow Charlie's pants. A lot will remember the close call Archie Brown 
had when a traln cut his tractor In two at Glenwood cross1ng, taking the 
front half down the right of way and leaving the back wheels and seat and 
combine on the road. Archie either jumped off or was thrown ofl and 
was unhurt. After this accident, there was a petition signed by neighbours 
and sent to the raHway for signals. They were Installed in 1960. 

ITEMS OF INTEREST:-

1885-1890--Isaac Ainslie's daughter went into the woods to bring 
in the cows but lost her direction and ended up In the night ot Bob Coats­
worth's on the lake road, a distance of three or four miles away. Lost In 
the darkness, she finally saw a light and went to lt. Before 1890, a rail· 
road came north from Port Alma to Con. 14, then went In a westerly 
direction through John Gifford's, VanDeWynckels, to Sha!fertown. This 
railroad was constructed of wooden ralls, was powered by steam engine 
which pulled nat cars loaded with logs. These were dumped over the Jake 
bank and ln navigation season were fastened Into log rafts and towed 
by tugboat, mostly to Sandusky, Ohio. In those days they had trouble with 
working condltons as welt as today. One time the men wanted a ralse in 
opay which was refused, so they took out a rail so the tral.ns couldn't 
operate. They got their raise of 5c per hour. In 1900, most of the fences 
were made of black ash fence ralls about 12' long. At that time, each year 
they held a field day to see who could spilt the most ralls. Thomas Broom 
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of Glenwood was always champion, he split 600 rails in ten hours and got 
lc each. Victor Gardiner of Stewart was runner up, 450 ralls in ten hours. 
v.ctor could spilt 60 In one hour but couldn't hold that speed for ten 
hours. At that time the wages for a day were 75c. A rail splitter was a 
professional and at lc each this was big m oney in those days. In 1900, or 
a little later, a man by the name of Alg. Cofell, llved in a log cabin on 
Lot 8, Con. 12, owned by Johnny I:wtn. This was all timber then, men 
from the mlU ust'd to gather there to play poker. When J ohnny Irwin 
heard of this he ord('~ed AI~. oft the p roperty 1900 Wm. Innes Sr. wore 
a very long white be:1rd. H ;: s.1ld :hat when he got to be a young man 
and needed a shave, he l''.cd nnd the razor tickled c;o mu"h he never tried 
1t again. 1900--B'Ily Sm th: Old Cripp'ed Willie, as the folks knew him, 
hewed the frame for the horse and bu~gy shed attached to the church, 
while on the Chester fa:m. 1903-A few oil wells were drilled on Lot 8 
:md 9. Con. 12 now o.wned by Odlyn VanDeWynckel. also on Lot 10, Con. 
14, the G:!!ord !arm. 1910-In the hot summer days, Sunday School was 
he'd In Wm. Mifflin's !:lush (corner o! Bl.dder Drain and Con. 14l. They 
wou!d tak<> down a po~t!on or the rail fence and dr1ve the horse and 
buggy Into the bush whcre It was cool. The seats were mostly logs, also 
eve~y summe~ the ~ ·tnday School had a picnic, mostly at Erie Beach. The 
o'der folk would rldl.' !n buggies. the younger ones, a hay wagon. It was 
a'ways real E>xc:t'n2 to stop at Pa rdo's to see the reindeer they had in 
their orchard with a high fence all around. 1910-The man we all called 
Snowball. The man who cleaned school houses in summer holldays, also 
took care of the out houc;es. his one horse wagon with th""ee or four 
barrels. Perhaps as children you have met him going down the road 
sitting on one ot thrse b~rrels singing away. You would say "How are 
you today, Snowball?" H is answer was always the same, "Happy as a 
skunk in a woodpile", and a laugh that would make anyone laugh along 
with him. Well, Snowball lived to be a very old man. H r and his wife. 
!\long with the horse. spent their last days in an old shed behind th£> 
Slmpsons Flour Mill In Merlin. 1910-Do you remember th£> Radmore 
girls who rode sld£' saddle hor seb'lck to church at Gl£>nwood? Sometimes 
they would bring newly hatchPd ducks In a basket, alon~ with them. 
i910-In thP early days many children died from Typhoid Fever. 19~ 
On April 15 that great ocean liner, the Titanic, struck an Iceberg and 
sank. Morris Sapp. a Belgian. then a small boy, got Into a life boat and a 
woman hid him under her dress las the life boat was overcrowded). Later 
v~.>ars he grew tobacco t or H. S. Lloyd. 191;).16-The boys camp on NE% 
Lot 9, Con. 14, at that time !.'he George Hardie farm. Owlog to the snort­
age of help to take care of the sugar beet fields, because of World War I. 
several boys 10.12 years of age. approximately 150, came from the city 
schools to help In this work. There were several sleepln~ tents and a 
large dining tent. After the sugar beet work was finlsned, some of tht> 
boys were hired bv the farmers In this district. 1922- A syndicate made up 
of Manley Ellis, Robert Gl!tord, J . R. Chester, Donald Gtfford, George 
Gifford, and Hiram Lloyd, on December 7, 1922. purchased a large Sawyer 
'Massey threshing ma!'hlne and steam engine. Remember when everybody 
went to the station to meet the passenger trains? W'hen all the groweTS of 
sugar beets dellvered their crou to the station yard. Some were loaded 
on cars for shipment to Chatham. others were pitted In a large pile 
Cbundreds of tons) and shipped out later. Now not a sugar beet Is grown 
ln this district. In the year 1901, Wm. Blake loaded a car load of 4' white 
ash (at Glenwood) which was sold to Peter McGee. who shlwed It to 
Windsor. This was !rom Archie Brown's farm. Reoorted 'by Wm. Blake 
that In 1902 there were nine lo~ houses around Glenwood. At one time 
IMr. Blake won manv champion prizes on his seed oats and com . Lee AI· 
hrivht was a wondl.'rful whistler and entertained at manv social affair<:. 
The last Indians to live In this district were on the Fo rd Bros. ta.rm. Dlcl< 
~mpson and famllv. also Tommv Doollf' who Jived to be 100 1916-Wm. 
Graham was the man who Introduced Mammoth Clover to th is country, 
bl"fn.rlng the seed from Ohio Wm. Graham and h is bride JAne Sams were 
the first married couple to leave Merlin by automoble. 1920-Wm. Rear-

69 



don moved here from Morris, Ill., in the sprina of 1920. He brouaht a well 
trained white saddle horse, one white team, and one brown team of mules 
which weighed c1ose to one ton each, along w1th machinery (2 car loads 
by railway to Glenwood stat10nJ. l~'!'he box soc1als where the 
ladies would make up a fancy box of lunch and the men would buy them 
at auction. 1 he lady whose box he bought was his partner for lunch. Also 
the sparrow matches where everyone m the community got together and 
chose up sides to see how many sparrow heads they could get m a certain 
Ume. The losing side had to buy tne oysters for a supper. When the law 
said you must have bells on cutters. When it was against the law to 
fly a flag or any cloth from a car on account of scaring the horses. 1900-
1~0-The sleigh ride parties cons1sted of a group of tne young folks, a 
bob sleigh and hay rack powered by a team of horses . .b;ach week the 
group would go to someones home take along a lunch and have a get­
together, playmg such games as post o!!ice, skip to my lou my dari1ng, 
over the hill to feed the sheep, etc. They someumes came from as far 
away as five miles. Then came the roaring 20's with the Charleston, the 
shimmy, the ladies short dresses, with the stacking rolled down. The men 
from knicker buckles, some Cl'bove some below the lmee, to long legged 
trousers, button shoes, to lace shoes, the old cristy stiff to felt hats, etc. 
The whole world had gone wild. 1900-1930---When a person wanted to 
build a barn, they would get the timbers all framed then have a barn rais­
ing. All the neighbours would come and put the frame into place. Those 
were the days If the farmer had a barrel of hard elder, he would try to 
hlde it but somehow, someone of the gang would find it and as a rule by 
the end of the day, it would be the end of the cider also. Up to 1930-J:o'or 
a young married man to start farming, he w<>uld have a team of horses, 
one furrow wal.klng ·plough, set of disc, a saw, axe, cow and pig, also a few 
chickens. In 1881 the capital Investment per 100 acres was $186.00, today, 
l962, that much would Just about buy a set of rear tires tor the average 
tractor. When a relative died, a band of black crepe was worn around the 
sleeve ot the coat for one year, also there was no entertainment for one 
-year. The neighbours would also see that someone sat up all night with 
the body until the funeral . 1932-Ivan Lloyd, whlle driving a truck, was 
stung by a bee which rendered hlm unconscious. Ivan had been eating 
muskmelon and the doctor's report was that anyone eating muskmelon, 
and who gets stung with a bee, wllJ be rendered unconscious for a short 
time. 1946-The hall storm in the fall that ruined the crops, hail stones 
three to four inches across. Bill Jones team of mules were out In pasture. 
He said that was one time they came to the barn without having trouble 
getting them there. Remember when a person took a horse to the black­
smith to have Its shoes repaired. He had to keep the flies off the horse by 
using a dummy horse taiL 1950- The year a group of men and one boy 
went from here to Detroit and were on WXYZ TV to a program directed 
by Johnny (Scat) Davis. That morning the school children of Glenwood, 
also surrounding schools, had a hollday so they could see the program. 
Ronald Lloyd was the school boy on the program. 1947- The year many 
people found sheets of tin, pieces of clothing, linoleum, etc., carried here 
from a tornado which struck Windsor. The sheets of tin came from De· 
troit, some from this district had friends and relatives killed by this 
storm in Windsor. 1960- Mr. St. Jean has a Waldon pocket watch which 
is ln good condition, given to him by his grandfather who lived in Texas. 
His grandfather received this used watch in the year 1864. The price paid 
for the watch was one team of horses, set of double harness, wagon and a 
set of wooden harrows. 

SOYBEANS TO Aml.CA (written by Harry Brown)-

About the year 1950, a Mr. and Mrs. J . E . Bodely, missionaries 
for 45 years, from Angola, China, Portugese, West Africa, visited thls 
district. They were making ready for their 6th trip to Africa. A Fargo 
truck was purchased by Christian friends, from T. R. Faulds, London. On 
this truck was a new chain saw, portable typewiter, projector, 20 bales 
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of clothing for school children. From the Shady Grove Farm, Percy Lloyd 
A Son, Glenwood, was placed on this truck, one bushel each of seven of 
tbe best varieties of soyabeans, selected .from 16 dilferent varieties. Also 
the HeUer Project Inc., of new Windsor, Maryland, supplied 2 male and 2 
female goats. This loaded truck went via boat from New York. 

About the year 1945, Percy Lloyd brought back from Arkansas. 
101ne percimon seeds from whlch he now has several trees. The first 
trees to have pe:clmons was in the year 1962. There Is only one other 
perclmon tree in Canada and that is a t Lee Cunningham's in Merlin. Try 
a percimon, they are delicious. 

During the depression of the 30's these were some of the prices 
received for farm produce: hogs, $3.00 per cwt. , live; oats, 16c a bushel; 
wheat, 45c a bushel ; tomatoes, 30c a bushel; weaned pigs, $1.00 each for 
rood ones. 

1900-1962- About 1900 aviation started r ight here In Glenwood. 
Robert Fish, a bright young man, got the idea one day to try to fly. He 
cot on top of the barn roof and jumped ofl with an open umbrella. The 
umbreJJa turned !ns'de out and Robert new s traight down. That was the 
start o! aviation. On December 190.3, in North Carolina, Orville and Wilbur 
:Wright made a successful flight of a few feet in a plane they made and 
named Kitty Hawk. 19Z7- Augustus Lindbergh, born in Detroit, 1902, sur­
prised the world by making a flight from San Delgo, Cal., to New York, 
and from New York to Paris, France, (alone) and won a $23,000 award. 
1962-Gien goes around the world three times in a little less than four 
hours. 

The following are some of the properties which are still in the 
family since it was timber land: Nelson Armstrong, his father's farm, 
Christopher Armstrong; Wayne Johnson, his grandfather's !arm, Thomas 
Johnson; Charles Ml!flin, his grandfather's farm. Wm. M!Hlln; Percy 
Garnet and Mrs. Wlll Lloyd's farms, their father's H1ram Lloyd; Walter 
Tasker, hls father's farm, Thomas Tasker; Donald Gifford, his grand­
father's farm, George G!Hord; Jack Gifford, hls grandfather's farm, 
George Gifford. 

The last home to built up to this time was for Roy Haskell. and 
the last child to be born was Lyndee Lee, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Arthur 
Wardle, born December 12, 196'.2. The last couple to be married in this 
community up untH the time this was written, is Ronald Lloyd and Gayle 
Ellwood, married in the Glenwood United Church, February 2, 1963. 

The village of Glenwood has been a thriving place twice, 1890· 
1900, the saw mill days, and again 1913-1955, the gas plant days (now 
gone). It will thrive again somehow. The farming area In the surrounding 
district cannot be beaten anywhere. It grows the best corn and soyabeans 
in Canada. The people of this district owe a lot to the pioneers for the 
hard labour it took to bring this from a swampy timber covered section 
to what It is today, and each year now we are learning how to grow much 
better crops. We have everything a person needs, all we need to do is 
make use of it. 

If a person's body Is hungry, give him food 

If a soul Is hungry, give encouragement 

If a body Is sick, give comfort. 

THANK YOU. 
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i 3 HIGHWAY ~oo ED GARRISON FARM ON 
t90 HIGHWAY AN OLD INDIAN TRAIL IN 

TILBURY EAST TWP 9 10 
11~1 sov FIRST GREENLAND BISHOP 
16~6 sve FIRST COLONIST IN CANADA 
1670 see SMALLPOX DEVASTATES INDIAN 
16B6 ~oe FATAL EPIDEMIC THROUGHOUT 
179~ see KENT COUNTY <ONTARIO> FORH 
1909 see FIRST STEAMER ON THE ST. L 
19~5 see POPULATION OF KENT CO IN 
1826 see FIRST FARH TAKEN UP FROH 
1B26 see LONDON AND WESTERN OISTRIC 
1829 see SMALLPOX IN TILBURY EAST 
1830 see FIRST SHIP THROUGH THE 
1830 see SHIP NAMED ANNIE & JANE 
18~9 seo PARLIAMENT HOUSE BURNT IN 
1850 'S-1BBO'S sve SC~OOL STATISTICS 
185~ see FIRST SCREW STEAMER 
1860 see SCHOOL STATISTICS FOR 
1860'S soo NATIONALITIES IN ONTARIO 
1860'S see RELIGIOUS OENOHINATlONS 
1872 see GROCERY PRICES IN ONTARIO 
1872 see WAGES IN ONTARIO IN 1872 
1881 see BOOI( , , , AN ATLAS -- 1981 
1890 see BLACK ASH DISEASE OF ABOUT 
1991 see SAW HILL AT GLENWOOD CONST 
1892 soe BARN RAISING BEE IN TILSUR 
199~-3 see RAILROAD AT GLENWOOD IN 
1893 sao RAILWAY AT GLENWOOD IN 
1895 see GLENWOOD CHURCH BUILT IN 
1997 see SCHOOL AT GLENWOOD BUILT 
1897-1909 soe SCHOOL-TEACHERS SALAR 
1899 see CRANCE HALL CONSTRUCTED IN 
1900 see AVIATION STARTS IN CLENWOO 
1900 see BLACK ASH FENCE RAILS OF 
1900 see FIRST CEMENT MIXED IN 1900 
1900 soe FIRST CAS LICHT HADE IN 
1900 see SOME EARLY FAHILES BEFORE 
1903 see SAW HILL AT GLENWOOD BURNE 
1903 see THAMES RIVER DREDGED IN 
1905 see DRILLING OIL WELL IN 1905 
1905 see OIL WELLS DRILLED IN 1905 
1905 see STREET CAR LINE FROH CHATH 
1908 see BARN RAISING IN 190B 
1908 see STREET CAR LINE FROM CHATH 
1910 see FIRST CAR AT GLENWOOD WAS 
1910 soo FORO TOURING CAR OF 1910 
1910 soe STEAM POWERED THRESHING 
1910 see STUDEBAKER CAR OF 1910 
1910-1961 see SCHOOL-TEACHERS SALAR 
\91~ see FIRST NEWLY WEDS TO LEAVE 
1Y12 ~oo CAS LINE LAID FOR CAS COHP 
1912 see KEETON 7 PASSENGER CAR OF 

1?1~ see HODEL T CAR OF 1Y12 
1?1~ see PHONE SYSTEM CONSTRUCTED 
1912 see TYPHOID FEVER OF 1912 
1?13 svo 300 ACRES OF LAND COST 
1?13 see CAR OF 1913 WITH ENTRANCE 
1913 sea TERRIBLE WINO DURING EASTE 
191~ so• FIRST COMBINE TO THRESH 
191~ see CAS LEASE IN TILBURY EAST 
191~ see HORSE POWERED COMBINE IN 
191~ sao HUP ROADSTER CAR OF 191~ 

191~ see HETZ CAR OF 1?1~ 
191~ sao OIL LEASE IN TILBURY EAST 
1915 see BARN RAISING IN 1915 AT 
1915 soo CHALMERS TOURING CAR OF 
1915 ~eo FIRST FARMER WITHOUT HORSE 
1915 sao GLENWOOD POST OFFICE CLOSE 
1915 see HODEL T FORO CAR OF 1915 
1916 see BUICK SIX CAR OF 1916 
1916 see CHEV CAR OF 1916 · 
1916 sea MAXWELL CAR OF 1916 
1916 see MODEL T FORD CAR OF 1916 
1917 see HOME HADE TRACTOR OF 1917 
1917 see MODEL T FORO CAR OF 1917 
1917-20 sea HARD BALL TEAM OF 1917 
191B sae HAPPY FARMER TRACTOR OF 
1919 see BUICK CAR OF 1919 
1919 see FORO TOURINC 3 DOOR CAR OF 
1920 see INTERNATIONAL HARVESTER Cd 
1920 see HODEL T FORD CAR OF 1920 
1920 sea TITON TRACTOR OF 1920 
1920'S see LADIES SHORT DRESSES OF 
1923 see HYDRO CONSTRUCTED IN 1923 
192~ soe CRYSTAL RADIO SET OF 192~ 
192~ see DEATH FROM MEASLES IN 
192~ sao INTERNATIONAL 8-16 TRACTOR 
1927 see GLENWOOD'S FIRST CRAVELLED 
1927 see NO. 1 COUNTY ROAD GRAVELL& 
1927/B soe GLENWOOD CHURCH MOVED I~ 
1929 see CHRISTMAS CONCERT OF 1929 
192B see FIRST HYDRO IN 1928 IN CL6 
1930 see INTERNATIONAL F12 TRACTOR 
1930 see TORNADO HITS TILBURY EAST 
1930'S see DEPRESSION OF THE 1930't 
1931 sea TORNADO OF 1931 
1931 see WINO STORM HITS TILBURY EA 
1931-~0 see HAIL ROUTE FROM MERLIN 
1932 see CHEV TRUCK OF 1932 
1932 see WIND STORM OF 1932 
193~ see CASE TRACTOR OF 193~ 
1935 see ~ ROO TILING IN 1935 
1936 see GLENWOOD BALL TEAH OF 193. 
1936 s uo OLD BOYS REUNION OF 1936 
1936 see SOFT BALL TEAM OF GLENWOOO 
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1?10 sue CUCUH~CR CROP IN 
1911 ~ee GLENWOOD WOMAN OLDEST AIR 
19~5 see 1915 WAS A WET YEAR IN TIL 
1?15 WAS A WET YEAR IN TILBURY EAST 

nw 60 
1916 see COHHUNlTY HALL CONSTRUCTED 
1916 sea FORO-FERGUSON TRACTOR OF 
1916 soo HAIL STORM IN AUTUMN OF 
1916 see SOFT BALL TEAM OF GLENWOOD 
19~6 see WINO STORM HITS TILBURY EA 
19~7 see TORNADO HITS GLENWOOD IN 
1917 see TORNADO HITS TILBURY EAST 
1917 soe TORNADO HITS WINDSOR IN 
1917 see WINO DAMAGE OF 19~7 
1917 •oe WINO STORM HITS TILBURY EA 
19~~-61 soo ELM DISEASE OF 1955-61 
1960 see RAILWAY SIGNALS INSTALLED 
1960'S see PRICE OF TOMATO CRO~ IN 
2ND MILE SOFT BALL CLUB AT TILBURY 

i ONT 63 
300 ACRES OF LAND COST s3210 0 IN 

1913 52 
1 ROD TILING IN 1935 19 
1-H CLUB IN TILBURY EAST TWP 32 
ACCIDENTS &eo CAR STRIKES DEER ON 
ACCIDENTS see GLENWOOD RESIDENTS WH 
ACCIDENTS Gee HAN KILLED AT ELEVATO 
ACCIDENTS sea RAILWAY DIESEL TRAIN 
ACCIDENTS see TITANIC STRUCK ICEBUR 
ACCIDENTS see TRAIN DERAILED AT CLE 
ACCIDENTS AND PEOPL~ IN~UREO IN 

GLENWOOD 66 
AGAINST LAW TO FLY FLAC OR ANY 

CLOTH FROM CAR BECAUSE OF 
SCARING HORSES 70 

AGRICULTURAL REPRESENTATIVE WAS 
JAMES CARNER 59 

AGRICULTURE sve OE~ARTMENT OF ACRIC 
AGRICULTURE sea GUELPH AGRICULTURAL 
AGRICULTURE see RALEIGH AND TILBURY 
AGROHANARY 65 
AIR FORCE ~9 ::10 
AIR FORCE see ROYAL AIR FORCE 
AIR FORCE see ROYAL CANADIAN AIR FO 
AIR TRAVELLER see GLENWOOD WOMAN OL 
AIRPLANES see T.C.A. PLANE 
AHPHABIANS see FORO REAR WHEEL CHAI 
ARMED FORCES 65 
ASH sea &LACK ASH DISEASE OF ABOUT 
ASH see BLACK ASH FENCE RAILS OF 
ASH sea WHITE ASH 
ATHIESTS Geo PERSONS PROFESSING NO 
ATLAS seo BOOK ,,, AN ATLAS-- 19B1 

AUCTIONEER IN liLUUkY CAGT TwP FOR 
S6 YEARS 33 

AUTOHO~ILE sea CARS 
AUTOHOCILE •vo FIRST HARRIED COUPLl 
AUTOMOBILE soo FIRST NEWLY ~EDS TO 
AVIATIO~ STARTS IN GLEN~OOD ABOUT 

1900 7\ 
BAD ACCIDENTS BUT NO ONE HURT IN 

GLENWOOD AREA 69 
BAODER ORAih 69 
BALL soo HARD BALL TEAM OF 1917-ZO 
BALL soo ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL SOFl 
BALL &eo SOFT BALL 
BALL sev USHER SOFT BALL CLUB OF Tl 
BALL CLUBS sev ~NO MILE SOFT BALL 
BALL TEAMS see GLENWOOD BALL TEAM 
BAND OF BLACK CREPE AROUND ARM AS 

SICN OF MOURNING 70 
BANK OF CANADA 22 Z9 
BANK OF MONTREAL ~ MERLIN 12 
BANK OF UPPER CANADA 29 30 
BANKER 65 
BANKS see MERCHANTS BANKING CO 
BAPTIST CHURCH SERVICES AT GLENWOOD 

3::> 
BAPTISTS AT CLENWOOO 51 
BAPTISTS IN ~ENT CO 6 7 
BARN FIRES 65 
BARN RAISING BEE IN TILBURY EAST 

TWP IN 1B9~ 33 
BARN RAISING IN 1909 61 
BARN RAISING IN 1915 AT H.S. 

LLOYD'S i GLENWOOD 6B 
BARN RAISI~CS 70 
BARN USED BY TEAMSTERS IN THE 

LOGCINC DAYS 36 
BARNS sve LARGEST BARN IN GLENwOOD 
BARNS soo LOG BARN IN TILBURY EAST 
BARNS see TOBACCO BARNS IN TILBURY 
BEANHARNOIS CANAL OPENED 3 
BEATTY BROS OF LONDON ~ O~T 29 
BEAVER see LARCE BEAVER DAM AT STEW 
BEAVER ~ CYL TRACTOR 66 
BEECHER ST ~ LONDON 15 
BEES (INSECTS> see EATINC MUSKMELON 
SEES !SEWING) sve SEWING BEES 
BEES (WORK> see BARN RAISING 
BELGIAN 69 
BELL TELEPHONE 1~ 

BERNARD HOME IN ENCLANO 4B 
BERNARDO HOME BOYS FROM ENCLA~D 2B 

6S 
BEST CORN AND SOYABEANS IN CANADA 
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CROWN AT GLENWOOD 71 
~IRTHS ~oo FIRST WHITE CHILO F.ORN 
BIRTHS seo WEICHT OF Z~3 AT BIRTH 
BISHO~ see FIRST C~EENLANO BISHOP 
&LACK ASH DISEASE OF ABOUT 1890 10 
&LACK ASH FENCE RAILS OF 1900 68 
BLACK PERCHERON HORSES 33 
BLACKSMITH see FIRST BLACKSMITH 
BLACKSMITH SHOES HORSES 70 
BLACI(SMITH SHOf> AT CLENWOOD 
BOARDINC HOUSE AT CLENWOOD 
BOARDINC HOUSE AT LOT 1Z ~ 

35 37 
3'1-36 59 

CON 13 ~ 

TIL~URY EAST TWP 30 
BOAROitlC HOUSE FOR CAS CQ, AT 

CLENWOOO '12 
BOARDING HOUS E NEAR LOT 13 + CON 13 

~ TILF.URY EAST TWP 31 
BOAROINC HOUSES soo HOUSTON'S &OA~O 
BOARDS soe FAIR BOARD OF MERLIN 
BOATS see PASSENGER BOAT SERVICE AT 
808 SLEIGHS 70 
BOOK ,,, AN ATLAS-- 1881 2 
BOOK ,,, THE COUNTY OF KENT 

CAZETEER AND GENERAL DIRECTORY 
186'1-6~ z 

BOX SOCIALS 70 
BOYS CAMP AT LOT 9 + CON 1'1 + 

TILBURY EAST TWf> 69 
BRAKEMAN 65 
BRAKEMAN FOR THE C.N,R. RAILWAY '1'1 
BUCI(LES soe ME14 WORE KNICKER BUCKLE 
BUICK CAR OF 1919 17 67 
BUICK SIX CAR OF 1916 67 
BUILDING CONTRACTORS OF LEAMINGTON 

~3 

BUS see GREYHOUND eus DRIVERS 
BUSH see GLENWOOD SUNDAY SCHOOL HEL 
BUSINESSES ~ee COLO STORACE BUSINES 
BUSINESSES soo NICHOLAS AND SHEf>HER 
BUSINESSES see RUSSELL TOOL AND DIE 
BUSINESSES soe SILVERWOOOS 
BUSINESSES see SOMMERVILLE'S AT LON 
BUSINESSES seo ST , CLAIR CRAIN 
BUTCHER ROUTE IN TILBURY EAST TWP 

BUTTON SHOES 70 
BUXTON POST OFFICE + RALEICH TWf> 6 
C t 0 FRElCHT TRAIN 19 
C.N,R. soo BRAKEMAN FOR THE C. N.R, 
CnBINS see LOC CABIN ON LOT 8 
CAMPS soo BOYS CAMP AT LOT 9 
CAHPS soo INDIAN CAMf> AT CLENWOOD 
CAMPS soo LOCCINC CAMP AT LOT 12 

CAMPS see LUMBER CAMf> 
CANADA CO 12 Z~ Z9 30 
CANADA CO. LAND 1 
CANADA LAND 17 
CANADA LAND CO 17 21 
CANADA LAND CO~P 19 21 
CAIIAOA SOUTHERN RAILWAY 9 
CANADIAN NAVY 22 
CANADIAN ROCK SALT CO + CLARKSON 'I~ 
CANALS see BEANHARNOIS CANAL Of>ENEO 
CANALS see FIRST SHIP THROUGH THE 
CANALS soo SHif> NAMED ANNIE 4 JANE 
CAPITAL INVESTMENT OF •186 PER 100 

AC~ES IN 18Bl 70 
CAR see FIRST CAR AT GLENWOOD WAS -
CAR see FIRST MARRIED COUPLE TO LEA 
CAR OF 1913 WITH ENTRANCE FROM DOOR 

IN REAR 67 
CAR STRIKES DEER ON . 3 HlCHWAY ~ 

ROMNEY TWP ~6 

CARP FISH STRANDED IN FIELD NEAR 
GLENWOOD 31 

CARS see AGAINST LAW TO FLY FLAC OA 
CARS see BUICK 
CARS see CHALMERS TOURING CAR 
CARS see CHEV CAR OF 1916 
CARS see FIRST NEWLY WEDS TO LEAVE 
CARS soe FORO TOURING 
CARS 5eo HUP ROADSTER 
CARS see KEETON 
CARS see MAXWELL CAR OF 1916 
CARS s ee I'IETZ 
CARS sro MODEL A FORO 
CARS see MODEL T CAR 
CARS see MODEL T FORO 
CARS soo OVERLAND CAR 
CARS seo SOME OF THE FIRST CARS IN 
CARS soe STUDEBAKER CAR OF 1?10 
CASE TRACTOR OF 193'1 3 1 
CATHOLIC CHURCH + STEVENSON 27 
CATTLE see FREE RANCE CATTLE 
CATTLE see GUERNSEY COW OF GLENWOOO 
CATTLE see HEIFER PROJECT INC 
CEMENT soo FIRST CEMENT MIXED IN 
CEMETERY soe STEWART CEMETERY 
CHALMERS TOURING CAR OF 1915 33 67 
CHARINC CROSS POST OFFICE ~ HARWICH 

TWP 6 
CHA~INC CROSS STATION ~ KENT CO S'l 
CHARLESTON DANCE 70 
CHATHAM <KENT COl CALLED A LAKE 

PORT 6 
CHATHAM w. f>OST OFFICE + RALEIGH 
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TWP 6 
CHESEPEAKE AND OHIO RAILWAY AT 

GLENWOOD S9 
CHEV CAR OF 19\6 67 
CHEV TRUCK OF 193Z 'I~ 

CHILDREN ~oo FAMILIES OF TEN CHILOR 
CHif>PEWA INDIANS 5 
CHOLERA EPIDEMIC 3 
CHRISTIANS IN KE~T CO 6 
CHRISTMAS CONCERT OF 1928 AT 

GLENWOOD 63 
CHURCH s"o BAPTIST CHURCH SERVICES 
CHURCH see CATHOLIC CHURCH ~ S TEVEN 
CHURCH see ENGLISH CONGREGATIONAL 
CHURCH seP EST . CHURCH OF SCOTLAND 
CHURCH see FIRST CHURCH AT GLENWOOD 
CHURCH s"o FIRST COUPLE MARRIED IN 
CHURCH see FIRST PROTESTANT CHURCH 
CHURCH ~eo FI~ST RELIGIOUS SERVICES 
CHURCH see FREE CHUR CH OF SCOTLAND 
CHURCH see GLENWOOD CHURCH 
CHURCH soo GLENWOOD UNITED CHURCH 
CHURCH SOC! METHODIST CHURCH AT CLEN 
CHURCH see PARSONAGE 
CHURCH soe ST . PETER'S CHURCH 
CHURCH ~oo ST. PETER'S PARISH 
CHURCH soe STEf>NEY CHURCH AT LONDON 
CHURCH sec SUNDAY SCHOOL SUPERINTEN 
CHURCH see UNITED CHURCH PAI\SOtiACC 
CHURCH see WESLEYAN METHODIST CHURC 
CHURCH see WILLING WORKERS CLASS OF 
CHURCH AT GLENWOOD 5~ ~S 69 
CHURCH AT LOT 9 i CON l~ ~ TILBURY 

EAST TWP 5'1 
CHURCH DINING HALL AT CLENWOOO ~~ 

CHURCH OF ENGLAND IN KENT CO 6 7 
CHURCH OF ROME IN KENT CO 6 7 
CHURCH SHEDS A1 GLENWOOD $4 69 
CIVIL ENGINEER 65 
CLAY ROADS see HEAVY CLAY ROADS 
CLERK OF TILBURY EAST TWP 35 
CLOVER soe GLENWOOD MAN INTRODUCES 
CLOVER see MAMMOTH REO CLOVER INTRO 
CLOVER SEED DISTRICT IN ALBERTA '13 
CLUBS see '1-H CLUB IN TILBURY EAST 
CLUDS seo USHER SOFT BALL CLUB OF 
COLO STORACE BUSINESS AT MERLIN S1 
COLONISTS suo FIRST COLONIST IN CAN 
COMBINES see FIRST COMCINE 
COMBINES sue HORSE POWERED COMBI NE 
COMMUNITY HALL AT Gl ENWOOD 3q 3~ SO 
COMI'IUNIT'l' tiALL CONSTRUCTED IN 19'16 

AT GLENWOOD 67 

CONCERTS soo CHRISTMAS CONCERT OF 
CONGr £CAT l ONAL see ENGLISH COtlCRECI 
CONGREGATIONALISTS IN KENT CO 6 7 
CONSTABLES ~•• FIRST CONSTABLES FOR 
CONTESTS soe kAI L S~LlTTING 
CONTRACTORS see BUILDING CONT~ACTO~ 
CORN s .. e BEST CORN niiO SOYABEANS II" 
CORN soo SEED OATS AIIO CORN 
COUNCIL see FIRST HEETINC OF KENT 
COUNCIL seo FIRST TOWNSHIP COUNCIL 
COUNCILLOR OF TIL BURY EAST TWf> 22 
COUNCILS see TOwNSHif> COUNCIL OF TJ 
COUNT Y HOME AT CHATHAM 26 ~7 
CREf>E <BLACK> see BAND OF BLACI( Cl<l 
CREWE EROS. FISHERY AT PORT ALMA S9 
CRISTY STIFF HATS 70 
CRO~S seo CUCUHLER CROP IN 1910 
CROPS seo SPECIFIC NAME OF CRO~ 
CROPS IN ONTARIO ~ 

CHOPS IN TILEURY E~ST TWf> JO 
CRYSTAL RADIO SET OF 192'1 AT 

GLENWOOD 63 
CUCUMBER CROP IN 1910 60 
CUNNINGHAM CARAGE AT MERLI N ~B 

CUTTERS soe LAW REQUIRES BELLS ON 
DAMS soo LA~GE BEAVER DAM AT STEWA~ 
DANCES soo CHARLESTON 
DANCES see SHIMMY .•• A DANCE 
DANCES soe VIOLINIST AT OLD TIME 
OEALTOWN POST OFFICE + TI LBURY EAST 

TWP 6 
DEATH FROM MEASLES IN 192~ ~6 
DEATHS see GLENWOOD RESIDENTS WHO 
DEER soo CAR STRI KES DEER ON • J HIC 
DEPART MENT OF AGRICULTURE + HARROW 

11 
DEPRESSION OF THE 1930 ' S 7 1 
DE~UTY REEVE OF TI LOURY EAST TWP 22 
DETROIT AND LAKE ERIE RAIL wAY AT 

GLENWOOD S9 
DETROIT LAKE ERIE RAILROAD 28 
DIRECTORY soe BOOK, ,, THE COUNTY 
DISCIPLES IN KENT CO 7 
DISEASES see OLACK ASH DIS EASE OF A 
DISEASES see CHOLERA EPIDEMIC 
DISEASES see DEATH FROM MEASLES 
DISEASES seo ELM DISEASE OF 1955 -61 
DISEASES see FATAL Ef>IOEMIC THROUC 
DISEASES ~eo SCARLET FEVER IN TILe 
DISEASES see SMALLPOX 
DISEASES see TYf>HOID FEVER 
DISTILLERY see UNION DISTILLERY OF 
DISTINGUISHED FLYING CROSS OF WWII 



lnde>< To: 'HISTORY OF THE GLENWOOD COMI'IUNllY' b.., Percw Llo"'d 

61 
DOCTOR TRAVELLED GY RAILWAY HAND 

CAR 6'1 
OOI'I~NION CAS CO AT GLENWOOD 35 SO 
OOHINION SUGAR CO S8 
DORMITORIES see ~APANESE LABOURERS' 
OR. BERRY'S FIRST PATIENT IN MERLIN 

'15 
DRAINS see BAOOER DRAIN 
DRESSES 5ee LADlES SHORT DRESSES OF 
DRILLERS see CAS WELL DRILLER 
ORILLlNC OIL WELL IN 190S 68 
DRIVERS <BUS) 5&o GREYHOUND BUS ORI 
ORUC STORE AT CHATHAM '16 
EARLY PCV LICENSE 'IS 
EARLY SETTLER IN GLENWOOD S3 
EAST TILBURY CANADA OIL FUEL LTD ~ 

TILBURY EAST THP 32 
EATINC MUSKMELON AND CCTTINC STUNG 

BY BEE CAUSES UNCONSCIOUSNESS 
70 

ED GARRISON FARM ON t 3 HIGHWAY '1'1 
EDGEWORTH POST OFFICE ~ TILBURY 

EAST TWP o 
EDWARDS' REPAIR SHOP AT GLENWOOD 3'1 
ELECTRICAL STORE AT WHEATLEY '10 
ELEVATORS seo CRAIN ELEVATOR 
ELEVATORS soo HAN KILLED AT ELEVATO 
ELEVATORS see WEBSTER'S ELEVATOR 
ELGIN ASSOCIATION + RALEIGH TWP B 
ELCIN SETTLEMENT + RALEICH TWP 8 
ELM DISEASE OF 19SS-61 10 
ENGINEERS 5ee CIVIL ENGINEER 
ENGLISH CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH 

HISSIONARY 10 
ENTERTAINHEIH see XYLOPHONE SOLO AT 
EPIOEHICS see DISEASES 
EPISCOPAL HETHOOlSTS IN KENT CO o 7 
ERIE AND DETROIT RIVER RAIL~OAD 13 
ESSEX 'I CYL TRACTOR 66 
EST. CHURCH OF SCOTLAND IN KENT CO 

6 7 
EXHIBITION see FIRST PRIZE FOR WHEA 
FACTORIES see H.~ HEINZ 
FACTORIES see HANDLE FACTORY AT STE 
FACTORIES soo HEINZ AT LEAHINCTON 
FACTORIES seo HUNT'S CANNING FACTOR 
FACTORIES see HUNTS CANNING FACTORY 
FACTORIES ~•• POTASH MANUFACTORY AT 
FAIR BOARD OF HCRLIN 62 
FAIR GROUNDS ~ CHATHAH 5 
FAMILIES soo FIRST FAMILIES TO RESI 
FAHILIES soe SOH£ EARLY FAMILES BEF 

FAMILIES OF TEN CHILDREN OR HORE 
AROUND GLENWOOD 6S 

FARGO TRUCK 70 
FARH LAND CORP 32 
FARM PRICES OF 1930'S 71 
FARM SYNDICATE PURCHASE LARGE 

SAWYER MASSEY THRESHING MACHINE 
AND STEAH ENGINE 69 

FARHERS see FIRST FARHER WITHOUT HO 
FARHINC see REOUIREHENTS FOR A YOUN 
FARHS see EO GARRISON FARM ON t 3 
FARHS se~ FIRST FARM TAKEN UP FROM 
FARHS 5ee ~AY-RON FARMS OF GLENWOOD 
FARMS see ~OG HOUSE ON MIFFLIN FARM 
FARMS see ROSELEA FARH OF CLEN~OOD 
FARMS 5ee SHADY GROVE FARM NEAR GLE 
FATAL EPIOEHXC THROUGHOUT CANADA IN 

1686 3 
FEDERAL OIL CO 32 
FEDERAL OIL CO, LTD 32 
FELT HATS 70 
FENCE RAILS see BLACK ASH FENCE 
FENCES see eLACK ASH FENCE RAILS OF 
FERGUSON see FOkO-FERCUGON TRACTOR 
FERRY ACROSS RIVER AT WINDSOR 6'1 
FIELDHAN FOR UNION CAS CO 50 
FIELDHAN FOR UNXON CAS CO AT 

OAKDALE 50 
FIRE DESTROYS STORE AT GLENWOOD 61 
FIRES see BARN FIRES 
FIRES 5oe HOUSE FIRES 
FIRES see OXL TANKS SET AFIRE BY 
FIRES 51>0 PAf;;LIAMENT HOUSE BURIH IN 
FIRST BLACKSMITH SHOP IN GLENWOOD 

3'1 
FIRST CAR AT GLENWOOD WAS A 1910 

STUDEBAKER 50 
FIRST CEMENT HIXEO IN 190D AT 

GLENWOOD 6:! 
FIRST CEMENT HIXEO IN GLENWOOD 2'1 
FIRST CHURCH AT GLENWOOD 3'1 
FIRST COLONIST IN CANADA DIES IN 

1626 3 
FIRST COMBINE IN GLENWOOD AREA 31 
FIRST COHBINE TO THRESH CRAIN IN 

GLENWOOD AREA WAS HORSE POWERED 
IN 191'1 63 

FIRST CONSTABLES FOR TILBURY EAST 
TWP 9 

FIRST COUPLE MARRIED IN GLENWOOD 
CHURCH 35 

FXRST FAMILIES TO RESIDE IN 
GLENWOOD 37 
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FIRST FARH TAI<EN UP FROM THE Cf;;OWN 
IN 1026 GLENWOOD Ar.;EA 66 

FIRST FARHER WITHOUT HORSES IN 191~ 
IN GLENWOOD A~EA 63 

FIRGT CAS DELIVERED FROH GLENWOOD 
FOR 15 CENTS PER TllOUSANO FEET 
63 

FIRST CAS LICHT HAOE IN 1900 AT 
GLENWOOD 62 

FIRST CAS OR OIL WELL IN TILBUr.;Y 
EAST TWP 10 

FIRST CAS HELL AT GLENWOOD 63 
FIRST GREENLAND BISHOP VISITS 

VINELAND I N 1121 3 
FIRST HYDRO IN 1928 IN GLENWOOD 

AREA 63 
FIRST MAIL ROUfE FROM CHARINC CROSS 

TO I'IAIDSTONE 6 
FIRST HARRIED COUPLE TO LEAVE 

MERLIN BY AUTOMOBILE 69 
FIRST HEETINC OF KENT CO. COUNCIL 5 
FIRST NEWLY WEDS TO LEAVE HERLIN IN 

AUTO (1912) 15 
FIRST OIL WELL WAS AT OIL SPRI NGS ~ 

LAHBTON CO 'I 
FIRST PERMANENT HOUSE AT GLENWOOD 

33 
FIRST PRIZE FOR WHEAT AT PARIS 

EXHIBITION 'I 
FIRST PROTESTANT CHURCH IN TILBURY 

EAST TWP 10 
FIRST RELIGIOUS SERVICES AT 

GLENWOOD S'l 
FIRST SCHOOL IN TIL£;URY EAST TWP 9 
FIRST SCREW STEAMER TO ENTER ST . 

LAWRENCE WAS FROH LIVERPOOL IN 
185'1 3 

FIRST SETTLERS IN TILEURY EAST TWP 
9 

FIRST SHIP THROUGH THE FIRST 
wELLAND CANAL IN 1030 3 

FIRST STEAHER ON THE ST. LAWRENCE 
RIVER WAS IN 1809 3 

FIRST STORE AT GLENWOOD 3'1 
FIRST STORE WEST OF VALETTA 9 
FIRST TILBURY EAST TWP HEETINC 9 
FIRST TILING HACHINE IN GLENWOOD 

AREA .2'1 
FIRST TOWNSHIP COUNCIL OF TILCURY 

EAST TWP 9 
FIRST VESSEL BUILT AT ST . ~OHN ~ 

N,£1 3 
FIRST WHITE CHILO BORN IN KENT CO :; 

FISH 5ee CARP FISH STRANDED IN 
FISH SHIPPED BY RAIL FROH C~ENWOOO 

59 
FISH'S FISHERY AT HORPETH + HOWARD 

TWP '17 
FISHERIES see CREWE BROS. FISHERY 
FISHERIES s~o FISH'S FISHERY AT 
FLETCHER <KENT CO) OIL BOOM 10 
FLOOR COVERING FOR EARLY HOHES 6'1 
FLOUR see SIHPSONS FLOUR HILL AT 
FLYING CROSS 5oo DISTINGUISHED FLYl 
FORD seo HODEL A 
FORO soo HODEL T 
FORD REAR WHEEL CHAIN DRIVE TRUCK 

-- AN EARLY AHPHASIAN WATER AND 
LAND INVENTION '15 

FORO TOURING 3 DOOR CAR OF 1919 67 
FORO TOURING CAR 17 6'1 
FORD TOURING CAR OF 1910 33 
FORO'S AT WINDSOR + ESSEX CO '1'1 
FORD-FERGUSON TRACTOR OF 19'16 33 
FOREHAN see P~ANT FOREMAN FOR UNION 
FOREST see VXRCIN FOREST IN TILBURY 
FREE CHUr.;CH OF SCOTLAND IN KENT CO 

0 7 
FREE CAS LEASE IN TILBURY EAST TWP 

33 
FREE RANCE CATTLE IN TILBURY EAST 

TWP 2'1 
FREIGHT CARS LIFTED OUT OF PASSING 

TRAIN BY TORNADO oS 
FRENCH CANADIANS IN TILBURY EAST 

TWP 9 
FRENCH ORIGIN 7 
FUEL soo RIDCETOWN FUEL SUPPLY CO 
FURNITURE STORE AT LEAMINGTON 50 
CAHES see SOFT BALL CAHES AT CLENWO 
CARAGE see CUNNINGHAM CARAGE AT HER 
CAS <NATURAL) see FIRST CAS DELIVER 
CAS CO 67 
CAS 
CAS 
CAS 
CAS 
CAS 
CAS 
CAS 
CAS 

CAS 
CAS 
CAS 

CO see BOARDING HOUSE FOR 
CO see DOMINION CAS CO 
CO soo CAS LINE LAID FOR CAS CO 
CO see GLENWOOD NATURAL CAS CO 
CO see SOUTHERN ONT CAS CO 
CO soo UNION CAS CO 
CO AT GLENWOOD 3~ ~6 'I~ 

LEASE IN TILBURY EAST TWP IN 
191'1 19 
LEASES see FRC£ CAS L£AOE IN 
LIGHTS ••• FIRST CAS LICHT "AOE 
LINE LAID FOR CAS COHPANY IN 
1912 61 
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CAS PLANT AT GLENWOOD 28 3'1 3 6 ~9 
60 71 

CAS PLANT GROUNDS AT GLENWOOD "13 
CI\S WELL s~~ FIRST CAS OR OIL WELL 
CI\S WELL soe FIRST CAS WELL 
CAS WELL DRILLER 6'1 
CAS WELLS IN GLENWOOD DISTRICT 63 
CAS WELLS IN TILBURY EAST TWP 1S 

17 19 21 22 29-31 33 
CAZETEER s~R BOOK ••• THE COUNTY OF 
GENERAL HOSPITAL AT OAKVILLE '19 
CEIII:RAL STORE AT STEWART 10 
GENERAL STORES s~o GRAY 'S GENERAL 
GLENWOOD ,,, THE SOYABEAN CAPITAL 

OF THE WORLD 11 
GLENWOOD AREA PROPERTIES STILL IN 

FAMILY SINCE IT HAS TIMBER 71 
CLCNHOOD BALL TEAH OF 193 6 33 
GLENWOOD CHURCH BUILT I N 1895 67 
GLENWOOD CHURCH MOVED 3'1 
GLENWOOD CHURCH MOVED IN 1927/B 5"1 
GLENWOOD HAN INTRODUCES MAMMOTH 

CLOVER TO THIS COUNTRY 69 
GLENWOOD NATURAL CAS CO AT GLENWOOD 

63 
GLENWOOD POST OFFICE 3'1 67 
GLENWOOD POST OFFICE CLOSED IN 1915 

31 
GLENWOOD RESIDENTS WHO WERE KILLED 

67 
GLENWOOD SCHOOL 21 22 3'1 35 
CLE~WOOD STATION 11 
GLENWOOD SUNDAY SCHOOL HELD IN BUSH 

69 
GLENWOOD SUNDAY SCHOOL PICNIC AT 

ERIE BEACH 69 
GLENWOOD UNITED CHURCH 61 62 71 
GLENWOOD WO MAN OLDEST AIR TRAVELLER 

IN CANADA IN 19 "11 61 
GLENWOOD'S FI RST GRAVELLED ROAD WAS 

NO . 1 ROAD IN 1927 67 
GOSPEL HALL AT GLENWOOD 12 
CRAIN ELEVATOR AT GLENWOOD 3'1 
GRAMMAR SCHOOL AT CHATHAM 6 B 
GRAVELLED ROADS soo GLENWOOD 'S FIRS 
GRAVELLED ROADS sea NO, 1 COUIITY 
GRAY'S GENERAL STORE AT GLENWOOD 35 
GRAY 'S STORE AT GLENWOOD 3'1 
GREAT LAt:ES 'I 
GREAT WESTERN RAILWAY WAS FIRST 

LOCOMOTI VE RAILWAY IN ONTARIO 'I 
GREAVES' STORE AT GLENWOOD 3'1 35 59 
GREYHOUND BUS DRIVERS "15 

CRIST MILL seo STEAM CRIST & SAW 
GROCERY PRICES IN ONTARIO IN 1872 5 
CUELF'II AGRICULTURAL SCHOOL AT 

GUELPH ~z. 

GUERNSEY CQl., OF GLENWOOD IS TOPS IN 
CANADA 62 

H.J HEINZ AT LEAMINGTON '17 "'B 
H,J, HEI NZ RECEIVING STATION AT 

GLENWOOD 60 
HAIL STORM IN AUTUMN OF 1916 70 
HALLIDAY'S STORE AT GLENWOOD 3'1 
HALLS sa~ CHURCH DINING HALL 
HAL~S seo COMMUNITY HALL 
HALLS s ee GOSPEL HALL 
HALLS see ORANGE HALL 
HANDLE FACTORY AT STEWART 35 
HI\PPY FARNfR Z. CYL TRACTOR 66 
HAPPY FARNER TRACTOR q9 
HAPPY FARMER TRACTOR OF 191 8 17 
HARD BALL TEAM OF 1917-20 AT 

GLENWOOD 63 
HATS see CRISTY STIFF HATS 
HATS soe FELT HATS 
HEAD SAWYER AT A MILL IN TILBURY 

EAST TWP 23 
HEAVY CLAY ROADS 6"1 
HEIFER PROJECT INC OF NEW WINDSOR t 

MARYLAND 71 
HEINZ AT LEAMINGTON 60 
HIGH SCHOOL AT BLENHEIM "19 
HIGH SCHOOL AT TILLSONBURC "19 
HIGHLAND PARK t NICH '16 
HIGHWAYS see t9B HIGHWAY AN OLD 
HILL'S TI LE PLANT AT STEVENSON 3~ 
HOGS see PIGS 
HOGS sea SLAUG HTER HOUSE FOR HOGS 
HOME BOY FROM ENGLAND 49 
HOME MADE TRACTOR o6 
HOME HADE TRACTOR OF 191 7 15 
HOHE MADE TRACTOR OF 1917 AT 

GLENWOOD 63 
HOMES <EARLY) seo FLOOR COVERING 
HORSE POWERED COMBINE IN 1911 31 
HORSES see AGAINST LAW TO FLY FLAG 
HORSCS see BLACK PERCHERON HORSES 
HORSES see BLACKSMITH SHOES HORSES 
HORSES s~o FIRST COMBINE TO THRESH 
HORSES s eo FIRST FARNER WITHOUT 
HOSPITAL soe ST. JOSEPH ' S HOSPITnL 
HOSF'ITI\L AT SHELBURNE 51 
HOSPITALS see GENERAL HOSPITAL AT 
HOSPITALS soe METROPOLITAN HOSPITAL 
HOSPITALS see WESTMINSTER HOSPITAL 
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HOTELS s ec PRINCE COWARD HOTEL 
HOUSE FIRES o5 
HOUSTON'S BOARDING HOUSE AT 

GLENWOOD 6 \ 
HUNT ' S CANNING FACTORY AT TILBURY 

10 
HUNTS CANNING FACTORY 65 
HUP ROADSTER CAR 15 
HUP ROADSTER CAR OF 191"1 67 
HURON & ERIE :!0 
HYDRO see FIRST HYDRO IN 1920 IN 
HYDRO CONSTRUCTED IN 1923 AT 

GLENWOOD 67 
ICE HOUSE IN TILBURY EAST TWP 2'1 
ICEBURGS sec TITANIC S TRUCK ICEBURG 
ILLNESSES see EATING MUSKMELON AND 
INDIAN CAHP AT CLENWOOO 25 
INDIANS 'I S 
I NDIANS see ~98 HIGHWAY AN OLD 
INDIANS sec CHIPPEWA INDIANS 
INDIANS soc IROQUOIS INDIANS 
INDIANS see LAST I NDIANS IN CLENWOO 
INDIANS soc LONDON AND WESTERN DIST 
INDIANS see NATIVES OF CANADA 
INDIANS seo SMALLPOX DEVASTATES IND 
INDIANS see WAR WI TH THE IROQUOIS 
INDUSTRIAL ARTS s~e TEACHER OF INOU 
INJURIES sea ACCIDENTS AND PEOPLE 
I NTERNATIONAL 1~-30 q CYL TRACTOR 

66 
INTERNATIONAL 9- 16 T~ACTOR OF 192~ 

::!9 
INTERNATIONAL F 12 'I CYL TRACTOR 66 
INTERNATIONAL F12 TRACTOR OF 1930 

33 
INTERNATIONAL HARVESTER COHPANY 

15-30 TRACTOR OF 19:!0 33 
INTERNATIONAL TITAN ::! CYL TRACTOR 

66 
IROQUOI S soe WAR WITH THE IROQUOIS 
IROQUOIS INDIANS 3 
JANITOR OF SCHOOL AT GLENWOOD 56 
JAPANESE LABOURERS' DORMITORY AT 

VALETTA SO 
J AY-RON FARMS OF GLENWOOD 3Z. 
KEETON 7 PASSENGER CAR OF 1912 67 
KEETON CAR 13 
KENT COUNTY <ONTARIO) FORMED IN 

1792 s 
KNICKERS soo HEN WORE KNICKER 
LABORATORY TECHNICIAN 6~ 

LABOU~ERS soc ~APANESE LABOURERS' 
LADIES SHORT DRESSES OF THE 19~0 ' S 

70 
LAKE ERIE AND DETROIT RAILWAY Z."' 

Z!i 27 29 30 
LAY.E ERIE DETROIT RAILWAY ~9 

LAKE PORTS sec CHATHAM <KENT CO> 
LAKES see GREAT LAKES 
LAND CO 5~o CANADA CO 
LAND CO soe CANADA LANO 
LAND CO soe STRAUS LAND 
LAND PRICES s~o 3 00 ACRES OF LAND 
LAND PRICES soo CAPITAL INVESTMENT 
LAND PRICES IN EARLY ONTARIO ~ 

LARGE BEAVER DAM AT STEWART 9 
LARGEST BARN IN GLENWOOD AREA 27 
LAST INDIANS IN GLENWOOD AREA 69 
LAW REQUIRES BELLS ON CUTTERS 70 
LAWS IOLD > soc AGAINST LAW TO FLY 
LEAGUES sco SOFT BALL LEAGUE 
LEAGUES sec SOFT BALL LEAGUE OF WHE 
LEAGUES . so~ TEAMS 
LEA~ES s~e FREE CAS LEASE IN TIL BUR 
LEASES see GAS LEASE IN TILBURY EAS 
LEASES see OIL LEASE IN TILBURY EAS 
LEHUEL EDWARDS' wORKSHOP AT 

GLENWOOD S9 
LI CENSES seo EAkLY PCV LICENSE 
LIGHTNING see OIL TANKS SET AFIRE 
LIGHTS see FIRST CAS LICHT MADE IN 
LIVESTOCK see FREE RANCE CATTLE IN 
LIVESTOCK see STOCK YAROS AT CLENWO 
LIVI:STOCK see TYPES !I . E . CATTLE) 
LIVESTOCK IN TILBURY EAST TWP 10 
LODGES ~ee ORANGE LODGE CL .O.L. NO. 
LODGES sec THAHESVIEW LODGE 4 CHATH 
LOG BARN IN TILBURY EAST TWP 16 
LOG BUILDING IN TILBURY EAST TWP 

27 '1"1 
LOG CABIN ON LOT B t CON 1Z. t 

TIL~URY EAST TWP 69 
LOG HOUSE ON HIFFLIN FARH IN 

TILBURY EAST TWP ~2 

LOG HOUSES IN GLENWOOD AREA 69 
LOG HOUSES I N TILBURY EAST TWP 1"1 

18 19 22 21 26 27 33 ~7 ~0 53 6~ 
LOG RAFTS TOWED TO SANDUSKY t OHIO 

60 
LOGGING see BARN USED BY TEAMSTERS 
LOGGING CAMP AT LOT 12 t CON 13 • 

TILBURY EAST TWP 30 
LONDON AND WESTERN DISTRICT BOUGHT 

FROM INDIANS IN tB~& q 
LONDON L":FE :!0 
LONDON LIFE HFG 32 
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LUMBER CAMP ON LOT 12 ~ CON 11 ~ 

TIL&URY EAST TWP 18 
LUHSCR CAHP ONE HILE WEST OF 

CLEN\.1000 59 
LUTHCRN IN KENT CO 6 7 
MACHINE OPERATOR sro ROD MACHINE 
MACHINES soo FARH SYNDICATE PURCHAS 
MACHINES soo FIRST TILINC MACHINE 
MACHINES soa STEAH DRIVEN TILING 
HACH~NES soa STEAH POWERED THRESHIN 
MACHINES see STEAM POWERED TILING 
MACHINES sot:- THRESHING MACHINES AT 
MACKENZIE REBELLION 9 
HAIL soo FIRST MAIL ROUTE FROH 
HAIL ROUTE FROH MERLIN IN 1931-1910 

15 
MAHHOTH CLOVER soo GLENWOOD MAN 
HAHHOTH RCD CLOVER INTRODUCED INTO 

CANADA 15 
HAH KILLED AT ELEVATOR AT GLENWOOD 

49 
MAPLE LEAF SCHOOL + TIL~URY EAST 

TWP 27 
MARRIAGE sao FIRST COUPLE HARRIED 
MARRIAGE 500 FIRST HARRIED COUPLE 
MARRIAGE 5eo FIRST NEWLY WEDS TO 
MARRIAGE see REQUIREMENTS FOR A 
MAXWELL CAR OF 1916 67 
HEAT CUTTER AT SUPERMARKET IN 

DETROIT ~ HICH 52 
HEH WORE KNICKER BUCKLES 70 
MERCHANTS BANKING CO 31 
MERLIN STANDARD NEWSPAPER 2 BACK 

COVER 
METHODIST CHURCH AT GLENWOOD 22 
METHODISTS seo EPISCOPAL METHODISTS 
METHODISTS see NEW CONNEXION METHOD 
METHODISTS soe OTHER METHODISTS IN 
METHODISTS soe SUNDAY SCHOOL SUPERI 
METHODISTS soe WESLEYAN METHODIST 
METHODISTS see WESLEYAN METHODISTS 
METHODISTS AT GLENWOOD 51 
METROPOLITAN HOSPITAL AT WINDSOR 19 
HETZ CAR 15 
HETZ CAR OF 1911 67 
HILL soo HEAD SAWYER AT A HILL 
HILLNERS soe PROFESSIONAL MILLNER 
HILLS soe SAW HILLS 
HILLS soa SIHPSONS FLOUR HILL AT 
HILLS ~oo SHITH HILLS AT STEWART 
HISC I TEMS OF INTEREST AROUND 

CLENWOOO AREA 68 
MISSIONARY ~co ENGLISH CONGREGATION 

MISSIONARY TO CHINA 16 
HODEL A FORD CAR 19 
HODEL T CAR OF 1912 31 
HODEL T FORD CAR OF 1915 67 
MODEL T FORO CAR OF 1916 67 
HODEL T FORO CAR OF 1917 33 
HODEL T FORO CAR OF 1920 31 67 
MOUkNINC 5oo BAND OF BLACK CREPE 
MUSEUM AT CHATHAM 2 67 
MUSKMELON sco EATING MUSKMELON AND 
NATIONAL ADVERTISING OF OTTAWA 26 
NATIONALITIES IN ONTARIO IN 1860'S 

1 
NATIVES OF CANADA 7 
NI\VY '19 
NAVY so& CANADIAN NAVY 
NEW CONNEXION METHODISTS IN KENT CO 

6 7 
NEW YORK CENTRAL RAILWAY ~ 9 
NEWSPAPERS sa& MERLIN STANDARD NEWS 
NICHOLAS AND SHEPHERD CO 32 
NO, 1 COUNTY ROAD SQe GLENWOOD'S 
NO. 1 COUNTY ROAD GRAVELLED IN 1927 

~ KEtn CO 63 
NORTH CHATHAM STEAM SAW HILL AT 

CHATHAM 8 
NURSE ON MANITOULIN ISLAND + ONT 19 
NURSES 6::i 
OATS sao SEED OATS AND CORN 
OIL see FLETCHER <KENT CO) OIL BOOH 
OIL CO see FEDERAL OIL CO 
OIL FUEL CO soo EAST TILBURY CANADA 
OIL LEASE IN TILBURY EAST TWP 23 32 
OIL LEASE IN TILBURY EAST TWP IN 

1911 19 
OIL TANKS SET AFIRE BY LIGHTNING 61 
OIL WELL see DRILLING OIL WELL IN 
OIL WELL see FIRST OIL WELL WAS AT 
OIL WELL SHOT 61 
OIL WELLS AROUND GLENWOOD 10 
OIL WELLS DRILLED IN 190S IN 

CLENWOOO AREA 69 
OIL WELLS IN GLENWOOD OIST~ICT 63 
OIL WELLS IN TILBURY EAST TWP 21 
OLO BOYS REUNION OF 1936 AT 

GLENWOOD 6Z 
OLDEST see GLENWOOD WOMAN OLDEST 
ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL SOFT BALL 

CHAMPIONSHIP 63 
ORANGE HALL AT COATSWORTH ::i9 
CRANCE HALL AT GLENWOOD 21 3~ 51 

62 6S 
CRANCE IMLL AT CLCNWOOD CONSTRUCTED 
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IN 1BYO 67 
CRANCE LODGE <L.Q.L, NO. 133~) AT 

GLENWOOD ~9 
ORANGEMEN AT CLCNWOOO 35 
O~CHAROS see REINDEER IN PARDO'S 
ORCHESTRA •re SON~Y BROOK ORCHESrRA 
OTHER METHODISTS IN KENT CO 6 7 
OVERLAND CAR q9 
PARKLAND TRAILER COURT AT 

KAPUSKASINC 'IS 
PARLIAMENT HOUSE BURNT IN 1819 3 
PARSONAGE sre ROMNEY PARSONAGE IN 
PARSONACE s eo UNITED CHURCH PARSONA 
PARTIES see SLEIGH RIDE PARTIES 
PASSENGER BOAT SERVICE AT CHATHAM 6 
PASSENGER T~AINS AT GLENWOOD 69 
PERCHE~ON seo SLACK PERCHERON HORSE 
PERCIHON SEEDS CROW TREES IN 

GLENWOOD 71 
PERC MARQUETTE RAILWAY 6'1 
PERE MARQUETTE RAILWAY AT GLENWOOD 

59 
PERSONS PROFESSING HD RELIGION IN 

KENT CO IN 1800'S 6 
PETROLEUM see WEST PETROLEUM 
PHONE SYSTEH CONSTRUCTED IN 1912 AT 

CLENWOOO 67 
PICNICS see CLEHWOOO SUNDAY SCHOOL 
PXCS see HOGS 
PIGS see SLAUCHTER HOUSE FOR HOGS 
PIONEERS sse FIRST W'ITTE CHILO BORN 
PIONEERS seo SETTLERS 
PIONEERS sea SOME EARLY FAHILES 
PLANT FOREMAN FOR UNION CAS CO AT 

PORT ALMA ::iO 
PLUMBER 65 
POLICE see PROVINCIA~ POLICE 
POLICE see TOWN POLICEMAN ~ MERLIN 
PONDS SERVE AS SKATING RINK AT 

GLENWOOD 60 
POPULATION OF KENT CO IN 1825 5 
POST OFFICE see BUXTON POST OFFICE 
POST OFFICE see GHARING CROSS POST 
POST OFFICE see CHATHAM W. POST OFF 
POST OFFICE see OEALTOWN POST OFFIC 
POST OFFICE se& EDGEWORTH POST OFFI 
POST OFFICE seo CLENWOOO POST OFFIC 
POST OFFICE see ROMNEY POST OFFICE 
POST OFFICE seo STEWART POST OFFICE 
POST OFFICE soe TILBURY EAST POST 0 
POST OFFICC soe TILBURY POST OFFICE 
POSTAL CLERKS ~ee REGISTRAR POSTAL 
POTASH MANUFACTORY AT STEWART 10 

PkES~YTEklANO ~ee UNJTEO PRESBYTER! 
PRESBYTERIANS AT GLENWOOD 5'1 
PRICE OF TOMATO CROP IN 1960'S 60 
PR1CES soe FARH PRICES OF 1930 ' S 
PRICES see FIRST GAS DEL IVERED FROH 
PRICES soo CROCERY PRICES IN ONTARI 
PRICES se& LAND PRICES IN EARLY ONT 
PRICEC s o& WOOD OELIVERED FOR s1 A 
PRINCE EDWARD HOTEL 15 
PRISONER OF WAR IN GERMANY 61 
PROFESSIONAL MILLNER 65 
PROTCSTANT soo FIRST PROTESTANT CHU 
rROVINCIAL POLICE 65 
OUAKERS IN KENT CO 6 
RADIO OPERATOR 65 
RADIOS sea CRYSTAL RADIO SET OF 
RAIL SPLI TTING CONTESTS 60 
RAILROAD AT GLENWOOD CONSTRUCTED IN 

1092-93 67 
RA~L~OAO AT CLENWOOD IN 1892-3 11 
RAILROAD COtlSTRUCTEO OF WOODEN 

F.AILS 68 
RAILROAD FROH POr.T ALMA ~ TILBURY 

EAST TWP 68 
RAILROAD SIDINC HEAR GLENWOOD 26 
RAILROAD SIDING + TILbURY EAST TWP 

30 
RAILWAY AT CLENWOOO 50 ~9 
RAILWAY AT GLENWOOD IN 1893 62 
RAILWAY DIESEL TRAIN CUTS TRACTOR 

IN TWO AT GLENWOOD 62 
F.AILWAY SIGNALS INSTALLED IN 1960 

AT CLENWOOD 68 
RAILWAY STATION AT GLENWOOD 31 68 
RAILWAY STATIONS see CHARING CROSS 
RAILWAY STATIONS see CLENWOOO STAll 
RAILWAYS seu 9RAKEHAN FOR THE C.N.R 
RAILWAYS see CANADA SOUTHERN RAILWA 
RAILWAYS so& CHESEPEAKE AND OHIO RA 
RAILWAYS soe DETROIT ANO LAKE ERIE 
RAILWAYS see DETROIT LAKE ERIE RAIL 
RAILWAYS s&o DOCTOR TRAVELLED BY RA 
RAILWAYS see ERIE AND DETROIT RIVER 
RAILWAYS see FISH SHIPPED BY RAIL F 
RAILWnYS seo FREIGHT CARS LIFTED 
RAILWAYS see CREAl WESTERN RAILWAY 
RAILWAYS see LAKE ERIE ANO OET~OIT 
RAILWAYS 5ee LAKE ERIE DETROIT RAIL 
RAILWAYS see NEW YORK CENTRAL RAILW 
RAILWAYS see PASSENCER TRAINS AT CL 
RAILWAYS see PERE MARQUETTE RAILWAY 
RAILWAYS se• RUN AWAY RAILWAY FREIC 
RAILWAYS seo STREET CAR LINE FROM C 
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RAILWAYS sec TRAIN DERAILED AT CLEN 
sAIN sao 19~~ WAS A WET YEAR IN TIL 
RALEIGH AND TIL~URY EAST 

ACklCULTURAL SOCIETY 62 
REBELLION oe~ MACKENZIE RE~CLLION 
R~D CLOVER ~oo MAMMOTH RED CLOVER 
~ED CROSS Goo VICTORIA RED CROSS 
RCEVE soc DEf'UTY REEVE OF TILBURY E 
REClOTEk£0 SLED CRO~ER ~9 
REGISTRAR f'OSTAL CLERK AT 

LC:AMINCTON SO 
REGISTRY OFFICE + CHATHAM 2 
REINDEER IN PARDO'S ORCHARD IN 

RALEICH TWP 69 
RELIGIOUS DENOMINATIONS IN ONTARIO 

IN 1860'S 'I 
REPAIR SHOPS sco EOHAROS' REPAIR 
REPAIR SHOPS ~•• WELOINC & REPAIR 
REQUIREMENTS FOR A YOUNC MAF.RI£0 

MAN TO START FARMINC 70 
REUNION s ee OLD BOYS REUNION OF 
RIDCETOWN FUEL SUf'PLY CO 23 
RINKS see PONDS SERVE AS SKATING 
RIOTS AT TORONTO 3 
RIVERS see FERRY ACROSS RIVER AT 
RIVERS see FIRST STEAMER ON THE ST. 
RIVERS soe THAMES RIVER OREOCEO IN 
ROADS see HEAVY CLAY ROADS 
ROAOSfER soe HUP ROADSTER CAR 
ROCK SALT sco CANADIAN ROCK SALT CO 
ROO MACHINC: Of'C:RATOR FOR UNION CAS 

co so 
ROMNEY PAR~ONACE IN ROMNEY TWP ~7 

53 
ROMNEY POST OFFICE + ROMNEY TWP 6 
ROSELEA FARM OF CLC:NWOOO 62 
ROYAL AIR FORCE 61 
ROYAL CANADIAN AIR FORCE 53 
ROYAL CANADIAN AIR FORCE IN WWII SO 
RUMLEY 1 CYL TRACTOR 66 
RUN AWAY RAILWAY FREIGHT CAR 6~ 
RUSSELL TOOL AND DIE + CHATHAM 35 
S.S.t a OF TIL&URY EAST TWP 21 55 
SALARIES see SCHOOL-TEACHER 
SALT see CANADIAN F.OCK SALT CO 
SALVATION ARMY 5 
SALVATION ARMY AT GLENWOOD 35 5~ 
SAW MILL sc~ NORTH CHATHAM STEAM 
SAW MILL soo SMITH'S SAW MILL 
SAW MILL see STEAM CRIST & SAW MILL 
SAW hlLL AT CLEN~OOO 31 33 3~ 36 

~6 :.9 65 71 
SAW MILL AT GLENWOOD BURNED IN 1903 

b7 
SAW MILL AT GLENWOOD CONSTRUCTED IN 

1091 67 
SAW MILL AT STEVENSON 67 
SAW HILL AT STEWART 35 
SAW MIL~ AT TIL&UkY EAST 9 
SAWYER ~•• HEAD SAWYER AT A MILL IN 
SCARLET FEVC:R IN TIL&URY EAST TWP 

13 '\0 
SCHOOL AT GLENWOOD ~q qz 
SCHOOL AT GLENWOOD F.UILT IN 1097 67 
SCHOOL HOUSE AT GLENWOOD 12 
SCHOOL STATISTICS FOR 1050'S-1B80'S 

6 
SCHOOL STATISTICS FOR ONTARIO FOR 

1060 'I 
SCHOOL-TEACHER'S SALARY WAS 10 

CENTO PER PUPIL PCR MONTH 3S 
SCHOOL-TEACHERS SALARIES FOR 

1897-1909 ss 
SCHOOL-TEACHERS SALARIES FOR 

1910-1961 56 
SCHOOLS seo FIRST SCHOOL IN TILBURY 
SCHOOLS see GLENWOOD SCHOOL 
SCHOOLS see GRAMMAR SCHOOL AT CHATH 
SCHOOLS so• GUELPH AGRICULTURAL 
SCHOOLS see HICH SCHOOL AT BLENHEIM 
SCHOOLS so~ HIGH SCHOOL AT TILLSONB 
SCHOOLS s ec ~ANITOR OF SCHOOL AT CL 
SCHOOLS see MAPLE LEAF SCHOOL 
SCHOOLS Gee S.S.t 8 OF TIL&URY EAST 
SCHOOLS ~ce TEACHER OF INDUSTRIAL A 
SCHOOLS sou TRUSTEES OF S.S. ~ 8 OF 
SElO see CLOVER SEED DISTRICT IN AL 
SEED seo PERCIHON SEEDS CROW TREES 
SEC:O ~co REGISTERED SEED GROWER 
SEED OATS AND CORN 69 
SETTLERS suo EARLY SETTLER IN CLENW 
SETTLERS ••• FIRST COLONIST IN CANA 
SETTLERS s~o FIRST FAMILIES TO RESI 
SETTLERS soo FIRST FARM TAKEN UP FR 
SETTLERS seo FIRST PERMANENT HOUSE 
SETTLERS soa FIRST SETTLERS IN TILB 
SETTLERS soo FIRST WHITE CHILO BORN 
SETTLERS soo PIONEERS 
SETTLERS see SOME EARLY FAMILES BEF 
SEWING OEES 6'1 
SHADY GROVE FARM NEAR GLENWOOD 27 

71 
SHEOS s~e STAVE SHEDS AT GLENWOOD 
SHIMMY ••• A DANCE 70 
SHIP NAMED ANNIE & ~AN£ WAS FIRST 

THROUGH fHE FIRST WELLAND CANAL 

lndtt>l lo: 'HISTORY OF THI:." GLE,.,WOOO COMMliNilY' bv f'orC'w L\o~d 

IN 1030 3 
SHl~S ~ee FIRST SHIP THROUGH fHI:. FI 
SHl~S sea FIRST VESSEL ~UILT AT ST. 
SHIPS aee SHIP NAMED ANNIE & ~ANE W 
SHOC:S ~oo £:UT1 ON SHOES 
SHOPS Gee f!LI\CKSMiiH SHOP Ar GLfNwO 
SHOPS s~o EOWAkOS' F.CPI\IR SHOP AT 
SHOPS aoo FIRST BLACKSMITH SHOP IN 
SHOPS srr LEMUEL EDWARDS' WORKSHOP 
SHOPS .. <>o WELDING & REPAIR SHOP AT 
SHOPS IN TILBURY EAST 9 
SILVER KING ON RUBBER 'I CYL TRACTOR 

66 
SILVERWOOOS '1'1 
SIHPSONS FLOUR HILL AT MERLIN 69 
SKATING RINKS soo PONDS SERVE AS 
SLAUGHTER HOUSE FOR HOCS 61 
SLAUGHTER HOUSE IN TILCURY EAST TWP 

SLAUGHTERING £:EE 6'1 
SLEIGH RICE PARTIES 70 
SLEIGHS Goo POB SLEIGHS 
SMALLPOX DEVASTATES XNOIANS IN 1670 

3 
SMALLPOX IN TILBURY EAST TWP IN 

1829 9 
SMITH HILLS AT STEWART 60 
SMITH'S MILLS a 
SMITH'S SAW MILL AT STEWART 26 
SMITH'S SAW MILL IN TIL~URY EAST 

TWP 9 
SOCIALS ~oe ~OX SOCIALS 
SOCIALS sou STRAWBEr-RY SOCIAL AT CL 
SOCIETIES 'CP RALEIGH AND TIL8URY E 
SOFT OALL £eo 7ND MILE SOFT BALL 
SOFT BALL sra ONTARI O INTERNATIONAL 
SOFT BALL '"'e USHER 50FT t:ALL CLUB 
SOFT BALL CAMES AT GLENWOOD 62 
SOFT BALL LEAGUE OF TILBURY EAST + 

TILBURY EAST TWP 63 
SOFT BALL LEAGUE OF WHEATLEY + KENT 

co 63 
SOFT BALL TEAM OF GLENWOOD IN 1936 

63 
SOFT BALL TEAM OF GLENWOOD IN 19'16 

63 
SOFT BALL TEAM OF ~EANNETTES CREEK 

+ TIU:URY EAST TWP 63 
SOFT BALL TEAM OF MERLIN 63 
SOFT GALL TEAM OF PORT ALMA + 

TILOURY EAST TWP 63 
SOFT BALL TEAM OF &OUTH ~UXTON 4 

RALEIGH TWP 63 

SOFT ~ALL TEAM OF VnLETTA + TlLLUkY 
EAST HW 63 

SOME LARLY FAMILES fEFORE 1900 IN 
CLENWUOD AREA 66 

SOME OF THE FIRST CARS IN GLEN~OOO 
AREA 67 

SOME OF THC: FIRST TkACfORS IN 
CLENWODO A~EA 66 

50MMERVI LLC 'S AT LONDON ~ ONT q~ 
SONNY BROOK O~CHESTRA 62 
SOUTitERI~ ONT CAS CO 11 
SOUTHEF.N ONT GAS CO AT GLENWOOD 3~ 
!:iOYAE:EAN TEST f'LOTS OF 19 VARIETI ES 

AT GLENWOOD 62 
SOYA~E'ANS sc~ tEST CORN AND SOYABEA 
SOYACEANS .~~GLENWOOD , ,, THE SOYA 
<,QYA£E AtiS SIIIPP!:D TO AFRICA 70 
Sf , Cl.AlR Gki'IN 37 
ST . CLAIR GRMIN CO AT GLENwOOD 36 
ST . ~OH~ AMBULANCE ASSOCIATION - -

HOPEWELL NO. 301 DIVISION 'IS 
ST . ~03EPH'S HOSPilAL AT GUELPH+ 

ONT 51 
ST. PETER'S CHURCH WAS FIRST PLACE 

OF WORSHIP IN TILBURY EAST TWP 
9 

ST. PETER'S PARISH 53 
STATIONS see RAILWAY STATIOII AT GLE 
STAVE COVERED HOUSE IN TlL~URY EAST 

TWP 27 
STAVE SHEDS Af CLENWCOD 51 59 
STEAM ~cP NORTH CHATHAM STEAM SAW 
STEAM DRIVEN TILING MACHINE 15 
STEAM ENClNE soc FARH SYNDICATE PUR 
STEAM CRIST & SAW MYLL AT STEWART 

10 
STEAM POWERED TltRESIIINC MACHINE OF 

1910 63 
STEAM POWERED TILING MACHINE 62 
STEAMERS soe FIRST SCREW STEAMER TO 
STEAMERS sae FIRST STEAMER ON THE 
STEPNEY CHURCH AT LONDON + ENGLAND 

~7 

STEWART CEMETERY + TILBURY EAST TWP 
'15 

STEWART POST OFFICE + TILBURY EAST 
TWP 6 3:5 

STOCK YAROS AT CLENWOOO 31 
STOF.E AT STEWART 3S 
SfORE AT TILBURY EAST 9 
STORES sre OI<UC SlORE AT CHIITHr,M 
STORES ~co ELECTRICAL STORE AT WHEA 
STORES sea FIRE DESTROYS STORE AT 
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STORES ~~~ riRST STORE AT GLENWOOD 
STORES soo FIRST STORC WEST OF VALE 
STORES Q~O FURNITURE STURE AT LEAMI 
STORLS soc GENERAL SfUkE AT STEWART 
STORES ~eo GRAY'S GENERAL STORE AT 
STORES soo GRAY'S STORE AT GLENWOOD 
STORES sao GREAVES' STORE AT CLENWO 
STORES svo HALLIDAY'S STORE AT GLEN 
STORES see WEBSTER'S STORE AT CLENW 
STORES AT GLENWOOD S9 65 
STORM sea 19~5 WAS A WET YEAR 
STORMS s~e 1915 WAS A WET YEAR IN 
STORMS sen HAIL STORM IN AUTUMN or 
STORMS scv TERRIBLE WINO CURING EAS 
STORMS sov TORNADO HITS GLENWOOD IN 
STORMS see TORNADO HITS TILBURY EAS 
STORMS see TORNADO HITS WINDSOR IN 
STORMS soc TORNADO OF 1931 
STORMS see WINO DAMAGE OF 1917 
STORMS sea Wille STORM HITS TILBURY 
STORMS see WINO STORM OF 193Z 
STRAUS LAND 30 
STRAUS LAND CO 52 
STRAUS LAilO CORP 17 20 3Z 
STRAWBERRY SOCIAL AT CLENWOOO 62 
STREET CAR LINE FROM CHATHAM TO 

ERIE BEACH IN 1908 5 
STREET CAR LINE FROH CHATHAH lO 

WALLACEBURC IN 1905 5 
STUDEBAKER see FIRST CAR AT CLENWOO 
STUDEBAKER CAR OF 1910 61 67 
SUCAR see OOHUUON SUCAR CO 
SUCAR BEET FIELDS IN TILBURY EAST 

TWP 2'1 
SUCAR BEET HARVESTING 69 
SUNDAY SCHOOL sea GLENWOOD SUNDAY 
SUNDAY SCHCOL AT CLENWOOO "'S 
SUNDAY SCHOOL AT HUFFMAN'S CORNERS 

~ HARWICH TWP 61 
SUNOAY SCHOOL SUPERINTENDENT IN 

METHODIST CHURCH AT CLENHOOO 50 
SUPERMARKETS sec HEAT CUTlER AT SUP 
SYNDICATES sea FARH SYNDICATE PURCH 
T.C.A. PLANE 61 
TEACHER OF INDUSTRIAL ARTS AT 

TILLSONBURC <ONT> HIGH SCHOOL 
19 

TEACHEr.1S 
TEAMS so~ 

TEAMS sou 
TEAMS Si OC' 

TEAMS sao 
TEAMS sec 

65 
GLENWOOD OALL lEAH OF 
HARD CALL lEAH OF 1917-20 
SOFT BALL lEAH OF CLENWOO 
SOFT UALL lEAH OF ~EANNET 
SOFT CALL lEAH OF MERLIN 

TEAMS seo SOFT BALL TEAH OF PORT AL 
TEAMS see SOFT BALL lEAH OF SOUTH 
TEAMS LD O 50FT nnLL TEAM OF VALETIA 
TEAMSTERS ~vo DARN USED BY TEAMSTER 
TECHNICIANS soo LABORATORY TECHNIC! 
TELEPHONES see EELL TELEPHONE 
TELEPHONES soo PHONE SYSTEM CO~STRU 
TELEVISION see WXYZ TV OF DETROIT 
TENANT HOUSES IN TILBURY EAST TWP 

zo 
TERRIBLE WINO DURING EASTER WEEK OF 

1913 6'1 
THAMES RIVER DREDGED IN 1903 ~ 

THAHESUIEW LOOCE ~ CHATHAM 37 
THRESHING CRAIN see FIRST COMBINE 
THRESHING MACHINE •eo FA~H SYNOICAT 
THRESHING MACHINE ~ee STEAM POWERED 
THRESHING MACHINES AT GLENWOOD 63 
TILBURY EAST POST OFFICE 6 9 
TILBURY POST OFFICE 10 
TILE PLANTS see HILL'S TILE PLANT A 
TILING soe 1 ROO TILINC IN 193S 
TILING MACHINES soe FIRST TILING HA 
TILINC MACHINES see STEAM DRIVEN TI 
TILINC MACHINES soo STEAM POWERED 
liMBER ~eo GLENWOOD AREA PROPERTIES 
TIMBER see GLENWOOD SUNDAY SCHOOL 
TIMBER aoo VIRGIN FOREST IN TILBURY 
TIM~ER IN TILBURY EAST TWP 10 
TITAN ~eo INTERNATIONAL TITAN 2 CYL 
TITAUIC STRUCK ICEBURC 69 
lilON TRACTOR OF 1920 19 31 
TOBACCO BARNS IN TILBURY EAST TWP 

31 
TOMATOES s~o PRICE OF TOHATO CROP 
TOOL ANO DIE WORKER 65 
TORNADO $88 FREIGHT CARS LIFTED OUT 
TORNADO HITS GLENWOOD I N 1917 62 
TORUAOO HITS TILBURY EAST TWP IN 

1930 31 
TOr.1NADO HITS TILBURY EAST TWP ON 21 

SEPT. 19'17 35 
TORNADO HITS WINDSOR IN 19'17 7 0 
TO~NAOO OF 1931 65 
TOURING CARS sao CHALMERS TOURING 
lOURING CARS Gao FORO TOURING 3 000 ' 
TOURING CARS see FORO TOURING CAR 
TOWN POLICEMAN ~ HERLIN (?) 17 
TOWNSHIP COUNCIL OF TILBURY EAST 

HIP 50 
TOWNSHIP MEETINGS ••e FIRST TILEURY 
TRACTORS see BEAVER "' CYL TRACTOR 
TRACTORS soo CASE TRACTOR OF 193'1 
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TJ;I\CTORG 
TRACTOI<S 
TRACTORS 
TRACTORS 
TRACTORS 
TRACTORS 
TRACTORS 
TRIICTORS 
TRACTORS 
TRACTORS 
Hi ACTORS 
lkACTORS 
TRACTORS 

SCl' 

GOO 

SCIO 

~00 

sno 
see 
seo 
SUQ 

IIOQ 

sec ..... , 
sao 
see 

fSG[X ~ CYL TRACTOR 
FORO-FE~GUSON TRACTOR 
tiAF•PY FIIRI'\CR 2 CYL TRA 
HAPI'Y FARMER TRACTOR 
HOHC HADE T~ACTOR 
INTERNATIOilAL 1:;-30 
INTERNATIONAL B-16 TRA 
INTERNATIONAL F12 
INTERNATIONAL HARVEST£ 
INTERNATIONIIL TITAN 
RIITLWAY DIEGEL TRAIN 
RUMLEY 1 CYL TRACTOR 
SILVER KINC ON RUB&ER 

TRACTORS s~o SOME OF THE FIRST TRAC 
TRACTORS ~oo TITON T~ACTOR OF 1920 
TRAILERS see PARKLAND TRAILER COURT 
TRAILS ~ee ~ 98 HIGHWAY AN OLD INDIA 
TRAIN DERAILED AT GLENWOOD 68 
TRAINS see C & 0 FREIGHT TRAIN 
TRAINS ~eo FREIGHT CARS LIFTED OUT 
TRAINS see PASSENGER TRAINS AT CLEN 
TRAINS see RAILWAY DIESEL TRAIN CUT 
TREES see PERCIHON SEEDS GROH TREES 
TRUCKS seo CHEU TRUCK OF 1932 
TRUCKS soc FARGO TRUCK 
TRUCKS ~eo FORO REAR WHEEL CHAIN OR 
TRUSTEES OF S.S.t 8 OF TILBURY EAST 

HIP 57 
TYPHOID FEUER 39 
TYPHOID FEUER OF 1912 69 
UNDERTAKER AT LEAMINGTON 50 
UNION DISTILLERY OF CHATHAM B 
UNION CAS CO (OAHN DIVISION) SO 
UNION CAS CO 19 11 18 
UNION CAS CO see FIELOHAN FOR UNION 
UNION CAS CO ~ee PLANT FOREMAN FOR 
UNION CAS CO ••e ROD MACHINE OPERAl 
UNION CAS CO AT BRANTFORD 1'1 
UNION CAS CO AT PORT ALMA 16 
UNION CIIS CO OF TILBURY EAST TWP 

so 60 
UNITED CHURCH Lao GLENWOOD UNITED 
UNITED CHURCH PARSONAGE AT TILBURY 

53 
UNITED PRESBYTERIANS IN KENT CO 
UNIVERSALISTS IN KENT CO 6 

6 7 

USHER SOFT BALL CLUB OF TILBURY 4 
ONT 63 

UES!>ELS Gee 
VESSELS !o<'e 
VICTORIA REO 

CLENWOOO 
VIOLINIST AT 

FIRST VESSEL BUILT 
SHIP NAMED ANNIE ~ 
CROSS WORI;Ef<S OF 

61 

AT 
.JI'INE 

OLD TIME DANCES 15 

VlRCIN FOREST IN T!LCURY EAST TW~ 

33 
WAGES I~ ONTARIO IN 18/2 1 
WAR seo PRISOhER OF WAR IN CERMANY 
WAR WITH THE lROQUOIS INDIANS 3 
WEBSTER'S ElEVATOR 67 
WEBSTER'S STORE Ar GLENWOOD 35 ~9 
WEICHT OF 2t3 AT ~If<TH 18 39 
WELDING & RCPAlR SHOP AT GLENWOOD 

36 
WI:I.LS 
WELLS 
WELLS 
\.IELLS 
WELLS 
-lELLS 

se• 
S IH! 

see . ..,., 
~~E' 

see 

DRilLING OIL WELL IN 
FIRST CAS OR OIL WELL IN 
FIRST CAS WELL AT CLENWOO 
FIRST OIL WELL WAS AT OIL 
CAS WELL DRILLER 
CAS WELLS 

HELLS sec OIL WELL SHOT 
WELLS set' OIL WELLS 
WESLEYAN METHODIST CHURCH 10 
WESLEYAN METHODISTS IN KENT CO 6 7 
WEST PETROLEUM 68 
WESTERN DISTRICT soo LONDON AND WES 
WESTMINSTER HOSPITAL AT LONDON 4 

ONT '13 
WHEAT see FIRST PRIZE FOR WHEAT AT 
WHISKE~ MANUFACTURER 9 
WHITE ASH 69 
WILLING WORKERS CLASS OF GLENWOOD 

61 
WINO OAH~CE OF 1917 65 
WINO STORH HITS TILBURY EAST TWP IN 

1931 31 
WINO STORM HITS TILBUr.1Y EAST lWP IN 

19'16 30 31 
WINO STORM HITS TILBURY EAST TWP IN 

19~7 1~ 17 21 28 59 
WIND STORM OF 1932 65 
WOOD DELIVERED FOR ~1 A CORD 10 
WOODEN RAILS see RAILROAD CONSTRUCT 
WWI 21 ~3 18 5 1 69 
WWII 26 13 19 58 67 
WWII se~ DISTINGUISHED FLYING CROSS 
WWII soo ROYAL CANAOintl AIR FORCE 
WXYZ TV OF DETROIT ~ MICH 70 
XYLOPHONE SOLD AT GLENWOOD 61 
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